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“Focus, Be Meticulous, Breakthrough” are the philosophy for the sustainable
development of the Group in order to provide fruitful return for shareholders.
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The Group is operated
under “seeking truth from
facts, advancing with the
times, seeing pragmatic,

planning prudently”
principles;

BE METICULOUS
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We continue to invest
in industrial sector,
following the approach
of “accumulating small
steps and gathering
small streams”, in order
to maintain financial
stability and persevere in
moving forward;
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BREAKTHROUGH
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We constantly try
out new ideas and
applications by
innovating and improving
techniques, products,
services and processes in
order to create new value
for customers.



Contents

B &%

Corporate Information 2
NAEIEH

Key Information for Shareholders 4
TERREH

Corporate Calendar 6
ERAFEHW

Financial Highlights 9
MBHE

Chairman’s Statement 12
EFERE

Corporate Governance Report 30
CEERBEE

Senior Management Profile 65
mREEANBZEAER

Report of the Directors 72
EFEWE

Independent Auditor’s Report 114
B ZBEN RS

Consolidated Financial Statements 123
RAaPBmE

Five-Year Financial Summary 283

hEMBREE



Corporate Information
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Key Information for Shareholders

FERREH

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2024
Financial year end
31 March 2024

Announcement of 2023/24 results
25 June 2024

Last day to register for the entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2023/24 annual general meeting

23 August 2024

2023/24 annual general meeting
30 August 2024

Last day to register for 2023/24
final dividends
4 September 2024

Expected payment date of 2023/24 final dividends

24 September 2024

—E_NFEHMBEER
B ELER
—E-_WNFE=A=+—H

CECCE /CNEEXEAMAEN
—E-WNFEASA=-Z+HEH

EESHEH_B-ZF /"HNEERR
BEXERREZBEETAEY
—E-MFENA-+=H

—E-=E/—NEREBAFARE
—E-mMFENA=1+H

TECEHF /—NEERERE
REXTAS
—E-NFEAAEA

BB =F /—_NEERERE
kK EH
—E-mMFAA=-+HEA

SHARE CAPITAL g 2=
As at
I
31 March 2024 30 June 2024
—E-EF —ENF
=HA=+-—H ~NA=1H
Authorised (HK$) ETEGETT) 400,000,000 400,000,000
Issued (HK$) BT T) 202,145,920 202,145,920
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Key Information for Shareholders

MARKET CAPITALISATION
As at 31 March 2024
(Closing Price: HK$0.49)
HK$990,515,008

As at 30 June 2024
(Closing Price: HK$0.8)
HK$1,617,167,360

STOCK CODE

Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”)

1050

BOARD LOT
2,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”)

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

Any matters relating to your shareholding, such as transfer
of shares, change of name or address, and loss of share
certificates should be addressed in writing to the Hong
Kong branch share registrar of Karrie International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”):

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862-8628

Fax: (852) 2529-6087

INVESTOR RELATIONS
For enquiries, please contact:

Ms. Lam Nok Wun, Isabella
Senior Corporate Communications Manager

Karrie International Holdings Limited
9th Floor, Southeast Industrial Building
611-619 Castle Peak Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2411-0913
Fax: (852) 2415-1608
Email: ir@karrie.com
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Corporate Calendar

TERAEH®

SEHEEATXEERBETREELEEAMRFRALKNE K&

RREFER] DBF+RREBILRMERARI ZHKE  5ET

SEEERRRIENTES HEMXR -
vz The Group has been awarded the BOCHK Corporate Low-Carbon
Environmental Leadership Awards by The Federation of Hong Kong
Industries and received three honors: “EcoChallenge”, “5 Years+
EcoPioneer” and “Low-Carbon Commitment”. These accolades
recognise the Group’s continuous efforts and achievements in
low-carbon and environmental sustainability.

SEERREDZECRU BT ETCHBIERAIE BET
MEZERERFRMAFERRAGNEBREA -
The Group has been awarded the “Hong Kong Green Organisation”
logo and certificate by the Environmental Campaign Committee
(ECC), recognising Karrie’s outstanding performance in environmental
protection and sustainable development over the years.
SEERBREAMEERRRAMEY  REHLEEELHK
EOEBREATRBRRNEAE U BEBUERECRAFDIERFEN
BB ARG e
The Group has resumed hosting shareholder tea gatherings for the
8H first time since the pandemic, demonstrating its commitment to social
August responsibility, enhancing transparency with public shareholders, and
strengthening corporate governance and ongoing communication
commitments.

SEHARTHBRBAENFEEFREE ] AXZTEYFERN

REREENREENMETS - HWEBBSETHMNEEMME

R ARKEMREEE T EA S EKH

The Group has been awarded the “Outstanding Quality Award” by
ZTE Corporation, recognising its quick response capabilities to new
products and strict quality control. This award highlights Karrie’s
significant achievements in product quality, technical standards, and

July

Gl

service capabilities.

SEBRERIEABESFEAEERBERI2EESHFEE]2022-
BRIBEEHFRERISF+IMIEBRZSE - I SETESIEFHHIE]
MESHEER] GERESETRMNEEENFRARRERM
BETRABANITENFESS -
97 The Group has been awarded the “Best All-round MPF Employer
2022-23" and the “Good MPF Employer 5 Years+ Certificate” by the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority (MPFA). Additionally, the
Group has received the “e-Contribution Award” and the “MPF Support
Award”. These accolades recognise Karrie’s continuous efforts over the
past nine years in safeguarding and enhancing employee retirement

September

benefits.
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Corporate Calendar

TERAREH®

SEERBERAR TIAIRERKREREHEIER  5ERMNEAR
BRERITENES -

The Group has been recognised by TUV Rheinland with the title of
“Sustainable Carbon Reduction Strategic Partner”, acknowledging
Karrie’s dedicated efforts towards sustainable development.

SEEEEATXAS[TERMELI KRB E2023-24F K ELXMA[E
BREEAE] REARAELEREMEREMTEMEBEREA -
The Group has been awarded the “Outstanding Caring Award” in the
Enterprise Group category of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries’
Industry Cares Recognition Scheme 2023-24. This award recognises
the Company’s excellent performance in social responsibility and
community contributions.
SEEPBFABLEAREERNIT—BENFAIZTRE  IHHHB
REBAEIBAXBE)NEREEXHNEEZE KEEE AR
MRERBER  IHREXYCAIFHRR -

The Group sponsored the “Uniquely Common” concert organised by
The Hang Seng University of Hong Kong to support the fundraising for
the new teaching building (Creative Humanities Hub). This contribution
aims to support the campus expansion project, the sustainability fund,
and the university’s long-term strategic development, fostering cultural
innovation and exchange on campus.

SEFEFEREMBBEEHMEBMBERITELAE  BEESRAR
FAEFHRAEEMARARSKTINAFERRERES -
The Group’s Thailand production base has successfully passed the
Responsible Business Alliance (RBA) Verification Assessment Program
(VAP) and received Silver Certification. This accolade recognises the
Thailand production base high level of sustainability management
capabilities.

SE2HE2 HEcovadis AT FFE R K - BIFHERA o

The Group participated in the EcoVadis sustainability rating and
received a bronze recognition.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 & #§ 7



Corporate Calendar

TERAEH®

20234

2024 &

12A

December

14

January

38
March

5H
May

EIE’JE’%IEF%i’@JﬂZU}%ﬁ%TETﬁt(%%%Z‘EJED%E’\J%E&&
B EEEERBINEEEMERBUERR EERNTEENE

$i6$

The Group’s Thailand production base has successfully completed the

mass production and shipment of its first batch of “Made in Thailand”

products, marking an important milestone in the strategic development

of the Group’s first overseas production base.

E2EAFBRRLNERBREREIENERCERS 2NN

f BBEREERBHIZEWNE KWERIBEFRLEEBUEH
(BER)FW RTHEREXBFRLEENEAMNEBRE -
The Group participated in the “Hong Kong — Guangdong Cleaner
Production Partners” recognition scheme, jointly organised by the
Hong Kong Environment and Ecology Bureau and the Guangdong
Provincial Department of Industry and Information Technology.
It successfully received the “Hong Kong — Guangdong Cleaner
Production Excellent Partner (Manufacturing)” logo again,
acknowledging its outstanding performance in cleaner production
within the manufacturing sector.

SEEEDRmERITMEBCRMAIF LN TEE L BETEF
FRNSERAMRE - BEPFIYEINNESRERR - FBMHE
BEREMBEEHZELCHERETRENE URTIREEHE]-

The Group’s relentless efforts in product quality assurance and

automation technology innovation have earned high recognition and
satisfaction from Dell. The customer particularly praised Karrie’s
excellent quality performance, outstanding automation achievements,
and regional diversification initiatives, awarding the “Quality
Excellence Award”.

BETREBEESERTKEREBRSRNBERERN  UXEEEY
BIABEHMERAGO LWERBBMBZER -

The PolyU Foundation has awarded Karrie the title of Permanent
Honorary Vice President, in recognition of the Group’s generous
donations and significant contributions to expanding the university’s
teaching and research resources.

EESEHEHMASHEBFPus  AARBEIRE B2
ﬂiitiﬁéﬁﬁ’fﬂhnuT%f'JLﬁﬁAFEEIzﬂilu:uJ (BEZEE TR
BREI—E&BHINERER -

The Group has been awarded the 15 Years Plus “Caring Company”
logo by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service (HKCSS), a
recognition received annually since 2005. This accolade honors
Karrie’s long-standing commitment to “Caring for the Community”,

“Caring for Employees”, and “Caring for the Environment”.
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Revenue HK$ million

BWABEET

4,013 3,861

3,473

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
- Continuing operations
FHEICE R
. Discontinued operations
BRI SRR
Basic earnings per share HK cents
BREAGEF B
27.2
22.3
19.1
12.6
_‘||I :
*2020 *2021 *2022 *2023 2024

b Include discontinued operations

il BEERILEEER

Financial Highlights
MBEBRE

Profit attributable to equity shareholders HK$ million

EREEAERGRAEEEBT
549
445
386
250
l 170
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Dividends per share HK cents

BREREE
11.5
90 9.5
I I 5.5 :
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
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Financial Highlights

Turnover percentage by business
BEBEITNEXFERIDIER
Continuing operations
RBREEY
B Metal and Plastic Business

heBRBER

[ Electronics Manufacturing Services Business
ETEERIER

Discontinued operations

Turnover percentage by geographical location
(based on the country in which the final
destination of shipment is located or services are
provided)

RERMEBEINEXERLR
(REERNEENBIBBREXAERRS &)

M Japan ¥ Hong Kong Mainland China
AA B FEIRL

BRITEEEY Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong and Mainland China)
. Real Estate Business TN (TRIBEAR - BB RFEAH)
FREXH North America W Western Europe
el il
21%
39%
2024 8% 2023
2%
//. 19%
1% 17% 6%
2024 2023 % Changes

“E-ME —T-=F  EPESH
HKS million BEETT
Continuing operations HELEER
Revenue N 2,916 3,082 -5%
Gross profit £ 370 337 10%
Operating profit a-pepll 228 211 8%
Profit for the year from continuing operations &L & X152 FE 4 F 170 182 7%
Profit for the year from discontinued operations £ £ |F 48 & %7 7 F & i 7 0 204 -100%
Profit attributable to equity shareholders BEarsBAREEN 170 386 -56%
Total assets BEBE 2,403 2,551 -6%
Shareholders' equity BRI 993 937 6%
In Million gER
Number of Shares k¢! 2,021 2,021 -
Per Share Data BREN
HK cents Al
Basic earnings ERN 8.4 19.1 -56%
Diluted earnings BERaT 8.4 19.1 -56%
Total cash dividends per Share FREFEHRE 5.5 5.5 -
Net asset value per Share BREEFE 49 46 7%
Financial Ratios B =
Gross profit margin (%)* BIREH (%)* 12.7 10.9 17%
Net profit margin (%)* 8 B4 1] (%)* 5.8 5.9 2%
Current ratio mEt = 1.1 1.0 10%
Quick ratio RE = 0.7 0.6 17%
Net gearing ratio (%) FBEHE %) 39 54 28%
Interest coverage* RV ELES 7.5 9.3 19%
Dividend payout (%)’ K B 5K (%) 65.5 28.8 127%
Revenue to net bank borrowings* WA BRRATIE B b 7.6 6.3 21%
Non-current assets to total equity (%) HRPEERERBELE%) 106.7 123.0 -13%

3 Include continuing operations only

* REERELEEYR

A

Not include final dividend proposed from KRP
Y TERBRARRRBERAKE
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DEFINITIONS

Basic earnings

Profit attributable to equity shareholders

per Share

Diluted earnings

Weighted average number of Shares

Profit attributable to equity shareholders

per Share

Net asset value

Diluted weighted average number of Shares

Net assets

per Share

Gross profit

Number of Shares as at year end

Gross profit from continuing operations

margin (%)

Net profit

Revenue from continuing operations

Profit for the year from continuing operations

margin (%)

Revenue from continuing operations

Current assets

Current ratio

Current liabilities

Current assets less inventories

Quick ratio

Net gearing

Current liabilities

Bank borrowings and leased liabilities less
cash and bank deposits

ratio (%)

Interest coverage

Total equity

Earnings before interest expenses, tax, depreciation
and amortisation from continuing operations

Dividend

Interest expenses from continuing operations

Dividend per Share

payout (%)

Revenue to net

Earnings per Share

Revenue from continuing operations

bank borrowings

Non-current assets

Bank borrowings less cash and bank deposits

Non-current assets

to total equity (%)

Total equity

100%

100%

100%

Financial Highlights

=%
B AR
SHERET
s NETHRE
EXEEAREET
SRER LT
T sanaTny
BEEE
SRAEEE
- FERY
BEERERIH
ERE (% 100%
" HERBEEII
FENEEREERT
2 I (% 100%
L
REAE
25 & !
//\L@Jttf ﬁ@]ﬁ%
EAEAEE
g :
b FEaf
e BIEERRERER
ARf R4 REER
b o
BxNE
FEEEERINRTE
Flemerx Xt HE FEREENET
HEEBEEIHERY
\ SRRe
8.1 (%) . x 100%

i
=]
B

=

WARFRIT REEEXB LA

LA BAEERRLRRATR
ERYEESR ERPAE
BEBELE% EneE
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Chairman’s Statement

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS TEEKREE

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group was #Z%E

SE-mMEZAS+ B A%

principally engaged in: T2RE:

— Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): providing —
mechanical engineering solutions, manufacturing
and sales of metal and plastic parts, mainly including
moulds and the relevant plastic and metal parts
products for information and communication
technology industry, etc.; and

TeZBEB(ESBB)) =2 H#
W IERRSTE HERHFE
TELRBBEMG ETERBEEM
MBAMXERZER HEZ
BESEXHERS K

—  Electronic Manufacturing Services Business (“EMS”): — BFEFRIEB(EFRII) :
manufacturing and sales of magnetic tape data FE MHE WS BUR T R
storage, point-of-sale system, and other computer Yo SR 1 & 5t 2 B A B B %Euu
peripherals, etc. &

() Business Review (—) (% EE
I.  Results . ¥BEFE

(@) For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
revenue of the Group from continuing
operations was HK$2,915,981,000,
representing a decline of approximately 5%
as compared to the corresponding period
last year (for the year ended 31 March 2023:
HK$3,081,697,000). Profit attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to HK$169,659,000 (for the year
ended 31 March 2023: HK$182,318,000),
which decreased by approximately 7%
as compared to the corresponding period
in 2023. The above changes were mainly
due to the uncertain macro-economic
environment and negative factors such as
inflation pressure and rising interest rate,
leading to a shift to conservative attitude
towards capital expenditure by enterprises
and customers, as well as a slowdown in the
growth of demand in the server market in
2023 caused by the delay in the launch of
the new generation processor platform.

12 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED EF BB ZERER Q5

@ #BHE_ZET_DWF=A
=+—HIEFE K&EE
FEECEEB 2B AR
2,915,981,0007% Jt (B &
T ZF=ZA=+—
HIFFE :3,081,697,000
B EFR B
T #I5% M A R A&
mRAAEMGRN B
169,659,000/ 8 7T (B 2=
T - =—F=-A=+—HL
% £ 1 182,318,000/ 7T)
BT =FRHBRT
7% - Ll B g E A
MRS B IR BT BABR -
BERBAESMNEEZSG
HEZR FRHEPER
FPHERRY EBIRT
MmEF—REERFES
EEHD B =T
F AR5 B F KK
EFTEL -



(b)

The revenue of M&P for the year ended
31 March 2024 was HK$1,725,255,000
(for the year ended 31 March 2023:
HK$1,918,749,000). The revenue of M&P
was substantially in line with market
performance during the year.

The revenue of EMS for the year ended 31
March 2024 increased by approximately
2% to HK$1,190,648,000 when compared
with the corresponding period last year
(for the year ended 31 March 2023:
HK$1,162,923,000). The revenue of EMS
was fairly stable this year.

During the year, the Group has been
facing various challenges. As the recovery
of global economy was not as rapid as
expected, corporate investment remained
weak despite the gradual normalization
of global supply chain. In addition global
economy was still in an environment of
high interest rates, inflation pressure and
geopolitical tensions continued to intensify,
all of which posed significant challenges to
the business environment. However, market
conditions have improved since the end of
2023, with enterprises aggressively investing
in artificial intelligence (“Al”) deployments,
driving significant growth in the market
demand for servers.

Chairman’s Statement

SBBREZ—ZT -
F=ZA=+—HLHFE
2 WA A&1,725,255,000
—A=+—HLEHFE:
1,918,749,00078 JT) ° &
TEBRBEBRARKEE
FRIBEAMBER—E -

BEFfRINEE=ZMH
F=ZA=+—HLHFE
ZWAREFRELEFA
T #2% £1,190,648,000
BTEE_ZT =4
—AZ+t—HLEFE:
1,162,923,00078 JT) > &
FRIEZEBWARKE
ERBEHEFRE -

EAREE  AEEEEZ
TEPREL - IRIRC R Bt
RMMTEHMBA R BE
2 DR E 58 X O 18 1
BEE BLEREK
RIEES o WM BIRK
AN A B = M A E
%%%2¢’m%ﬁﬁ
ZRBETEME -

R EHEKERER

RTERBKE - A - E
“EC=FREUR - miE
REBFNE ¥R
B &R A TERE (TAL)
HE - BHTRRSETIS
FROMBELR o
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Chairman’s Statement

In the face of the onslaught of various
challenges and the complex and volatile
business environment, the Group
remained resolute in understanding the
needs of its customers through the close
collaboration among the Group’s teams,
including the relevant departments
of marketing, engineering, numerical
control, procurement and logistics,
and responding to the challenges by
enhancing the efficiency of its operations
and production. At the same time, we
continued to strengthen technical training,
enhance technological research ability and
development competence, and develop
the application of new process so as to
maintain and bolster the Group’s core
competitiveness.

The newly constructed integrated
production building “Karrie Craftmanship
Tower” has been officially opened, and
advanced equipment such as large straight
type punch press and high-speed Slitting
Machine have been installed one after
another. Warehousing and quality control
departments have also been stationed, and
the layout adjustment of each production
department has been completed, making
the production process smoother. Internal
logistics operation time has been greatly
shortened with efficiency significantly
improved, which reduced production costs
and improved product quality at the same
time.

EEHFHI BN EHE
REMZENEEHRE -
REBHAR R HES -
ERASEBEBRERED
BT BT RE
O REFHEMEABIFINE
BitE RATHREFPS
KoV RBRESEER
EEMERKEL R -
[ B - 3 P9 A B 0N 58 i
iy 55 Bl - B2 Tt 4 i A 3
BEN - UFREMTED
&R - I AR H5 I 38 58
AEBOZOHEFES -

RN REEEXE
[EMTEAREIELER
R FREMK RS
REL B FH S E R AR
BAER © B Mo iE
EMFABEER B4E
ERfNGRHEETRE
TR SHEEREER
% - AR YR E 1 R
RNIEHER - MEBER
Tt EERAREE - F

BIEAERES -

The Karrie Craftsmanship Tower is now fully operational
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In addition, the Group has been proactively
building its PRC marketing team to expand
its market share by opening up the market
for well-known brands in PRC. At the same
time, the Taiwan team assisted customers
in designing and developing products
and co-developed moulds for branded
customers in the early stage of product
development, thereby expanding our scope
of business and building a competitive edge.
With the efforts of our teams, the Group has
enhanced its operational capabilities and
strengthened its core competitiveness. For
example, we have obtained manufacturing
licenses for new generation machine models
from certain important customers and
promptly completed the development of
moulds for new projects of our customers.

The Group continued to strengthen its
automated and intelligent production by
perfecting packaging optimization during
the year, covering areas of welding,
bending, grinding, screen printing, laser
engraving and assembly, etc., which greatly
improved production efficiency and product
quality.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

Against the backdrop of intensifying trade
conflicts and political friction between
China and the United States, the Group
has adopted the “China Plus One” strategy
to cope with the situation by setting up a
plant in Thailand. The Thailand plant has
passed the RBA, 1SO9001 and 1SO14001
certifications and commenced production
with the first batch of orders and shipments
completed. The Group is continuously
improving its plant facilities and expanding
its local team by deploying additional
professional and technical staff. In addition,
the Thailand plant and T. Krungthai
Industries Public Co., Ltd, our associate
in Thailand, will utilize their synergies
to capture the opportunities arising from
the Regional Comprehensive Economic
Partnership and jointly develop the market.

(h)

EREZSTEMRBUA
EENEHESET &K
EEE K EM—]
RIS ES  EHRER

YUBmE-ZFERBRED
B 3B RBA - 1SO9001%

ISO14001%5 R 78 » I 7
ﬁ‘u‘&% CSERKT & #EET
KHE AEEIER
%%%ﬁ% B - N
EERMABES E
RNEHEBK o BN F
Bl ik f5 £ 2= B ”M’“T
T. Krungthai Industries
Public Co., Ltd & 3% 1&
RN E BHRIELER
BEELEREHES
KE S HEMFAED

% o

The first batch of “Made in Thailand”
products was successfully shipped in
December 2023
EHIRE R E | EmD R20235F
NRAKIEE

The Thailand factory is located in
the Industrial Zone in Chonburi
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The Group organizes regular training
courses covering the aspects of systematic
thinking, administration, environmental
protection and energy conservation,
production technology and so on,
enriching the knowledge, awareness,
mindset and techniques of its staff and
infusing momentum into the Group’s
multi-dimensional development.

The Group is committed to exploring new
markets, enriching its overseas and PRC
customer portfolios and developing different
products. In addition to its core products,
the Group has been actively exploring
different areas such as Al products, 5G
products, individual consumer goods,
automotive parts and medical products,
etc., making great improvement in a steady
progress. In terms of complementing the
Al development of various well-known
branded customers, the Group has
successfully developed a variety of Al
server-related moulds and has secured
orders for major models from several
internationally renowned customers, laying
a solid foundation for future turnover.
Moreover, the Group has acquired new
Numerical Control Turret (NCT) Punch Press
to strengthen its ability to cater for high-mix
low-volume production.

Customers’ positive reviews are the
greatest encouragement to the Group. The
Group has repeatedly received “excellent
quality awards” from our customers, which
represents their recognition of the Group’s
quality control, technology standards and
service capability.
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() The Group regards “corporate social
responsibility” as its long-term corporate
mission and is committed to sustainable
development, covering various areas such
as green production, saving energy and
reducing emissions, caring for the society,
corporate governance and professional
development, etc. For details, please refer
the sustainability report of the Company to
be published separately.

(m) In order to enhance the operation of our
plants and expand our market base, the
Group has set up a task force to plan and
prepare for a project on the upgrade from
“contract processing” to “import processing”
for the purpose of transformation and
upgrading the Group’s business positioning.

Conclusion

During the year, the Group faced and responded
to various difficulties and challenges by adhering
to the strategy of “Focus, Be meticulous and
Breakthrough”:

Focus: Concentrating resources on nurturing
talents and building an efficient team;

Be meticulous: Emphasizing professional skills
and mindset to ensure professionalism and
refinement in management; and

Breakthrough: Seeking progress while
maintaining stability, and developing new
sectors and markets while consolidating our core
business.
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()

Leveraging on the concerted efforts of all
employees and adhering to the spirit of “striving
for excellence and turning a new leaf”, we have
strengthened our management, enhanced our
efficiency and continued to innovate in order
to enhance the Group’s competitiveness. While
stabilizing our core business, we are actively
exploring new markets, promoting product
diversification and research and development,
and achieving “upgrading and transformation”
with a view to extending our business presence
to Thailand. These achievements were made
possible by the hard work of the Karrie team
and our belief of “nothing is impossible” to
continuously improve our operational capabilities
and create greater value for our shareholders.

Dividend Policy

In accordance with the existing dividend policy, which
outlines the factors that should be taken into account
in determining the amount of dividend for distribution,
such as the profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company, cash flow and investment budgets.
After careful consideration of the aforementioned
factors, and for the purpose of maintaining the track
record of consecutive annual payment of dividends
since the listing, the Board has recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK4.0 cents per share
to all the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 6 September
2024.

Geographical Distribution

The Group has adopted a diversified approach
in product delivery to reduce its reliance on one
single market. Details of the Group’s geographical
distribution are set out in the paragraphs headed
“Segment Reporting” in Note 5 to the consolidated
results of the Group in this annual report.
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Chairman’s Statement

(V) Prospects

With the further development of Al, the demand for
Al server orders will remain strong. At the same time,
the inventory of traditional servers of our customers
is gradually being absorbed and server orders are
expected to recover gradually. The production
capacity utilization rate of the Group’s plants has
remained high in recent months, and the Board is
therefore optimistic about the future of the Al server
and traditional server businesses.

However, as the global environment is still full of
challenges and the international geopolitical situation
is tense, we should be careful in dealing with the risks
at every step and solidify our basic core strengths.
Therefore, we will continue our efforts to implement
the following countermeasures:

1. Replicating the production model of the plants
in the PRC to the plants in Thailand: By utilizing
automated and intelligent production, the
Thailand plant will become another production
site. of the Group. When the production of
certain products is relocated to Thailand, the
plant in Yuquan, Dongguan, the PRC will be
freed up for the expansion in the production of
mould and numerical control, so as to deepen
the development of server products as well as
develop other product categories at the same
time.

2. Prudent financial management: The Group
will adopt prudent financial management as
a major principle, cautiously consider new
capital expenditure (CAPEX), reduce inventories,
strictly control working capital, and control
interest expenses under the high interest rate
environment to maintain its financial health.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7
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3. Enriching talent pool: We will flexibly deploy
our marketing staff, strengthen the strategic
management mindset of senior management
staff, improve the professional competence and
awareness of quality control staff and engineering
staff, and enhance the training mechanism for
craft apprentices. By adjusting and optimizing the
human resource structure of each department,
we will enhance teamwork, save labor costs,
reduce management waste, and improve the
effectiveness of human resources.

4. Innovative processes and technological research
and development: We will continue to develop
diversified products and deepen intelligent
production to create higher value for customers and
expand our customer base, with an aim to maintain
the Group’s competitiveness and leading position in
the international market for the production of server
chassis and achieve higher profit margins.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Treasury policy

We will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and maintain
a strong and healthy liquidity position to ensure that
the Group is well-placed to capture future growth
opportunities.

Borrowings

The net interest-bearing borrowings* as at 31 March 2024
were approximately HK$383,879,000 and the net interest-
bearing borrowings ratio (being the proportion of total net
interest-bearing borrowings over total equity) was 39% (as
at 31 March 2023: net interest-bearing borrowings were
approximately HK$502,664,000 and net interest-bearing
borrowings ratio was approximately 54%).

As at 31 March 2024, bank borrowings amounting to
HK$18,900,000 (2023: HK$ nil) which are denominated
in THB, HK$131,630,000 (2023: HK$ nil) which are
denominated in RMB and HK$379,162,000 (2023:
HK$652,372,000) which are denominated in HKD.

# Net interest-bearing borrowings represents bank borrowings
and lease liabilities less cash and bank deposits.
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Chairman’s Statement

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Company
and the Group’s subsidiaries provide cross guarantee for
certain banking facilities and borrowings. The maximum
liability of the Company at the end of the reporting
period under the guarantees is the amount of the facilities
drawn down by the subsidiaries that are covered by the
guarantees, being HK$529,692,000 (as at 31 March 2023:
HK$652,372,000).
that a claim will be made against the Company under
the guarantee arrangement to financial institutions in

We do not consider it is probable

connection with the banking facilities granted to its
subsidiaries.

Gearing Ratio

The Group monitors its capital structure through gearing
ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities less cash and bank deposits. Total capital is
calculated as the total equity as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. As at 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2023, the gearing ratios of the Group were
approximately 39% and 54% respectively. The decrease
in gearing ratio was a result of the decrease in total bank
borrowings during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Non-current Assets to Shareholders’ Fund Ratio

The non-current assets to total equity ratio as at 31 March
2024 maintained at the healthy level of 107% (as at 31
March 2023: 123%), which represents that most of the
Group’s non-current assets, such as plant and machineries
are supported by the stable total equity of the Group.

Capital Expenditure (“CAPEX”)

As at the date of this annual report, the initial estimate
of the CAPEX budget for the financial year 2024/25 is
approximately HK$135,453,000. The CAPEX was mainly
used for construction of factory, acquiring machinery
and equipment and computer system for the year ended
31 March 2024. The Group anticipates that the funding
required for future capital expenditure will be principally
financed by cash generated from operations and bank
borrowings,
additional funds as and when appropriate.

although the Group may consider raising
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Resources Available

Currently, the total interest-bearing bank borrowings
are approximately HK$529,692,000. The Group is
confident that with the cash in hand and bank deposits of
approximately HK$149,418,000 and the unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$805,680,000,
to meet its current operational and capital expenditure

it is able

requirements and to make strategic investments when
opportunities arise.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2024, a banking facility of the Group is
secured by the property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$15,630,000 (as at 31
March 2023: HK$nil).

Exchange Rate Exposure
Most of the Group’s assets,
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars,

liabilities and transactions
United States
dollar and Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign currency risk arises
recognised assets and
liabilities and net investments in foreign operations that

from commercial transactions,

are denominated in a currency other than the Group’s
functional currency, which in turn exerts pressure on
the Group’s production cost. To mitigate the impact of
exchange rate fluctuation of RMB on its business, the
Group will actively communicate with its customers in
order to adjust the selling prices of its products and may
use foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against
foreign currency risk (if and when necessary).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have
any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries.
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Chairman’s Statement

TEA-BREAK WITH INVESTORS

We are glad that the “tea-break with investors” has been
successfully held for many years. The Group adheres to
the principles of “openness, fairness and equality” and
believes that all investors should have the same right to get
access to the Company’s information. With these principles
in mind and considering that the tea-break remains to
be an effective and efficient way for the Company to
communicate with its investors, the Company will continue
to organise tea-break with individual investors. The next
tea-break is scheduled to be held in Hong Kong on 10
August 2024 from 12:00-14:00. Venue details will be
informed individually after registration.

Interested investors are invited to visit the Company’s
website at www.karrie.com for more details. Application
will commence on 15 July 2024, and the application form
can be downloaded from the Investor Relations” Activities
Section of the Company’s website or obtained by calling
2411-0913 during office hours. Only investors whose
applications are confirmed can join the function. Investors
are encouraged to grasp this opportunity to communicate
directly with the management of the Company.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had approximately 3,400 employees on average
(an average of 3,600 employees in the corresponding
period last year) during the year. With a good reputation
in the local community, the Group has rarely encountered
major difficulties in recruiting employees.

Employee remuneration packages are determined in
accordance with prevailing market standards and the
employee’s performance and experience. The Group
will also grant bonuses to employees with outstanding
performance based on its own audited business
performance and the appraisal and reward system.
Other employee benefits include medical insurance and
mandatory provident fund.

The Group has provided continuous training courses
to its employees. Please see the section “Training and
development” in its ESG Report for details.
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In addition, to cope with domestic development in
Mainland China and the actual need for talent-retention,
the Group establishes a “Cooperative Home” to encourage
and finance potential elites settled down locally in buying a
flat as a means to retain talents who may otherwise be lost
in the competitive labour market.

Performance Based Incentives

The Group adopted performance based bonus system
and objective performance assessment. Employees with
outstanding performance will now receive more bonus
than before the new system was implemented.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended to pay a final dividend of
HK4.0 cents per share (2022/23 final dividend: HK1.5
cents per share), to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 6 September
2024. Together with the interim dividend of HK1.5 cents
per share (2022/23 interim dividend: HK4.0 cents per
share), total dividend paid/payable for this year amounted
to HK5.5 cents per share (2022/23: HK5.5 cents per share).
The final dividend will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company to be held on
30 August 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2024, the Company has established an
audit committee made up of three independent non-
executive Directors whose duties include resolving issues
in relation to audit such as reviewing and supervising the
Company’s financial reporting process and internal control
systems. The audit committee and the management have
reviewed the accounting principles and major policies
adopted by the Group and have discussed the auditing,
internal control and financial reporting in the current
year with the external auditors. The audit committee has
reviewed the consolidated annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

APPRECIATION

We would like to thank our customers, suppliers, bankers,
shareholders and others who have extended their
invaluable support to the Group, and my fellow Directors,
managers and all staff for their considerable contributions
to the Group.
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APPENDIX 1

7N 5 B BE E B B BRI IR B A R FU30% 3 A | A F K B
All dividend paid shown below is in HK cents per Share
T ERENIKEZBRE2AENGFTE

B 8¢ —

Dividend and Dividend Policy:

P B B BB BRER

An unbroken 28 years’ record of dividend payment
ZA\EFE A ROR B K
The Group’s policy to distribute 30% or more of its profits attributable to shareholders as dividend

Interim Final  Special
Interim Final ~ Subtotal ~ Special ~ Special  Subtotal Total Dividend Payout Ratio
R A 15
g R Mt BERE BEIRE RENG Bt BRE kB E
(excluding)* (Including)*

(FBEEN)* (BEEA):
1996/97 Nil & 5.40 5.40 Nil & Nil & Nil & 5.40 24%  NATER
1997/98 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 13% NATER
1998/99 2.00 2.00 4.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 4.00 58%  N/A FiEf
1999/00 2.20 2.20 440 Nil & Nil & Nil & 440 77%  NATiEf
2000/01 1.10 3.80 490 Nil & 6.20 6.20 11.10 69% 156%
2001/02 5.00 5.90 10.90 5.00 14.10 19.10 30.00 50% 138%
2002/03 8.00 11.00 19.00 Nil & 5.00 5.00 24.00 60% 75%
2003/04 8.00 12.00 20.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 20.00 87%  NAT@EMA
2004/05 8.50 12.50 21.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 21.00 58%  N/A R
2005/06 9.00 13.00 22.00 Nil & 3.00 3.00 25.00 48% 55%
2006/07 8.50 3.00 11.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 11.50 38% NATER
2007/08 0.75 Nil & 0.75 Nil & Nil & Nil & 0.75 27%  NATER
2008/09 Nil & 1.50 1.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.50 39% NARER
2009/10 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 45%  NARER
2010/11 Nil & 1.10 1.10 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.10 N%  NATER
2011/12 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 38% NATER
2012/13 Nil & 1.20 1.20 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.20 61% NATER
2013/14 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 58%  NATER
2014/15 0.50 1.80 2.30 Nil & 1.00 1.00 3.30 61% 87%
2015/16 0.75 2.75 3.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 3.50 59%  NATER
2016/17 1.30 4.20 5.50 Nil & 1.00 1.00 6.50 65% 77%
2017/18 1.60 4.75 6.35 2.55 Nil & 2.55 8.90 69% 97%
2018/19 3.00 5.00 8.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 8.00 72% NATER
2019/20 4.00 5.00 9.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 9.00 71%  NATER
2020/21 4.00 7.00 11.00 0.50 Nil & 0.50 11.50 49% 52%
2021/22 4,50 4.00 8.50 1.00 Nil & 1.00 9.50 31% 35%
2022/23 4.00 1.50 5.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 5.50 29% NATER
2023/24 1.50 4.00 5.50 Nil £ Nil & Nil & 5.50 66% N/ATER
Remarks: * Excluding special dividend *Including special dividend
Bt * TRIERERIRKE CEERRIRE
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APPENDIX 2 Ft g =

Inventory & Debtor Turnover

FEREVIREEH

—A—— Inventory turnover 17 & H#5H]

No. of days
A& ——— Debtor turnover &Y BRIEEEH]

18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

(No. of days) (H &) 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

Inventory turnover

5 & A & 5 55 81 56 99 78 73
Debtor turnover
Jr& Uk B 17 & Hf 38 38 69 55 53 78

Inventory turnover = (Based on year end inventory value/cost of revenue) x 365 days

FEREH=-(NFREEHEBWAKAK) x365H

Debtor turnover = (Based on year end trade and bills receivables/revenue) x 365 days

JEWBRBEE=- (NFREFREBRIER WA) X365H
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APPENDIX 3

B 82 =

Gross Profit Margin & Net Profit Margin
BERENRAF

—A—— Gross Profit margin 2B EF] (%)
—— Net Profit margin 24T (%)

18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22% 22/23* 23/24*
(%) 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24
Gross profit margin
2 R E A 16.6 18.2 27.2 14.2* 10.9* 12.7*
Net profit margin
BERAR 8.4 8.6 12.8 8.3* 5.9* 5.8*
HK$(million)
(BEX¥1T)
Revenue
WA 2,651 2,902 3,473 3,075* 3,082* 2,916*
Profit for the year
F &2 A 221 250 445 549 386 170*
. Include continuing operations only

* O REBERELKERYR
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APPENDIX 4 Bt 5 Y
Industrial Businesses CAPEX
TEEBETEERE Operating
Industrial profit for
businesses industrial
CAPEX businesses
TEEBETE THER
BERE et
HK$000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
300,000 300,000
250,000 250,000
200,000 200,000
150,000 7T TTooooooooooooooooo oo ioo e 150,000
100,000 ~T7 o Tooooooooooooooseeoo L eeees e e “== 100,000
50,000 UL ToottL o meeeeeel e e e “==° 50,000
or T T T T T 10
19/20 20/21 21722 22/23 23/24 24/25%
(HK$’000)
(F#&x) 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25%

Industrial businesses

CAPEX
i & ; . 113,822 79,418 220,318 136,381 152,450 135,453
IXXGEETEERE

+

. . Not
Operating profit for 242,947 302,993 310,256 210,785 228,372 applicable
industrial businesses i B
THEEBELERF
* Budget
* BHE
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate
value and accountability.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”) the Group
has applied the principles of the recently promulgated
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and complied with the code provision
(the “Code Provisions”) of the CG Code, save for the
deviation from Code Provisions B.2.2 and C.2.1 of the
CG Code. This report describes our Group’s corporate
governance practices and explains the said deviations from
the CG Code.

Code Provision B.2.2 of CG Code stipulates that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, the
number nearest to one-third but not greater than one-third
shall retire from office provided that notwithstanding
anything in the Company’s Bye-laws, the Chairman
of the Directors and/or the Managing Director of the
Company shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject
to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in
determining the number of Directors to retire in each
year. Furthermore, any Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board should hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting and
would then be eligible for re-election. The Chairman and/
or the Managing Director of the Group will consider to
voluntarily retire at the annual general meeting at least
once every three years in line with Code Provision B.2.2
of the CG Code. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure good
corporate governance of the Company.

RREZBARABR(TRR] #EzE M
RAGCEEEMBEN  ARFKEHM
BAR(AEE]) —FEFBTETR
BEChEER-

REBE-_ZT-_NME=A=+—HItFE
(REEDAN AEECEBRIBEM
VHREBHARIMERARFES L
MRATETFR DM ECIZBEER
BHRTA((EERFTADABEEZR
Bl X2 38 <F BT A 5T AIG  ([=F B 32 (BR
TIREEDSEEARTR ZFRIMEXB.2.2
RC215N) AR EEFMAKE 2
EXEREN  YEEBOEERTAZRE
AlER B CEEARATANTA -

EFRTAZTAIKRXB22RES
PEZ(BREEEIHZEST)EED
B=FmERE K-

REARR AR - EAREE @R
REFREL =02 2EREEZ
EX(HMWMEABLIF==2F&
AIRBEOEANZR =022 8H)A
WERE EARAEEFSEIER K
EERKEIN AR ATRERTIN
EFEFTBEFRAEEFAEBTHAETAR
Ao gsh EREHERMEZEZE
SARESEMEINEBEANTRET
ERREFAERL  EREABEEE
£ R AEBXER HEFLL
BRE B FERAREE  KmA
BEEREATAUZTRIMGNB.2.2 -
- ARRIRBERIRE MG - AR
RARNRRIFEEER -

30 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED EF BB ZERER Q5



Corporate Governance Report

Moreover, Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates
that the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The Company does not segregate the roles of its
chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai
(“Mr. Ho”) currently holds both positions.

Being the founder of the Group, Mr. Ho has substantial
experience in the manufacturing industry, as well as in the
property development and cultural related business. At
the same time, Mr. Ho has the appropriate management
skills and business acumen that are the pre-requisites for
assuming the role of the chief executive officer. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both the chairman and the
chief executive officer in the same person would provide
the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allow
the Group to be more effective and efficient in developing
long-term business strategies and executing business
plans. Hence, the Board considers that there is no need to
segregate the roles of the chairman and the chief executive
officer and both roles should continue to be performed
by Mr. Ho. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is adequately ensured by the operation of
the Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with a sufficient number thereof independent
non-executive Directors.

The Company will continue to review its practices
from time to time to achieve high standard of corporate
governance.

A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1. The Board of Directors

1.1 As at 31 March 2024, the Board consisted of
seven Directors, comprising Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer),
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia, Mr. Zhao
Kai and Mr. Chan Raymond as executive
Directors and Mr. Fong Hoi Shing, Mr. Yam
Chung Shing and Dr. Lau Kin Wah as the
independent non-executive Directors. The
Board has the collective responsibility for
the leadership and promotion of the success
of the Group’s business by directing and
supervising the Group's affairs.

AN - e REIRSTRIZSTRMESC.2.148
EREDTFERTHREZRNAER LT
EH—ARRRE - ARBIAEEDE
FETBEENAE  ([EELE (M
F &) B AR AE % R E B AL o

MEERASENRIRA REEXR
FHEENCHBEXAGBLEELR -
RIS - (IS EABEETHAERAEL
BEEERTIREEEE 2 RGN -
EFEMEE A ARKETEFAET
BRENAEe /S NEBEREHBAFR—
HHEE  TAEAKEEARLER
EWHREEFHRELRBITES
g FAEFTERABRARDEFENT
BERZAE  WHASCEEEELTE
mEAe EREFTEHHEREE
BEEEMOAAEK BEEZSERH
ABOBYFATES WEFSH
5 BREFTSZEFRAEREN R
REGE DM -

ADERATHRTELER  UEE
BRFZLEER -

A. EE®
1. Exg

1.1 RZE-_WFE=A=+—
H EFEgdHtEES
WP o BIERITES [
IRVB S (EEFRITIAE
) BRAK/NE - HEl
EERBRBEXEE - B
TIEBMITES : FEWE
AFEHEERIR
EFELT - EETEHEHR
FEBEArEEEHEIEE
MERIE - I HFE
FHEIIREBAEES
BB
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1.2

1.3

The Board is committed to the Group’s
objectives of enhancing the Shareholders’
value and provision of superior products
and services. The Board is collectively
responsible for formulating the overall
objective and strategy of the Group;
monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance and reviews
the standard of corporate governance of
the Group. It also makes decisions on
matters such as approving the annual
results, interim and quarterly results,
connected transactions, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, declaring
dividends and adopting accounting policies.
The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for implementing business
strategies and management of the daily
operations of the Group’s businesses to the
management.

The Board conducts regular scheduled
meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened when circumstances
require.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

1.2

1.3
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board had met four times for the Year
and considered, reviewed and approved the
Group’s annual results for the year ended 31
March 2023, quarterly and interim results of
the Group for the Year.

The attendance records of Board meetings
and general meetings held during the Year
are set out below:

EXEeRNAFEARAER
TOXREH  LEEE -
B ESEREC
T_=F=A=+—RHZ
PEREMRAFEZ
FEMRPHES -

ANTRAFEEEFS S
BLEBERAENHFELR
8%

Attendance of individual Directors
at Board meetings and general
meetings during the Year

FEEEEERRRAEEE
BRIESHHEFER
No. of board  No. of general
meetings meetings
attended/ held attended/ held
Exg RERKXE
HERE HERE
SBRHE™ SERHY
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai o] 42 28 5€ A& 4/4 1/1
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia PR & w78 4/4 1/1
Mr. Zhao Kai okt 4/4 11
Mr. Chan Raymond PR 3% X & 4 4/4 1/1
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming* fa] &2 B 5 A * 2/2 11
Mr. Ho Kai Man? fa] B3 58 A+ 4/4 1/1
Independent Non-executive BV HHTEE
Directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing VbYW 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EFEHEE 4/4 1/1
Dr. Lau Kin Wah BlizEE L 4/4 11

*  resigned on 20 November 2023
#  resigned on 28 March 2024
A list of Directors and their roles and

functions was published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

< R=—ZZFE=-_=%+—A

—+8&T
# R—ZZET W F =AH
—+N\HET
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B T8 R AR A A] R B R
PR A8 o
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1.4 To maximize the effectiveness of the Board

and to encourage active participation and
contribution from Board members, the
Board has established an audit committee, a
nomination committee and a remuneration
committee. Detailed descriptions of each
of these committees are set out below.
All of these committees adopt, as far as
practicable, the principles, procedures and
arrangements of the Board in relation to
the scheduling and proceeding of meetings,
notice of meetings and inclusion of agenda
items, records and availability of minutes.

The Board has devised its specific written
terms of reference setting out its duties,
responsibilities, powers and functions which
include the following:

e developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior
management;

e reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

e developing reviewing and monitoring
the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and

e reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report in its
annual report.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7
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Board Composition

2.1 As at 31 March 2024, the Board comprises
seven Directors: four executive Directors
and three independent non-executive
Directors.

2.2 The attributes, skills and expertise among
the existing Directors are considered
appropriate so as to effectively lead,
supervise and manage the Group, taking
into account the scope and nature of the
operations. The Directors have a mix of core
competencies in areas such as accounting
and finance, business and management,
production and quality control techniques,
supply chain management, industry
knowledge and marketing strategies. Details
of the experience and qualifications of
Directors and Senior Management are
set out in the section headed “Senior
Management Profile” in this annual report.

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted a board diversity
policy, which sets out the purpose and
principles regarding board diversity for the
purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board
as for as practicable. Directors’ appointment
will be based on merit and candidates will
be considered against measurable objectives,
taking into account the Company’s business and
development.

Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity criteria, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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During the Year, the Board reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board and
was of the opinion that the Board composition
is well balanced and diversified, and with
the appropriate structure, size and necessary
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
of perspectives required for the business of
the Group. The Board also reviewed and
evaluated the board diversity policy and its
implementation, and considered it to be effective
during the Year.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprises at least 1 female Director. The Board
considers that the gender diversity in respect
of the Board is satisfactory and will continue to
maintain a diverse Board.

To develop a pipeline of potential successor to
ensure gender diversity, the Board will engage
human resources agencies and/or through open
selection process to identify potential successors
for the Board as and when appropriate and
enhance gender diversity in the coming years
and will emphasize gender as a factor to be
taken into consideration for achieving the Board
diversity.

As at 31 March 2024, the ratio of female to male
in the workforce (excluding Directors) was 35:65.
For details of gender distribution, please refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2024.

On 25 March 2019, the Board adopted a
separate nomination policy, which provides
the key selection criteria and principles of the
Board in making decisions in the appointment
and reappointment of directors and succession
planning of directors, to emphasise our
commitment on transparent nomination process.
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The Board comprises of seven members
including one female Director. The Company
shall continue to adopt measures encouraging
gender diversification in the Board. The
Company shall maintain at least one female
Director. The Nomination Committee of the
Company (the “NC”) shall review the situation of
gender diversity from time to time so as to reach
the target of gender diversity in the Board. The
Board considers by engaging human resources
agencies and/or through open selection process
to identify potential successors for the Board. In
recognition of the importance of gender diversity,
the Company has taken and will continue to take
steps to promote gender diversity in the Board so
as to ensure appropriate gender diversity in the
Board is always achieved.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of

Directors

4.1 At each annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM”), one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office
by rotation. The Directors, since his last
election or appointment who has been the
longest in office shall retire and be eligible
for re-election at the AGM. Pursuant to the
bye-laws of the Company, the Chairman
and/or the Managing Director of the Group
shall not, when holding such office, be
subject to retirement by rotation or be taken
into account in determining the number of
Directors to retire in each year. To comply
with Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code,
the Chairman and/or the Managing Director
of the Group will voluntarily retire at the
AGM at least once every three years.

4.2 As at 31 March 2024, the independent
non-executive Directors are appointed for
a fixed term not exceeding three years. All
independent non-executive Directors are
subject to the requirements of retirement by
rotation and re-election by Shareholders at
the AGM in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws.
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4.3 The names and biographical details of the
Directors who will offer themselves for
election or re-election at the forthcoming
AGM are set out in the circular to
Shareholders to assist Shareholders in
making an informed decision on their
elections.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has put in force appropriate
insurance coverage on directors’ and officers’
liabilities arising from the group’s business.
The Company reviews the extent of insurance
coverage on an annual basis.

Directors’ Continuous Professional
Development

Every newly appointed Director will be given
an induction. As part of the ongoing process
of directors’ training, the Company Secretary
continuously updates all directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements.
All Directors are encouraged to attend
external forum or training courses on relevant
topics which may count towards continuous
professional development training.
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For the Year, all Directors have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development
activities either by attending training courses,
seminars, conferences and forums or by reading
materials relevant to the Group’s business and
Directors’ duties and responsibilities. Each
of them has provided a record of training
they received for the Year to the Company. A
directors’ training course was held on 6 March
2024 concerning legal and regulatory updates
for listed issuers and their directors and senior
management. The training each Director received
for the Year is summarized as below:
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Attending

training courses,

seminars,

Reading conferences
materials and forums
AR

mag -

RMERBEEN EE V& R

Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fa] 2 o A
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia fR 4 k)N 8
Mr. Zhao Kai iz
Mr. Chan Raymond PR 3R SR
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
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Corporate Governance and Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”)
should be responsible for ensuring that directors
receive adequate, clear, complete and reliable
information in a timely manner.

The Chairman should:

e ensure that the Board works effectively and
performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner;

e ensure that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established;

e encourage the Directors with different views
to voice their concerns, allow sufficient
time for discussion of issues and ensure
that Board decisions fairly reflect Board'’s
consensus;

e ensure that appropriate steps are taken
to provide effective communication with
shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

e promote a culture of open and active
discussion by facilitating the effective
contribution of non-executive directors
in particular, and ensuring constructive
relations between executive and
non-executive Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer (“CEOQ”) should be
responsible for managing the Group’s business
including the implementation of strategy and
initiatives with the support of executive Directors
and senior management and within those
authorities delegated by the Board.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules, as at 31 March 2024, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors and one of them has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. Pursuant
to Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the number of
independent non-executive Directors represents
no less than one-third of the Board.

The Company has received from each of its
independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and having reviewed
the independence of each of the independent
non-executive Directors against the independent
criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, the Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

If any re-election of an independent
non-executive director who has served the board
for more than nine years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders.

Independent View Mechanism

The Company adopted the director’s nomination
policy (the “Nomination Policy”). The
nomination process of Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, is included
in the Nomination Policy.

The Board should include at least three
independent non-executive Directors. At least
one of the independent non-executive Directors
of the Company has served less than 9 years
on the Board. At least one of the independent
non-executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.
The Company must appoint independent
non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third of the Board. The Company shall
appoint a sufficient number of independent
non-executive Directors to meet the minimum
number required above within three months after
failing to meet the requirement(s).
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All Board committees comprise a majority of
independent non-executive Directors.

Directors should disclose to the Company at
the time of their appointments, and in a timely
manner for any changes, the number and
nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments.
The identity of the public companies or
organisations should also be disclosed.

When selecting independent non-executive
Directors, the candidates’ availability should
be considered as sitting on a Board involves a
significant time commitment. Independent non-
executive Directors must dedicate time to reading
materials prior to Board meetings in order to
make the hours spent in meetings effective. They
also have to learn to understand the Company’s
complex business and operational details, market
forces and future perspectives.

The NC should be aware of the factors which
may affect an individual’s time commitment to
the Company.

Upon reasonable request, Directors may seek
independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense. All
Directors should have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary of the
Company to ensure that Board procedures, and
all applicable law, rules and regulations, are
followed.

The Board was satisfied with the implementation
and effectiveness of the independent view
mechanism for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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B. BOARD COMMITTEE
1. Remuneration Committee (the “RC”)

1.1

1.2

The RC meets at least once a year. Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming resigned as the member
of the RC and Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
had been appointed as the member of RC,
with effect from 20 November 2023. As
at 31 March 2024, the RC is chaired by
Mr. Yam Chung Shing and comprises two
other members, namely Ms. Chan Ming
Mui, Silvia and Dr. Lau Kin Wah. The RC
members comprise one executive Director
and two independent non-executive
Directors. The quorum necessary for the
transaction of business by the RC is two.
The terms of reference of RC shall be
updated from time to time to comply with
the new requirements set out in the CG
Code and were published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of the RC are
follows:

e to formulate remuneration policy
of the Group, review and make
recommendations to the Board in
respect of the remuneration policy;

e  to consider salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

e to conform with any requirement,
direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the
Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by the
Listing Rules or any applicable law;

o to make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of non-executive
Directors;

e to determine the remuneration packages,
terms of service contract and equity-
based remuneration of the executive
Directors and the senior management;
and
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e to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

1.3 The RC met once during the Year and
reviewed its terms of reference, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the
remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management staff. It also assessed the
performance of the Directors and evaluated
the remuneration policy. The attendance
record of the meeting of the RC during the
Year is set out below:

1.3

o ERR HHtE L
mHRAFBI7ER
BRpFEIEE -

FHZEERNAFER
BIT—REFLHE - N
ERERRERE A%
BB R RESEM
SREEBZHEM T
SHERESFNRERAL
AFEFHBECGR - FrEE
BEenAFEgR A
JEREER AT

No. of meetings
attended/held

HERE
SERE

Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHELE
(chairman of the RC) (FWZEE =+ E) 11
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming* fa] 52 B 5 A * 1/1
Dr. Lau Kin Wah BlipEmt 1/1
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia® PR & pk/ )N tEe 0/0

* resigned on 20 November 2023

e was appointed on 20 November 2023

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration
and the five highest paid employees as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to
the Listing Rules are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,
the remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the Year is set out
below:

TRERERHRES

R DX EASTRIZ 5T RIME
XEL5 > AEE - LA R
EozaMER ABFHE
HIanR

Number of

persons

Remuneration bands (HK$) 0 A8 Bl (78 %) AE
1 to 1,000,000 121,000,000 1
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,001% 2,000,000 2

Audit Committee (the “AC”)

2.1 Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming resigned as the member
of the AC with effect from 20 November
2023. The AC comprises the independent
non-executive Directors as at 31 March
2024:

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing

(chairman of the AC)
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming*
Mr. Yam Chung Shing
Dr. Lau Kin Wah

* resigned on 20 November 2023

The Board is of the opinion that members
of the AC have sufficient accounting
and financial management expertise or
experience to discharge their duties.

2.2 The terms of reference had been adopted
for the operations of the AC. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee were
posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The main duties of the
AC include:

e to review interim and annual results
and review the risk management
and internal control systems, the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal
audit function during the regular Board
meetings during the Year;
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to review and supervise the Group’s
financial reporting process including
the review of quarterly, interim and
annual results of the Group;

to review the external auditors’
appointment, remuneration and any
matters relating to their resignation or
termination;

to review and monitor the external
auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable
standards;

to examine the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control which involves
regular review in various corporate
structures and business process;

to review the internal audit function of
the Group and its effectiveness;

to realize corporate objective and
strategy by taking into account the
potential risk and the nature of
its urgency in order to ensure the
effectiveness of the Group’s business
operations. The scope of such reviews
includes finance, operations, regulatory
compliance, internal control systems
and risk management; and

to discuss the risk management
and internal control systems with
management to ensure that management
has performed its duties to have effective
systems.
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2.3 The AC met two times during the Year and

reviewed the interim results of the Group
for the six months ended 30 September
2023 and the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2023.
The AC had also reviewed the Group’s
financial reporting system, internal control
system, external auditor’s independence,
remuneration and effectiveness of the audit
process, the effectiveness of the internal
audit function, risk management system
and associated procedures to ensure their
adequacy and effectiveness and its other
duties under the CG Code. The company
secretary of the Company keeps all minutes
of the AC. The attendance record of the
meeting of the AC during the Year is set out
below:
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2.3

No. of meetings
attended/held
HE R B
DS

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing

(chairman of the AC)
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming*
Mr. Yam Chung Shing
Dr. Lau Kin Wah
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11
2/2
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resigned on 20 November 2023

R-BE-_=F+—A=-+H#&
£

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F #& 47



Corporate Governance Report
TEERBMES

48

3.

Nomination Committee (the “NC”)

3.1 The NC was established in January 2022.
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming resigned as the member
of the NC and Mr. Fong Hoi Shing was
appointed as the member of the NC with
effect from 20 November 2023. The NC
comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Fong Hoi Shing, Mr.
Yam Chung Shing and Dr. Lau Kin Wah as at
31 March 2024. Mr. Yam Chung Shing, the
independent non-executive Director, was
appointed as the chairman of the NC.

3.2 The duties of the NC are as follows:

e to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy;

e to identify, and assess the suitability
and qualification of, candidates to
become Board members and select or
make recommendation to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

e to assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors;
and

e to make recommendation to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular, the
chairman of the Board and the chief
executive of the Company.
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The Board has adopted the Nomination
Policy, which set out the selection criteria
in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate as Director. Such criteria include
but are not limited to:

*  reputation for integrity;

e accomplishment, experience and
reputation in the relevant industries/
sectors;

e commitment in respect of sufficient
time, interest and attention to the
Company’s business;

e diversity in all aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age,
cultural/educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge and
experience;

e ability to assist and support
management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s
success;

e compliance with the criteria of
independence as prescribed under
Rules 3.10A and 3.13 of the Listing
Rules for the appointment of an
independent non-executive Director;
and

e any other relevant factors as may be
determined by the Board from time to
time.
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3.4 The NC and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various
channels, including but not limited to
internal promotion, re-designation, referral
by other member of the management and
external recruitment agents.

3.5 The nomination procedures are as follows:

e The chairman of the Board shall
nominate suitable candidates to the
Board and therefore shall convene a
meeting, and invite Board members,
for consideration by the Board.
The Board members may also
nominate candidates for the Board’s
consideration.

e In the context of appointment of any
candidate to the Board, the Board shall
undertake adequate due diligence in
respect of such individual and make
approval.

e In the context of re-appointment of any
existing member(s) of the Board, the
Board shall consider for the candidates
to stand for re-election at a general
meeting.

e Please refer to the “Procedures for
a Shareholder to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director”, which is
available on the Company’s website,
for procedures for Shareholders’
nomination of any proposed candidate
for election as a director.

. The Board shall have the final decision

on all matters relating to candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting.
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The NC will review the board diversity
policy of the Company, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness and discuss
may revisions that may be required and
recommended any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

The NC meets at least once a year. The
quorum necessary for the transaction of
business by the nomination committee is
two. During the Year, the NC met once. The
attendance record of the meeting of the NC
during the Year is set out below:

3.6

3.7

REZEEREEER
RS ARBEFTE K
B Z T L BUR - PAREAR
HIT2Z B - A&t E
HFELERT BREX
EFEgEEEL-

BFEEL-RBRARSA
ZEE -RELEER
BEBZEEABEM
AN AFE  RREEE
BT —REHE - BREE
BEgRAFESHR D
B8R -

No. of
attended/held
HERE
EE V8
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C.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

1.1

1.2

The Company has adopted a Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Group (the
“Company’s Model Code”) on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out
in Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors,
they have confirmed that they had complied
with the required standards set out in both the
Company’s Model Code and the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

52

1.

Financial Reporting

1.1 The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for preparing the Group’s accounts which
gives a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group
on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumption or qualification as necessary.
In preparing the accounts for the Year, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable.

1.2 The management of the Company provides
explanation and information to the Board
as to enable the Board to make informed
assessments of the financial and other
information put before the Board for
approval.
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1.3 The Board endeavours to ensure the making
of balanced, clear and understandable
assessments of the Group’s position and
prospects and extending the coverage of
such information to include annual, interim
and quarterly reports, price-sensitive
announcements and financial disclosures
as required under the Listing Rules, reports
to regulators as well as any information
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to
statutory requirements.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system
of risk management and internal controls
and is committed to managing business risks
and maintaining sound and effective internal
control systems to safeguard the Shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets.

During the Year, the internal audit department
of the Group (the “Internal Audit Department”)
under the supervision of the Board and the AC,
has reviewed and reported on the adequacy of
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, covering financial,
operational, compliance and risk management
control functions annually. Based on the results
of the review, the Board considers that the
Group'’s risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate during the
Year.

The Board adopted the risk management
policy and internal risk management audit
plan, including structure and system of risk
management of the Group. The Internal Audit
Department together with the Audit Committee
will review the adequacy of the effectiveness of
the risk management at least once a year.

The Board had reviewed the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function and considered all these to be effective
during the Year.
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The internal control system is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
of no material misstatement or loss and to
manage instead of eliminating risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the
Group's objectives.

The Internal Audit Department performs
regular audit reviews and report of the risk
and key controls of the Group to the Board
and the AC. The responsible department heads
will be notified of the control deficiencies
noted for rectification. For the Year, the
Internal Audit Department mainly conducted
operational management audit over process
of manufacturing, procurement management,
logistics management, import and export customs
activities, consumable material management as
well as project tendering and bidding, budgeting,
on-site certification, testing and acceptance
materials and equipment in real estate business
etc and other items with higher risk index. The
audit results have been presented to the senior
management, the AC and the Board.

For the purpose of handling and disseminating
inside information pursuant to Rules 13.09
and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and Part XIVA
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Group has taken various procedures and
measures, including arousing the awareness to
preserve confidentiality of inside information
within the Group, signing of confidentiality
agreement, sending blackout period and
securities dealing restrictions notifications to
the Directors and relevant employees regularly,
disseminating information to specified persons
on a need-to-know basis and observing the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission
in June 2012 stringently.
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3. Risk Management

Risk Management

Risks can be viewed as the combination of
the probability of an event and the impact
of its consequences. Events with a negative
impact represent risk that can prevent value
creation or erode existing value. In order to
deliver value to our shareholders and reduce
loss of the Company, we must understand
the types of risks faced by our corporation
and address them appropriately.

Generally, risks to the Group’s success
can be grouped into four categories: (1)
Strategic, (2) Operational, (3) Compliance
and (4) Financial & Reporting. Specific
examples of each type of risks are included
in the table below.

Strategic * Reduction in business
vitality (due to change in
business strategy, customer
spending pattens, product
discovery & development,
changing technology, etc.)

e Loss of intellectual
property & trade secrets

e Competition for talent
e Negative impact to
reputation

Disruption to product
supply

¢ Counterfeiting

e Inefficient use of

Operational

resources/increase cost of

materials

e Physical property/damage/
disruption

e Discontinuation of global
data flows
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Compliance e Violation of laws or
governing areas such as

e Environmental
e Employee health & safety

e Protection of personal
data

e Local tax and statutory
laws

Financial &
Reporting funding and cash flow,
credit risk

Currency exchange,

e Financial misstatement

[1. Risk Management System
The Company established an enterprise
risk management system for ensuring the
appropriate control and governance on
the principal risks that are exposed to the
Group, which includes:

e specifying the concept of risk
management, and determining the
scope of risk management.

e specifying the risk reporting process
and establishing risk governance
framework to identify and assess the
possible impact on the Group.

e  establishing risk governance control
points for establishing relevant
countermeasures against the main
control matters involving risks.

e establishing monitoring plan in terms
of priority, conducting monitoring and
review twice a year.
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Risk Management Framework

The Board is playing the role as an overseer,
and the Audit Committee is responsible for
risk governance, report the effectiveness of
the risk system of the Group to the Board
and the actual risk executor is the person
in charge of each department. The Board
assigns the representative of Executive
Committee the responsibility of being in
charge of implementing the risk measures.
The internal audit department of the Group
will conduct an independent annual review
on the risk management system of the
Group according to the audit plan on risk
management, and submit the report to the
Board.

Risk Identification

The Group identifies risk through a mixture
of top-down and bottom-up approaches,
thereby conducting analysis and appraisal
on risk, and identifying the source, type and
index of risk.

For top-down approach, the representatives
of Executive Committee and Risk
Management Department have to conduct
risk identification through questionnaires.

For bottom-up approach, the
person-in-charge of the risk will collect
the risks from each department, complete
the risk register under the assistance of risk
executor, and submit to risk management
department or report to respective
management personnel.
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V. Risk Assessment

The risk is then classified into two levels,
namely intrinsic risk and residual risk. The
risk assessment calculates the risk index on
these two levels according to the established
methods in respect of the possible impact
of each risk on the Group. It controls the
sum of all risk indices on residual risk
within the risk limit pre-set by the Group
through taking control action and mitigation
measures.

VI. Risk Handling

The sum of risk indices shall at no time
exceed the cap of risk preference of the
Group. The control measures shall be taken
to conduct risk governance on any risk with
high risk index in a timely manner. Such risk
governance aims at reducing the possibility
of occurrence or mitigating the impact
of risk (and may not be fully eliminated).
Each of the proposed risk management
measures/countermeasures is assigned
to a person in charge with an estimated
date of completion, so as to enable the
person-in-charge of risk to monitor the
process of management easier to ensure risk
countermeasures have come into force.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Board has adopted a whistleblowing policy
(the “Whistleblowing Policy”) since June 2022.
The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is
to commit to the highest possible standards of
openness, probity and accountability. It provides
the employees of the Group with protection,
support, reporting channels and guidance on
whistleblowing. The nature, status and the
results of the complaints received under the
Whistleblowing Policy are reported to designated
officers and the Audit Committee. No incident
of fraud or misconduct that have material effect
on the Group’s financial statements or overall
operations for the year ended 31 March 2024
has been discovered. The Whistleblowing Policy
is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee to
ensure its effectiveness.
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Anti-corruption

The Group has developed and implemented
anti-corruption and anti-bribery systems.
Under the authorisation of the management,
the Internal Audit Department implements
daily anti-corruption and anti-fraud measures,
including handling complaints, ensuring the
protection of whistleblowers, conducting internal
investigations, and reporting to the Board. For
any discovered corrupt or fraudulent behavior,
the Group takes remedial measures and
preventive methods to avoid similar incidents in
future.

The Group regularly provides anti-corruption
compliance training to senior management and
employees, enhancing their understanding of
relevant laws and regulations. Relevant policies
and explicit provisions prohibiting violations have
incorporated in the Employee Handbook and
the Employee Code of Ethics. During the vyear,
all new employees have received anti-corruption
compliance training; all board members have
received director responsibility training, including
supervising the Group’s anti-corruption and anti-
bribery matters.

Auditors’ remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid to KPMG, the
Group’s external auditor HK$3,600,000 for
audit services of the Group and for non-audit
related services approximately HK$456,000,
representing mainly taxation services and other
non-audit service fees.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

1.

The Company strives to convey to Shareholders
pertinent information in a clear, detailed, timely
manner and on a regular basis and to take into
consideration their views and inputs, and to
address the Shareholders’ concerned. Their views
are communicated to the Board comprehensively.

The Company adopted a shareholders’
communication policy (the “Shareholders’
Communication Policy”) and reviews it on
an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The purpose of this policy is to ensure the
Shareholders are provided with prompt and
equal access to information about the Company
(including but not limited to its financial
performance, corporate goals and strategies,
significant developments, corporate governance
and risk exposure), in order to enable the
Shareholders to assess the Company’s overall
performance, exercise their rights in an informed
manner and engage actively with the Company.

The Company communicates with the
Shareholders through the publication of
annual reports, interim reports, circulars,
results announcements and news releases.
All communications to Shareholders are
also available on the Company’s website at
www.karrie.com.

We had provided sufficient notice for
Shareholders at all general meetings. The AGM
provides a useful platform for Shareholders to
exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Board and the Board members will make
an effort to attend to answer Shareholders’
questions. External auditor is also available at the
annual general meeting to address shareholders’
queries about the conduct of the audit.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the election of individual Directors.
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All votes of the Shareholders at a general meeting
must be taken by poll according to the Listing
Rules. The chairman of the meeting will therefore
demand a poll for every resolution put to the
vote of the AGM pursuant to bye-law 66 of the
Bye-laws.

F. INVESTOR RELATIONS

1.

Results announcement

The Board recognizes that effective
communication with investors is the key to
establish investor confidence and to attract new
investors.

Annual reports and interim reports are prepared
and issued to all Shareholders within the
prescribed periods stipulated by the Listing
Rules. All results announcements and reports
are published on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website. The Company can still
provide the Shareholders and investors with an
adequate degree of transparency and information
of the financial position of the Company.

Communication of media, analysts and
investors

The Group endeavours to enhance the
transparency. We have close communication
with media, analysts and both institutional and
individual investors after the release of the
interim and final results by way of presentation,
luncheons, meetings or telephone conferences
etc. according to circumstances from time to
time in order to share the performances of the
Group during the relevant period results and
to report the new development and strategy
of the Group’s business. There is also ample
opportunity for all parties to ask questions and to
communicate with each other. Furthermore, the
Group shall reply and handle rapidly, as we have
received enquiries from media and individual
Shareholders.
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Tea-Break with individual investors

Since the first quarter of 2004/05, the Group
has been arranging tea-break with individual
investors from time to time to build up an
interactive and direct communication channel.
This allows individual investors talking to the
management of the Group. Meanwhile, the
Group would give an update about the status
of the Group’s development and share of their
feelings toward the Group. The next tea-break
will be held on 10 August 2024. Interested
investors are invited to visit the Company's
website at www.karrie.com for more details.

Website

The Group regularly releases corporate
information, such as awards received, and the
latest news of the Group’s developments on its
Company’s website. The public are welcome to
give their comments and make their enquiries
through the Company’s website, the management
will give their prompt response.

Shareholder Communication Policy

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders
Communication Policy and its implementation
and effectiveness for the year ended 31 March
2024. The Company has provided appropriate
communication channels to the Shareholders
in accordance with the Shareholders
Communication Policy and therefore the
existing Shareholders Communication Policy in
appropriate to the Company and considered that
the Shareholders” Communication Policy was
effective during the Year.
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G. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

1.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a
Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company at 9/F, Southeast
Industrial Building, 611-619 Castle Peak Road,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong, to
require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionists, or
any of them representing more than one half of
the voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition.

Procedures for which enquiries may be put to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries to the Board in writing at the
Company’s head office and principal place of
business or the Company’s website.
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3. Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at the shareholders” meeting
Pursuant to Section 79 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all shareholders; or not less than 100
shareholders may make requisition in writing to
the head office and principal place of business of
the Company:

(@) to give to shareholders of the Company
entitled to receive notice of the next annual
general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at that meeting; and

(b) to circulate to shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them
any statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

Any enquires or suggestions by Shareholders can
be sent in writing to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company at our head office
and principal place of business at 9/F, Southeast
Industrial Building, 611-619 Castle Peak Road,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong or email
ir@karrie.com to the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is an
employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Group’s affairs and assists the Board
in functionary effectively. All Directors also have
access to the advice and services of the company
secretary of the Company. During the Year, the
company secretary of the Company has confirmed
that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the Year, there had been no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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Senior Management Profile

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Fai, aged 78, was appointed as a Director
of the Company in October 1996 and is the chairman
and chief executive officer of the Company as well as the
founder of the Group. He is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to founding the Group in
1980, Mr. Ho has experience in factory management for
several decades and in running operations specializing in
manufacturing plastic, metal and electronic products. He is
responsible for the Group’s overall corporate strategies and
objectives. He is also a director of New Sense Enterprises
Limited, Honford Investments Limited, Castfast Properties
Development Co., Ltd. and The Wedding City Co., Limited,
a corporate substantial shareholder of the Company, and
the husband of Ms. Ho Po Chu, who is a member of
management team.
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Mr. Ho was appointed as member of the 10th Guangdong
Provincial Committee of Political Consultative Conference
in January 2008 and was reappointed as a member of the
11th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province in January 2007. He
was also awarded as the Honorable Citizen of Dongguan
City and Honorable Citizen of Yixing City. The solid
business knowledge and working experience gained
by Mr. Ho throughout the years are recognized by the
industries. He was awarded the Honorary Fellowship of the
Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries in
October 2020. He was also the Honorary Vice-Chairman
of Hang Seng Management College — Foundation and
the Honorary Director of Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial)
Ho currently
participates in affairs of different social and commercial

Members Association Foundation. Mr.

associations, which include Former Guangdong Province
CPPCC Members Association, Overseas Friendship
Association of Dongguan, Former Dongguan City CPPCC
Members Association, The Association of the Hong Kong
Members of Dongguan’s (Hong Kong & Macau) CPPCC,
Guangdong Overseas Chinese Enterprises Association,
Hong Kong Metals Manufacturers Association, World
Dongguan Entrepreneurs, China Association of Enterprises
with Foreign Investment, Dongguan City Association
of Enterprises with Foreign Investment, Dongguan
City Fenggang Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment, Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong
Hong Kong Fenggang

(Dongguan) Natives Association Limited, The Hong Kong

Community Organisations,

Chinese Importers’ & Exporter’s Association, Dongguan
Foundation for the Disabled and Dongguan City Fenggang
Industrial Development Association (3 52 1 Bl i 2 3 % &
RER).

BTRZZEEN\FE—HEZXFRERESE
TEBRHBEZEERR-ZZEZTLF—AEMF
BEREREMET —EHRHEE - 5
FIEBREEMEAETREEEME
EMRE - REZFREAANRELR
RERE BITERNEE  RZZTZ
TETHERSEIEZEXTERETER
BRt+-a28  TAELEEESZHR — &
CLKRBREIERERERBHBEZE
BMESESEREES  ARTEGSH

ZEteERBrkEmeER EREER
BREAEERHEEBESR - Rxm /8

l:1/'\

’>7|\ ﬁﬁEEQ‘ gﬁTFEkTéﬁ?EHﬁ%EE

BREBIHER) ZEHES
f?éﬁ%‘?&ﬂxﬁm%% Al
REEHE  ER=mHAE - PEI

BREGEHE REMIIBEERED

XHhe REMBEMIEBRELEH
2 FEERLEL® FER=REME
R#eg FEHELAOBE R=EM

BREAGBINESCERRETMBHEEZE
ERRESE -

66 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7



Senior Management Profile

Ms. CHAN Ming Mui, Silvia, aged 52, was appointed
as an executive Director in November 2010, and is the
General Manager — Human Resources and Administration
of the Group and responsible for the overall operation of
human resources, administration and IT department of the
Group. Ms. Chan is one of the members of the Executive
Committee and Internal Audit Committee of the Group.
She is also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Ms. Chan graduated from The City University of Hong
Kong majoring in Public Administration and Management.
She also holds a Master of Business Administration from
Wrexham Glyndwr University in the United Kingdom.
She joined the Group in 1996 and has over 25 years’
experience in administration and management.

Mr. ZHAO Kai, aged 49, was appointed as a Director of
the Company in November 2012. He has been appointed
as the General Manager and the Convener of Executive
Committee of the Group with effect from 1 April 2013,
responsible for overall manufacturing management
and operation of the Group. Mr. Zhao graduated from
Xihua University (formerly known as Sichuan Institute of
Technology) in the PRC with a Bachelor Degree in Foundry
Engineering. He has over 20 years’ experience in metal
plastic,c, mould engineering and project management and
more than 15 years’ experience in production management
and operation. Mr. Zhao joined the Group in December
2011.

Mr. CHAN Raymond, aged 57, was appointed as an
executive Director in June 2016. He is also the Marketing
Executive General Manager and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group, responsible for the Group’s
marketing and business development. He is also the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He joined the
Group in 1985 and has over 30 years’ experience in sales
and marketing.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. FONG Hoi Shing, aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in December 2004.
He has extensive experience in accounting, finance and
management. He holds a master degree in professional
accounting, a postgraduate diploma in corporate
administration and a higher diploma in accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered
Governance Professional and an associate of the Chartered
Governance Institute and the Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute.

Mr. YAM Chung Shing, aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in
November 2015, is an Honorable President of Dongguan
City Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment,
the Honorable Citizen of Dongguan, Standing Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Dongguan City and an Executive Vice President and
Secretary of Association of the Hong Kong Members
of Dongguan’s (Hong Kong & Macau) Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Committee. He
He has
extensive experience in business management and project

has invested and developed several projects.
investment.

Dr. LAU Kin Wah, mH, jp, aged 64, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of
each of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Lau has
rich and extensive experience in business operation and
management and is the founder, chairman and managing
director of Hanville Co. Ltd. He holds a Doctor of Business
Administration from Bulacan State University in Philippines
and becomes a prominent figure in watch and clock
industry. He graduated from the Lee Wai Lee Technical
Institute in the 1980s. He was presented with the 20th
Anniversary Award for Outstanding Graduate by the VTC
in 2002. Also, he was an awardee of the Young Industrialist
Awards of Hong Kong in 2004 and conferred the VTC
Honorary Fellowship in 2013. On 1 July 2013 he was
appointed a justice of the peace.
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Dr. Lau is also a Vice-Convenor of The Employees
Retraining Board Industry Consultative Networks (Business
Services), a Chairman of Education Bureau Curriculum
Development Council Ad Hoc Committee on Applied
Learning Chinese (for non-Chinese speaking students),
a Member of Hong Kong Productivity Council Hong
Kong Watch & Clock Technology Centre Management
Committee, an Advisor of Hong Kong Brand Development
Council and a Specialist of The Hong Kong Council for
Accreditation of Academic and Vocational Qualifications
(HKCAAVQ).

Mr. LAM Yin Shing, Donald, aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of the
audit committee of the Company with effect from 1 July
2024. He has extensive experience in banking industry. He
has been with Hang Seng Bank Limited (the “Bank”) for
the past 21 years, lastly as Head of Commercial Banking
(Greater China) and a member of the Bank’s Executive
Committee before his retirement in January 2024. He
planned, directed and managed the Bank’s commercial
banking business in the Greater China region as well as
the functional departments of global trade and receivable
finance, global payment solutions, insurance sales and
corporate wealth management. Prior to this, he had been
with HSBC Hong Kong for 14 vyears lastly as Head of
Corporate Marketing and Planning for value transformation
of the corporate and institutional banking business, before
serving briefly as finance director of a HK-listed company
for less than 3 years.

He is a certified banker of the Hong Kong Institute of
Bankers and a chartered banker of the Chartered Banker
Institute, UK. He obtained his Bachelor of Social Science
(First Class Honor) in Economics and Management
Studies from the University of Hong Kong in 1987 and
Master of Science in e-Commerce and Master of Business
Administration both from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong.
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Mr. Lam is an active participant in various community
services. He served as board member, second vice
president, campaign committee chairman and member
of Executive Committee of the Community Chest from
2021 to 2022; a member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Guangxi Autonomous Region
from 2013 to 2022; a member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Changsha City from 2008 to
2012; and a member of Disciplinary Committee of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants from
2076 to 2022.

With effect from 19 April 2024, Mr. Lam has been
appointed as an executive director of each of Chinney
Investments, Limited (“Chinney”) (Stock Code: 216) and
Hon Kwok Land Investment Company, Limited (“Hon
Kwok”) (Stock Code: 160). He is primarily responsible for
the overall financial management of Chinney and Hon
Kwok. Chinney and Hon Kwok are the listed companies
in Hong Kong listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
He has also been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Best Pacific International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 2111) with effect from 25 June 2024,
which is also a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

On 27 June 2024, Mr. Lam obtained the legal advice and
Mr. Lam has confirmed he understood his obligations as a
director of a listed company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. HO Po Chu, aged 75, is the Director of Administration
of the Group. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Ms.
of the Group in 1980. She is mainly responsible for
supervising human resources and overall administration of

Ho is one of the founding members

the Group. She is also the wife of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, who is
one of the executive Directors, the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company.
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Mr. LO Wai Kit, aged 54, is the Marketing General
Manager of the Group and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group, responsible for the Group’s
business development and product management. Mr. Lo
graduated from The Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor of Arts (Honors) in Sociology. He has over 25
years’ experience in sales and marketing.

Mr. CHAN Wah Ying, aged 59, is the General Manager
of Thailand factory and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group. He is also the director of
Karwin Thai Advanced Technology Industrial Limited. Mr.
Chan graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now
known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with
a higher certificate in Manufacturing Engineering. Mr.
Chan joined the Group in 1992 and has over 30 vyears’
experience in quality management, system integration and
rich experience in international certification related to
manufacturing.
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The Board has the pleasure of presenting the report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in

= Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): providing
mechanical engineering solutions, manufacturing
and sales of metal and plastic parts, mainly including
moulds and the relevant plastic and metal parts
products for information and communication
technology industry, etc.; and

= Electronic Manufacturing Services Business (“EMS”):
manufacturing and sales of magnetic tape data
storage, point-of-sale system, and other computer
peripherals, etc.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business and an analysis using financial key performance
indicators, can be found in Chairman’s Statement on pages
12 to 29, in Report of the Directors in pages 72 to 113 and
Financial Highlights on pages 9 to 11 of this annual report.

A discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group is contained in Corporate Governance Report on
pages 30 to 64 of this annual report.

The Group’s turnover by principal product business
segment and geographical locations for the Year are set out
in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board has recommended to pay a final dividend of
HK4.0 cents per share (2022/23 final dividend: HK1.5
cents per share), to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 6 September
2024. Together with the interim dividend of HK1.5 cents
per share (2022/23 interim dividend: HK4.0 cents per
share), total dividend paid/payable for this year amounted
to HK5.5 cents per share (2022/23: HK5.5 cents per share).
The final dividend will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company to be held on
30 August 2024.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group's results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 126 to 127
of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group and of the Company during the Year are set
out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in
Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves
of approximately HK$280,512,000 mainly representing the
contributed surplus and retained earnings were available
for distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the Year amounted to HK$689,000.

Report of the Directors
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has recognized the importance of good
utilization of resources long time ago and not to exploit
the rights of using resources for the next generation. The
Group adheres to the vision of the Chairman Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, that is with heartfelt dedication in all details, and saves
resources for the next generation. As such, the Group’s
production adheres to the concept of reducing energy or
material consumption from the sources with the adoption
of various environmental friendly measures and addition of
energy-saving equipment. With the concept of green and
cleaner production implemented in practice, the Group
continues to formulate policies for green production and
energy-saving policies, while introducing different kinds of
environmentally friendly equipment to attain the objectives
of cleaner production and environmental protection and
to comply with relevant environmental regulations. It is of
paramount importance to have effective communication
and understanding between the Group and its stakeholders
including Shareholders, partners, employees, suppliers,
regulators and the public in coming up with benchmarks
and regarding key issues.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report Guide contained in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s
Sustainability Report will be available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website at the same time
as the publication of the annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of noncompliance
with such requirements. The Group has been implementing
system and allocating staff resources to ensure ongoing
compliance with rules and regulations.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China
while the Company itself was incorporated in Bermuda
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. Our establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong, Bermuda and the PRC. The Group had
complied with all relevant laws and regulations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated
and it regularly reviews and improves its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health
and safety.

The Group maintains good relationship with its customers.
A customer complaint handling mechanism is in place
to receive, analyse and study complaints and make
recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving
service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and
conducts a fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers.

Report of the Directors

ESERE

B ERRER
AEBXRABTEERENEEZELER
ERZERENER AEEFER
ARBERATFER  HEER-BEETHRA
BB »

AEBNEETBERARARBUREE R
PEAM A B ARETT - MARFAR
SR BREZMA - E B I 7B
REERLET - Bt - HFIXZ K
BRABTELE BRENTPEAMNE
BUERLER - AEEDETHE R
ERFOER -

HES BEERHEBZBE

AEBRRETHEETLOREE 1
EHBE RS - KHBIER
BERFERZ2HE -

AEBEEBEEBERYT - ARBCEHIE
BEPIGFRERS - WK - 2T RiTE
BRFFMHRBERERR  UTHRS
RGEE -

AEBEHERBRRLY L g H
EEETATRERERZ -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F #& 75



Report of the Directors

EEEHE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group adopts an integrated top-down and bottom-up
approach in identifying risks and thereby conducts risk

analysis and assessment to identify the sources, categories
and indicators of risks. The followings are the key part of
the risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

(M

76

Industrial Business:

(i)

(i)

Concentration of clients

The customers in industrial business of the
Group are mainly concentrated in global leading
technology corporations. The Group may be
unable to attract new customers if no new
product has been developed. The concentration
of customers and/or the concentration of
geographical location that exceeds an acceptable
level may increase the business risk and may
reduce the market share of the Group. The Group
may also be exposed to the risk of significant
reduction in profit in case a few important clients
are lost.

Supplies of raw materials

Since market fluctuations may lead to delay,
shortage and price fluctuation in raw materials
supply, these may heighten the Group’s risks in
maintaining timely delivery to customers and a
fall in profit.
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)

The Group has already adopted the following
corresponding measures to mitigate operational risks:

(i) Concentration of clients:
The Group adopt practical measures of
“recruiting talents, innovating research and
development, diversifying products, extending
the production bases and market expansion” and
provide solutions to our customers so as to meet
the constant challenges.

(ii) Supplies of raw materials:
The Group will seek to stock up sufficient raw
materials in accordance with market conditions
and sales and production plan, in order to stay
clear of short-term fluctuation in market supply
and price.

The Group always values clients and suppliers as
long-term close partners. The Group will timely
communicate with upstream and downstream
suppliers over the market status of the raw
materials and will proactively search for solutions
to achieve a win-win business partnership.

Finance

Foreign currency risks arising from dealings with
customers and suppliers in foreign currencies are
discussed in the Chairman’s Statement of this annual
report. Other financial risks and uncertainties are set
out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.
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SHARE SCHEME B 12 5 &l
SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME B EE
A. The Old Scheme B . g5

The share option scheme was adopted on 24 August
2012 (the “Old Scheme”) and was terminated on
24 August 2021 by shareholders of the Company.
The shareholders of the Company adopted another
share option scheme on 24 August 2021 (the “2021
Scheme”). The termination of 2021 Scheme and
the adoption of a new share option scheme were
approved by the Shareholders (the “New Scheme”) on
30 August 2023. The key terms of the Old Scheme are
summarized as below:

() (@ The OIld Scheme is a share incentive
scheme which is established to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions which
the eligible participants have made or will
make to the Group or invested entity (as
defined in the Old Scheme).

(b) The OIld Scheme will provide the eligible
participants with an opportunity to have a
personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivating the eligible participants to
utilise their performance and efficiency for
the benefit of the Group or invested entity;
and attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining an ongoing relationship with the
eligible participants whose contributions are
or will be beneficial to the long term growth
of the Group or invested entity.

(i) The Board may at its discretion grant options to:

(@) any director (whether executive, non-executive
or independent non-executive director),
employee (whether full time or part time
employee), consultant, customer, supplier,
agent, partner, joint venture partner or advisers
of or contractor to the Group or invested entity;
and

78 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

BREER ——% N\ A
_+mahmwéﬁgbﬁam:
S —FNAZTHBEARQRRK
R e ARARIBRER T _—F
NAZ+OERAK S —ERERT S
((Z2=—F8)) -R=ZT==F
NA=ZTHEERFEBBRIE-T
T FEHEI R IR B AR AT &I ([ %7
FTED EFtElcsFHABERT:

(i) (@ EFET—HRDER
itdl RYZBMERER
BREFEERGEHK
SEXBREEREFLE
BHEERZ2EAL (R
EftgER) -

by EBEFESHmeERS2HE
ATRERAARIEEE
AR E - FELAS
BEER2E AT RE
Fr& - ?Eﬂ'lf’lfxﬁl?ﬁﬁﬁ
AEEBENKEER I
H%%&%WIMEI\@
AR EEERA MR K
BEMNRAREERKIZE
ERRERERNEGER
SEHATHERANE
HBEIR o

(i) EFSUMERHBRET

@ AEBEHIKEERNE
MES T FARITH
%IéEiﬂﬁ%%) (==
(R ERRB) - FAA
8 -BF -#iEm- K
B.AEENH aZED
ERH - BRmem:
&



(b) any discretionary trust whose discretionary
objects include any director (whether
executive, non-executive or independent
non-executive director), employee (whether
full time or part time employee), consultant,
customer, supplier, agent, partner, joint
venture partner or adviser of or contractor
to the Group or invested entity.

(iii) The total number of shares that may be issued

(iv)

by the Company if all options granted under the
Old Scheme have been exercised was 2,000,000,
which represented approximately 0.1% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 30
June 2024.

The overall limit on the number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Old Scheme and any other share option
schemes for the time being of the Company shall
not, in aggregate, exceed such number of Shares
equaling to 30% of the Shares in issue from time
to time. No option may be granted under the Old
Scheme or any other share option scheme of the
Company if it will result in the above-mentioned
30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Old Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the Old Scheme by the
Shareholders (the “Old Scheme Limit”), unless
Shareholders’ approval has been obtained.
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Old Scheme or any other share option
scheme of the Company will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the Old Scheme Limit.
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(vi)

Unless approved by Shareholders in
a general meeting, no option may be
granted to any eligible participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted
or to be granted to such eligible participant
(including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as
at the date of such new grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or its subsidiaries or any of their
respective associates under the Old Scheme
must be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is a grantee of the relevant
options).
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(0 Where any grant of options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company or
any of their respective associates would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the Shares in issue, and

based
on the closing price of the Shares at

(2) having an aggregate value,

the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000.

then such further grant must be subject to
the approval by Shareholders at a general
meeting taken on a poll.

(vii) The period within which the options must be

exercised will be specified by the Company at
the time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10
years from the relevant date of grant.

(viii) At the time of grant of the options, the Company

(ix)

may specify any minimum period(s) for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.
The Old Scheme does not contain any such
minimum period.

At the time of the grant of the options, the
Company may specify any performance target(s)
which must be achieved before the options can
be exercised. The Old Scheme does not contain
any performance targets.
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(x)

(xi)

A non-refundable remittance of HK$10 by way
of consideration for the grant of an option is
refunded to be paid by each grantee upon
acceptance of the opinion.

Subject to adjustments made in a situation
contemplated under the Old Scheme, the
subscription price in respect of any option shall
be at the discretion of the Board, provided that it
shall not be less than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of a share as shown in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant (which must be a
business day) in respect of such option;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as shown in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the
relevant date of grant in respect of such
option; and

(c) the nominal value of a share.

The Old Scheme was terminated on 24 August
2021 (the “Termination Date”), and no further
options has been granted under the Old Scheme
since the Termination Date.
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(xii) Details of movements of the options granted xii) BEEFERNAFEZER
under the Old Scheme during the Year are as BESHFBOTN:
follows:
Number
Number Nurber Number  of options Nurmber
of options of options ~ of options lapsed/  of options
Exercise Closing price Priceat outstanding granted  exercised  cancelled  outstanding
Date of price per  Exercise hefore date ~ exercise date s at 1 April during during during asat 31
Name grant Share period of grant  of options 2023 the Year the Year the Year  March 2024
. “RopE
RERE RERE BA-B  WNARE  WAFE  RAEE ZASt-B
B RHBA k8 HAGE 55 i RU/BE WAGE
4 RiAH fRER TR ZE# 2Bk BREHE BRE®E BRERE BEEHE BREEHE
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS) (1000) (000) ('000) (000) (1000)
(E7) (E7) (E7) (F) () () () ()
{il Directors/Chief Executives
ESRRAMTNAR
Mr. Zhao Kai 11/08/2014 0.419 01/08/2015- 0420 - - - - - -
BEl%L 10082024
11/08/2014 0.41901/08/2017- 0.420 - - - - - -
10/08/2024
20/0412021 1,69 20/04/2021- 149 - - - - - -
19/04/2022
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia ~ 27/1012016 0.70 01/07/2017- 0.69 - - - - - -
A0 26102026
271012016 0.70 01/0712018- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/1012026
271012016 0.70 01/0712019- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/1012026
20/04/2021 1.69 20042021~ 149 - - - - - -
19/04/2022
Mr, Chan Raymond 271012016 0.70 01/072017- 0.69 - - - - - -
RRIEE 26102026
271012016 0.70 01/07/2018- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/10/2026
271012016 0.70 01/07/2019- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/10/2026
20/04/2021 1.69 20042021~ 149 - - - - - -
19/04/2022
Mr. Yam Chung Shing 271012016 0.70 01/0712017- 0.69 - - - - - -
fEEH%E 260102026
271012016 0.70 01/0712018- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/1012026
271012016 0.70 01/07/2019- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/10/2026
(i) Other Eligible Participants
EfbRERA A%
Emgloyees 11/08/2014 0.41901/08/2015- 0.420 - - - - - -
R 10/08/2024
11/08/2014 0419 01/08/2017- 0420 - - - - - -
10/08/2024
271012016 0.70 01/07/2017- 0.69 - 180 - - - 180
26/10/2026
271012016 0.70 01/07/2018- 0.69 = 380 = = = 380
26/10/2026
271012016 0.70 01072019~ 0.69 - 1,440 - - - 1,440
26/1012026
20/04/2021 1.69 20042021~ 149 - - - - - -
19/04/2022
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Notes:

On 11 August 2014, a total of 18,000,000 share
options (the “2014 Share Options”) were granted
to certain qualified participants of the Group
(including an executive director of the Company)
under the Old Scheme. The total estimated fair
value at the measurement date of the 2014 Share
Options was approximately from HK$3,168,000
to HK$3,492,000. The closing price of the Shares
immediately before the date of grant was HK$0.42
per share.

On 27 October 2016, the Company granted a
total of 24,700,000 share options (the “2016
Share Options”) to certain qualified participants
of the Group (including executive directors of
the Company) under the Old Scheme. The total
estimated fair value at the measurement date of
the 2016 Share Options was approximately from
HK$5,903,000 to HK$6,694,000. The closing price
of the Shares immediately before the date of grant
was HK$0.69 per share.

On 20 April 2021, the Company granted a total
of 15,000,000 share options (the “2021 Share
Options”) to certain qualified participants of
the Group (including executive directors of the
Company) under the Old Scheme. The total
estimated fair value at the measurement date of
the 2021 Share Options was approximately from
HK$3,764,000 to HK$3,780,000. The closing price
of the Shares immediately before the date of grant
was HK$1.49 per share.

Save as disclosed above, no share options had been
further granted up to the Termination Date of the
Old Scheme.

The estimate of the fair value of the 2014 Share
Options, 2016 Share Options and 2021 Share
Options granted were measured based on the
Trinomial Model, after taking into account the
terms and conditions under the Old Scheme upon
which the share options were granted.
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A professional actuarial firm has been engaged
in the year of 2014/15, 2016/17 and 2021/22 to
perform a valuation of the share options granted
under the Old Scheme.

According to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 2 (“HKFRS2”), the fair value of the share
option on the date grant should be amortised in
profit or loss as expenses over the period from
the date of grant until they are exercisable by the
grantee. The expenses required to be reported
for share options granted from 1 April 2014 to 31
March 2024 under the Old Scheme are estimated
as follows:
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Financial Year
HREE
2014/15  2015/16  2016/17 201718 2018/19  2019/20  2020/21  2021/22  2022/23  2023/24
(Actual)  (Actual)  (Actua)  (Actual) (Actual) (Actua) (Actual) (Actual) (Actual) (Actual) Total

01415 2015116 201617  2017/18 2018719 2019/20 202021 2021/22 200/23  2023/24
(RR) (RR) (&R (&R (RR) (RR) (&R (&R (‘R (RR) &5

PAL expenses BEEXH
(HK$'000) (T#1) 1,267 1020 2561 2908 1,186 230 - 3768 - - 12,940
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Employee share option expenses charged to the \\ RieERRPNKRZESR
consolidated profit or loss are determined with RIREERDIREATNRE &
the trinomial model valuation model based on TZZEIE_W%EEQ ®:

the following assumptions:

(1) The share options were granted on 11 =) RZT—mFN\A+—H
August 2014: Rz B
Date of valuation 11 August 2014 (GRERER:E —E-mEF
ANA+—H
Date of grant 11 August 2014 R B —E—-mEF
ANA+—H
Option value HK$0.176- RBREEBE 01768 T
HK$0.194 0.194% 7T
Market price at date of grant HK$0.405 REHBEZ 0.4057 7T
Mm% EE
Exercisable price HK$0.419 1TEE 0.4197% 7T
Risk-free interest rate 1.97% = A R 1.97%
Life of options 10 years RBIER K T
5
Expected Volatility (120 52.84% TR H R b8 52.84%
months) (120
@A)
Expected Dividend yield 2.47% AR 2.47%
BB
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(2)

The share options were granted on 27
October 2016:

Date of valuation 27 October 2016
Date of grant 27 October 2016
Option value HK$0.239-

HK$0.271
Market price at date of grant HK$0.70
Exercisable price HK$0.70
Risk-free interest rate 1.00%
Life of options 10 years
Expected Volatility (120 51.27%

months)

Expected Dividend yield 5.00%
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(3) The share options were granted on 20 April (=) RZE_—FWA=-T+H
2021: Bz e
Date of valuation 20 April 2021 ERENERG T —fF
mA=tH
Date of grant 20 April 2021 ®HBEH —T_—-F
mA=tH
Option value HK$0.2509- RREEE 0.2509% T
HK$0.2520 0.25207% 7T
Market price at date of grant HK$1.69 RELRZ 1.697% 7T
miGEE
Exercisable price HK$1.69 TEE 1.69% 7T
Risk-free interest rate 0.05% LB R =& 0.05%
Life of options 1 year BRI EAR R —f
FH
Expected Volatility (120 44.58% TR 18 44.58%
months) (120
fEA)
Expected Dividend yield 5.00% HEHER 5.00%
@S
Note: The vesting of the share options is subject to Mier: REBREDURNASE
the performance of the Group. Eld 31
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There are several relevant measures that may
be considered to assess the financial impact
of the share option schemes, including the
expense of share-based transactions under
generally accepted financial reporting standards
(e.g., HKFRS2). The expense of the share-based
transactions is attributed over the period from
the original transaction date (i.e., grant date) to
the date when the recipient’s entitlement to the
payment has been fully realized (i.e., vested).

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility, adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Change in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

The result of the trinomial model can be
materially affected by changes in these
assumptions so an option’s actual value may
differ from the estimated fair value of the options
due to limitations of the trinomial model.

In assessing the value of the share options
granted during the Year and the expense
of share-based transactions under HKFRS2
requirement, the trinomial option pricing model
has been used. The trinomial model is one of
the generally most accepted methods used to
calculate the value of options and expense of
share-based transactions.

The parameters of the trinomial model include
the risk free rate, dividend yield, exit rate and
trigger price multiple. The risk free rate has
made reference to the yield of exchange fund
notes as at the grant date. The dividend yield
makes reference to the dividend history and it is
assumed that the grantee will exercise the option
in accordance with their sub-optimal exercise

policy.
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The 2021 Scheme z-
No share option has been granted under the 2021
Scheme since its adoption on 24 August 2021 and up

to its termination date on 30 August 2023. The key
terms of the 2021 Scheme are summarized as below:

(i) (@ The 2021 Scheme is a share incentive
scheme which is established to recognize
and acknowledge the contributions which
the eligible participants have made or will
make to the Group or invested entity (as
defined in 2021 Scheme).

(b) The 2021 Scheme will provide the eligible
participants with an opportunity to have a
personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivating the eligible participants to
utilise their performance and efficiency for
the benefit of the Group or invested entity;
and attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining an ongoing relationship with the
eligible participants whose contributions are
or will be beneficial to the long term growth
of the Group or invested entity.

(i) The Board may at its discretion grant options to:

(@ any director (whether executive, non-
executive or independent non-executive
director), employee (whether full time or
part time employee), consultant, customer,
supplier, agent, partner, joint venture
partner or advisers of or contractor to the
Group or invested entity; and
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(iii)

(iv)

(b) any discretionary trust whose discretionary
objects include any director (whether
executive, non-executive or independent
non-executive director), employee (whether
full time or part time employee), consultant,
customer, supplier, agent, partner, joint
venture partner or adviser of or contractor
to the Group or invested entity.

The overall limit on the number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2021 Scheme and any other share option
schemes for the time being of the Company shall
not, in aggregate, exceed such number of Shares
equaling to 30% of the Shares in issue from time
to time. No option may be granted under the
2021 Scheme or any other share option scheme
of the Company if it will result in the above-
mentioned 30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the 2021 Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the 2021 Scheme by the
Shareholders (the “2021 Scheme Limit”), unless
Shareholders’ approval has been obtained.
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the 2021 Scheme or any other share option
scheme of the Company will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the 2021 Scheme
Limit.
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(v)

(a)

Unless approved by Shareholders in
a general meeting, no option may be
granted to any eligible participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted
or to be granted to such eligible participant
(including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as

at the date of such new grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company or its subsidiaries or any
of their respective associates under the
2021 Scheme must be subject to the prior
approval of the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is a grantee of the
relevant options).

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the Shares in issue, and

(2) having an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000.
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

then such further grant must be subject to
the approval by Shareholders at a general
meeting taken on a poll.

The period within which the options must be
exercised will be specified by the Company at
the time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10
years from the relevant date of grant.

At the time of grant of the options, the Company
may specify any minimum period(s) for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.
The 2021 Scheme does not contain any such
minimum period.

At the time of the grant of the options, the
Company may specify any performance target(s)
which must be achieved before the options can
be exercised. The 2021 Scheme does not contain
any performance targets.

A non-refundable remittance of HK$10 by way
of consideration for the grant of an option is
refunded to be paid by each grantee upon
acceptance of the opinion.

Subject to adjustments made in a situation
contemplated under the 2021 Scheme, the
subscription price in respect of any option shall
be at the discretion of the Board, provided that it
shall not be less than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of a share as shown in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant (which must be a
business day) in respect of such option;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as shown in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the
relevant date of grant in respect of such
option; and

(¢) the nominal value of a share.
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(xi) Since the adoption date of the 2021 Scheme and
up to the termination date of the 2021 Scheme,
no share options had been granted, exercised,
vested, outstanding, lapsed or canceled under
the 2021 Scheme. As at the termination date
of the 2021 Scheme, no share options was
outstanding under the 2021 Scheme.

(xii) The 2021 Scheme was terminated on 30 August
2023 and no further share options has been
granted under the 2021 Scheme since the
aforesaid termination date.

(xiii) The number of options available for grant under
the 2021 Scheme at the beginning and the end
of the Year were 201,613,920 Shares and nil
respectively.

The New Scheme

The 2021 Scheme was adopted on 24 August 2021
and was terminated on 30 August 2023. New Share
Option Scheme of the Company was approved by
the Shareholders of the Company and adopted on 30
August 2023 (the “New Scheme”) and is valid for 10
years. No share option has been granted, exercised
vested, cancelled or lapsed under the New Scheme
during the Year. No Options has been granted since
the adoption of the New Scheme, accordingly, there
was no outstanding Options as at 31 March 2024.
Unless otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in
this section shall have the same meanings as those
defined in the circular of the Company dated 31 July
2023 (the “Circular”). The key terms of the New
Scheme are summarized as below:

(i) The New Scheme is to motivate the Eligible
Participants to optimise their performance and
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and
attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing
business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.
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(iii)

(iv)

The Board may at its discretion grant Options to
any (a) Employee Participant; (b) Related Entity
Participant; and (c) Service Provider.

Any grant of Options to any Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any their respective associates must
be approved by all of the independent non-
executive Directors excluding, for all purposes,
any independent non-executive Director who is a
proposed Grantee.

Where any grant of Options to an independent
non-executive Director or a substantial
Shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the total
number of the Shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all options (including the Options)
an awards granted to such person under the
New Scheme and all other share schemes in any
12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the Shares in issue, such grant of Options
must be approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting in the manner set out in Rule 17.04(4) of
the Listing Rules. The Grantee, his associates and
all core connected persons of the Company must
abstain from voting in favour at such general
meeting. The Company must send a circular to its
shareholders containing the information required
under the Listing Rules.

The maximum number of Shares which may
be issued in respect of all options and awards
to be granted under the New Scheme and any
in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”),
i.e. 202,145,920 Shares, representing 10% of the
total issued shares of the Company as at the date

other share schemes shall not,

of this annual report.
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(vi)

(vii)

The maximum number of Shares which may be
issued in respect of all options and awards to be
granted under the New Scheme and any other share
schemes to Service Providers must not, in aggregate
exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date (the “Service Provider Sub-limit”), i.e.
20,214,592 Shares, representing 1% of the total issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this annual
report.

The Board may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant Options beyond the
Scheme Mandate Limit provided that the Options in
excess of the Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only
to the Eligible Participants specified by the Company
before such approval is sought and the Company must
issue a circular to the Shareholders containing such
relevant information from time to time required by the
Listing Rules in relation to any such proposed grant to
such Eligible Participants.

(viii) The Company may seek approval by the Shareholders

96

in general meeting for refreshing the Scheme Mandate
Limit and the Service Provider Sub-limit after three
(3) years from the date of the first Shareholders’
approval for such limits or for the last refreshment (as
the case may be). Any refreshment within any three-
year period must be approved by the Shareholders,
with any controlling shareholders and their associates
(or if there is no controlling shareholder, Directors
(excluding independent non-executive Directors)
and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates) abstaining from voting in favour
of the relevant resolution at the general meeting. The
total number of Shares which may be issued in respect
of all options and awards to be granted under all of
the share scheme(s) under the scheme mandate as
refreshed must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue
as at the date of approval of the refreshed scheme
mandate.

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

1B 15 37 B IR M BT &) R A AT H b AR
NETEIMRBRRHER THFME
BERELRERMAIEZETNRS
BROBE &5t TEBBERM
HEEZEITRHEENI% (RS
REEIEREE] E20,214,592 /%
GARRBEAFTRABPEHITR
7B EHI% °

ExgURNBRRAERTERK
Rt REBAFERERE
MR - R RAARRES K
BEMBERANGER2BEERT
BT SR ER BRI B E - B
RABRBRREBEH—DEEK - EF
HELTRATHRAEFRER
AZERERSEERDLBERE
M AEREE L

AARIARERRARE LSRR
o - FEE IR R AL A PR B 3k
XE—REHF@EBERAME) 2B R
ZO)FBREFEETEIRE LR
BREEDPE LR -HEEM=F
NHEREFHRLAESHRENL
AR IR AR B R ELE B A (3K
MEIERBER  ARAEHNES (T
BRBYIERTES) RITHAE
FEZENBEBA)ERRERE L
WMERZEREERE - BELK
BHETEIRE - BAFTAERGDE IR
THRT BB E R BB MAl gE 21T
HRNDBETSHBBLCETE
KEMEZBABEEITRMMI0% °



(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

The maximum number of Shares issued or to be
issued in respect of all options and awards granted to
a Grantee at any one time or in aggregate under the
New Scheme and all other share schemes (excluding
any options and awards lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the respective share schemes) in any 12-
month period up to and including the date of such
relevant grant should not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company (the “Individual Limit”).
Where any grant of Options to a Grantee may result
in exceeding the Individual Limit, the Company shall
not grant such Options unless it is separately approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting, with such
Grantee and his close associates (or associates if
the Grantee is a connected person) abstaining from
voting.

The period within which the Options must be
exercised will be specified by the Company at the
time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10 years
from the relevant date of grant.

At the time of grant of the Options, the Company may
specify any minimum period(s) for which an Option
must be held before it can be exercised. The New
Scheme does not contain any such minimum period.

At the time of the grant of the Options, the Company
may specify any performance target(s) which must
be achieved before the Options can be exercised.
The New Scheme does not contain any performance
targets.

(xiii) A non-refundable remittance of HK$1 by way of

consideration for the grant of an Option is refunded
to be paid by each Grantee upon acceptance of the
Option.

(xiv) Subject to adjustments made in a situation

contemplated under the New Scheme, the
subscription price in respect of any Option shall be at
the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall not
be less than the highest of:
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(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)
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(@) the closing price of a share as shown in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant (which must be a business day) in
respect of such option;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the shares as
shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the relevant date of grant in respect of
such option; and

(¢) the nominal value of a share.

(xv) The New Scheme shall remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on the date of the adoption of
the New Scheme by reduction of the Company period
on 30 August 2023. Accordingly, the remaining life of
the New Scheme is approximately 9 years.

(xvi) The vesting period granted under the New Scheme
shall be no less than 12 months.

For more details,
Circular.

please refer to Appendix Ill to the

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”) was
approved by the shareholders of the Company and adopted
on 30 August 2023 and is valid for 10 years. Accordingly,
the remaining life of the Share Award Plan is approximately
9 years. No awards had been granted, vested, cancelled
or lapsed under the Share Award Plan during the Year. No
awards had been granted since the adoption of the Share
Award Plan, accordingly, there was no unvested awards as
at 31 March 2024. Unless otherwise specified, capitalised
terms used in this section shall have the same meanings as
those defined in the Circular. The key terms of the Share
Award Plan have been summarized as below:

(i)  The purpose and objective of the Share Award Plan is:
(a) to recognise and reward the contribution of certain
Eligible Participants to the growth and development of
the Group and to provide incentives in order to retain
them for continual operation and development of the
Group; and (b) to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.
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(iii)

(iv)

The Board may at its discretion grant an Award to any
(i) Employee Participant; (ii) Related Entity Participant;
and (iii) Service Provider.

The maximum number of Shares which may be
issued in respect of all options and awards to be
granted under the Share Award Plan and any other
share schemes shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date, i.e.
202,145,920 Shares, representing 10% of the total
issued shares of the Company as at the date of this
annual report.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
in respect of all options and awards to be granted
under the Share Award Plan and any other share
schemes to Service Providers must not, in aggregate
exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date, i.e. 20,214,592 Shares, representing
1% of the total issued shares of the Company as at the
date of this annual report.

The maximum number of Shares issued or to be issued
in respect of all options and awards granted to a
Selected Participant at any one time or in aggregate
under the Share Award Plan and all other share
schemes (excluding any options and awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the respective share
schemes) in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such relevant grant should not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company. Where
any Award to a Selected Participant may result in
exceeding the Individual Limit, the Company shall not
grant such Awards unless it is separately approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting, with such
Selected Participant and his close associates (or
associates if the Selected Participant is a connected
person) abstaining from voting.
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(vi)

(vii)

Where any Award to a Director (other than an
independent non-executive Director) or chief
executive of the Company, or any of his associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all awards granted to such person under
the Share Award Plan and all other share award plans
(excluding any awards lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the respective share award plans) in any 12-
month period up to and including the date of such
relevant grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the issued share capital of the Company, such
further Award must be approved by the Shareholders
in general meeting, with such Selected Participant,
his associates and all core connected persons of the
Company abstaining from voting in favour at such
general meeting.

Where any Award to an independent non-executive
Director or substantial shareholder of the Company, or
any of his associates would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued in respect of all options and awards
granted to such person under the Share Award Plan
and all other share schemes (excluding any options
or awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
respective share schemes) in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant, representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the issued share capital of
the Company, such Award must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting, with such Selected
Participant, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company abstaining from voting in
favour at such general meeting.

(viii) The vesting period of Award granted under Share

Award Plan shall be not less than 12 months. There
is no amount payable on acceptance of the Award
and no purchase price is payable by the Eligible
Participants upon vesting of the Awards.

For more details, please refer to Appendix IV to the

Circular.
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According to the Scheme Mandate Limit, the maximum
total number of new Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options and awards to be granted under
the Share Award Plan together with the New Scheme
(collectively the “Share Schemes”), and other share
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date. Accordingly, the number of Options and/
or Awards available for grant under the Scheme Mandate
Limit of the Share Schemes at the beginning and the end
of the Year were nil and 202,145,920 Shares in aggregate,
respectively.

In addition, the Service Provider Sublimit in respect of the
total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options and awards to be granted under the Share
Schemes, and other share schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 1% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the aforesaid adoption date. Accordingly, the
number of Options and/or Awards available for grant under
the Service Provider Sublimit at the beginning and the end
of the Year were nil and 20,214,592 Shares in aggregate,
respectively.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
options and awards granted under all schemes of the
Company during the Year divided by the weighted average
number of Shares in issue (i.e. 2,026,763,816) is nil.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the shares in the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
pages 283 to 284 of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Bye-laws provides that the Directors shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
any actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
as a result of any act or failure to act in carrying out their
functions.

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance cover in respect of legal action against the
Directors during the Year.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATES COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associate or joint ventures during
the year ended 31 March 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD BY THE GROUP
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not hold any
significant investment.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND GUARANTEES

As at 31 March 2024, a banking facility of the Group is
secured by the property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$15,630,000 (as at 31
March 2023: HK$nil).

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Company
and the Group’s subsidiaries provide cross guarantees for
certain banking facilities and borrowings. The maximum
liability of the Company at the end of the reporting
period under the guarantees is the amount of the facilities
drawn down by the subsidiaries that are covered by
the guarantees, being HK$529,692,000 (as at 31 March
2023: $652,372,000). We do not consider it is probable
that a claim will be made against the Company under
the guarantee arrangement to financial institutions in
connection with the banking facilities granted to its
subsidiaries.
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SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are
set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2024 are set out in Notes 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the Year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia

Mr. Zhao Kai

Mr. Chan Raymond

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing

Mr. Yam Chung Shing

Dr. Lau Kin Wah

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing, Mr. Yam Chung Shing and Dr. Lau Kin
Wah entered into an appointment letter with the Company
for a term of one year with effect from 1 December 2023
subject to extension by mutual agreement and retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company as and when required under the bye-laws
of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

In accordance with Bye-laws 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws
and paragraph B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Mr. Ho
Cheuk Fai, Mr. Zhao Kai and Dr. Lau Kin Wah will retire
from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. All such Directors, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.
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Furthermore, pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws,
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Mr. Lam
Yin Shing, Donald was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director by the Board with effect from 1 July
2024 to fill a casual vacancy on the Board. In accordance
with Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Lam Yin Shing,
Donald shall retire from office at the Annual General
Meeting and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract or letter
of appointment, as applicable, with the Company which
is not terminable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to which any of the Group companies was
a party and in which a Director was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year
or at any time.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, for the
year ended 31 March 2024, there were no such rights
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares
or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, nor were any such rights exercised by them. There
was no arrangement to which the Company and any of
its subsidiaries is a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors, or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any other
corporation.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group did not enter into any
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
that are not exempted from annual reporting requirement
under the Listing Rules. The related party transactions set
out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements are
fully exempted connected transactions under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SHARES

As at 31 March 2024

The interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the shares and the
underlying shares of the Company and any associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO; or (b) otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (c) as otherwise notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(A) Interests in the Company

Report of the Directors
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Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

BREENIETZEBREA

Personal Family Corporate/ Total ~ Shareholding
Name of shareholders interests interests  Other interests interests percentage
EEERY X
RRAR BAES FRER g1 § AEE  BRAW
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai 8L E 278,712,000 110,350,000 1,077,608,000 1,466,670,000 72.56%
(Ngte 1) (que 1) (Nq\te 2)
(Ftzr—) (Brzr-) (Bt3E=)
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia X% /)@ 6,400,000 - - 6,400,000 0.32%
(Ngte 3)
(&£ =)
Mr. Zhao Kai ik ik 11,082,000 - - 11,082,000 0.55%
(Np\te 4)
(Bt m)
Mr. Chan Raymond RBE4 4,452,000 - - 4,452,000 0.22%
(Note 5)
(3t E)
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Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

SREEIBTZEEREA

Personal Family Corporate/ Total ~ Shareholding
Name of shareholders interests interests  Other interests interests percentage
EEEREY ¥
LEER: ! BARR FEER At s AitEE  KRESW
Mr. Yam Chung Shing ~ HEEH T A 500,000 - - 500,000 0.02%
(Npte 0)
(B E )
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing iy bk 42,000 - - 42,000 0.00%
(Note 7)
(R 5 £)
Ms. Ho Po Chu CEY 3 110,350,000 538,712,000 817,608,000 1,466,670,000 72.56%
(Note 8) (the 8) (No\te 2)
GEIY GEIY (Ma=)
Notes: B 5 -

1.

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai’s personal interest consisted of
278,712,000 Shares. He is deemed to be interested in
110,350,000 Shares held by his spouse, Ms. Ho Po Chu,
as beneficial owner.

The 1,077,608,000 Shares comprised (i) 487,608,000
Shares held by New Sense Enterprises Limited (“New
Sense”); and (ii) 330,000,000 Shares held by Castfast
Properties Development Co., Limited (“Castfast
Properties”), 87% of the issued share capital of which
is beneficially owned by Honford Investments Limited
(“Honford Investments”), where New Sense and Honford
Investments are each wholly-owned by TMF (B.V.l.) Ltd.
(“TMF”) as trustee for a discretionary trust, which is a
family trust with Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai as settlor (“The Ho
Family Trust”), and (iii) 260,000,000 Shares held by
The Wedding City Co., Limited (“The Wedding City”),
90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho
Po Chu, respectively. Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai is deemed to
be interested in the 817,608,000 Shares in (i) and (ii)
as founder of The Ho Family Trust and in 260,000,000
Shares in (iii) through The Wedding City. Ms. Ho Po Chu
is the beneficiary of The Ho Family Trust and is thus
deemed to be interested in the 817,608,000 Shares held
under The Ho Family Trust. Therefore, the interests of
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu in the 817,608,000
Shares duplicate with each other.
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3. The personal interests of Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
comprised 6,400,000 Shares.

4. The personal interests of Mr. Zhao Kai comprised
11,082,000 Shares.

5. The personal interests of Mr. Chan Raymond comprised
4,452,000 Shares.

6. The personal interests of Mr.
comprised 500,000 Shares.

Yam Chung Shing

7. The personal interests of Mr. Fong Hoi Shing comprised
42,000 Shares.

8.  The personal interests of Ms. Ho Po Chu comprised
110,350,000 Shares. Ms. Ho Po Chu is also deemed
to be interested in (a) 278,712,000 Shares held and
260,000,000 Shares deemed to be held by her spouse,
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, and (b) 817,608,000 Shares referred to
in Note 2 above.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company or their respective associates
had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) (a) as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (b)
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (c)
pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2024, none of Directors were interested
in any business apart from the Company’s business which
competed or was likely to complete, either directly or
indirectly with the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

The power to make material business decisions for the
Group is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board
considers that there may be a conflict of interest between
the Group and any Director, such Director will be required
to abstain from voting. Therefore, the Board is capable of
carrying on the Group’s business independently of, and at
arm’s length, from the business of Directors.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2024

The interests or short positions of the persons (other than a
Director or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly or
indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances of general meetings, or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO are as follows:

Number of ordinar

FERR

R-ZE-_NF=A=+—H
BIBEFLHFRPEKRMEXVEE2RES
DHEBTE  UWFALT(FBEEBEEERAR
A2 EEITBAE)RARE KD KE
RPN ERIARE  HEERM
BEHATMBERRATEES% A A
i TERERERSHMAERBRIT
REFKEARBARGBIZ(GEFIEN)
FIEFEZECMZERR AR

shares of HK$0.1 each

BEREEIBIZ2ERRHE

Corporate/ Shareholding
Name of Shareholders Personal interests Other interests percentage
EEERY
BRREM 18 A & i HittfE KREDL
New Sense 487,608,000 - 24.12%
(Note 1) (Hf &£ —)
Castfast Properties 3 #% /5 b 2 330,000,000 - 16.33%
(Note 2) (Fi§ &£ =)
The Wedding City %& £ 3, 260,000,000 = 12.86%
(Note 3) (Hf 5 =)
Honford Investments 330,00Q<OOO 16.33%
(Note 2) (P &£ =)
TMF 817,608,000 40.45%
(Note 4) (M 7 )
Note: Bt 3 -
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The entire issued share capital of New Sense was owned by
TMF as trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

87% of the issued share capital of Castfast Properties is
beneficially owned by Honford Investments. The entire issued
share capital of Honford Investments was owned by TMF as
trustee for a discretionary trust, The Ho Family Trust. The
interests of Honford Investments duplicate with those of the
Castfast Properties.

260,000,000 Shares were beneficially held by The Wedding
City. 90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu,
respectively. The interests of The Wedding City therefore
duplicate with those of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai referred to in Note
2 to the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Shares — (A) Interests in the Company” above.
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& ¥ X The Ho Family Trust$$ 5 °

T EERHMEBEBEITRAZ87%IIA
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4. TMF is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by New
Sense, Castfast Properties and Honford Investments by virtue of
acting as the trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, no
person, other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares”
above, had an interest or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
of general meetings, or that was required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO.

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Change of information of the Directors, which is required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules are set out below:

Name of Director

EEas

Detail of Change
BEFR

Report of the Directors
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M- TMF# 4R & AThe Ho Family TrustZz %
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Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai
ERCY -5

Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
fR & gk /N

annual salary increased from HK$4,814,400 to HK$4,838,400
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2023, which is
determined by the Board with reference to his experience, performance
and duties as well as the prevailing market conditions.

FH 4,814,400 ST INE 4,838,400 T (T RIEWEIELL) -
“=FEA-HAER EFMBEESE2EHETHERR £
RERMMBBERMEE -

Et=s
B &

annual salary increased from HK$956,496 to HK$980,496 (excluding
discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2023, which is determined
by the Board with reference to his experience, performance and duties
as well as the prevailing market conditions. She has been appointed as
a member of the remuneration committee of the Company with effect
from 20 November 2023.

FHH956,496/8 LI N1 £ 980,496 7L (TEIFEMEEA) BT =

FEA-BAER EFMBESTE2EETHERE £ BEALKE
FIMSEAMEE R-FE_=F+—A-1+1H BRZE/KLLQF

TMNEEEKE -
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Name of Director

EEas

Detail of Change
BEFR

Mr. Zhao Kai
el A

Mr. Chan Raymond
RBEX kL

Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming
fa] &2 B 5 4

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing
TRERE

Mr. Ho Kai Man
AR S e &

annual salary increased from HK$1,307,892 to HK$1,312,308
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2023, which is
determined by the Board with reference to his experience, performance
and duties as well as the prevailing market conditions.

FH 1,307,892 LI ME312,308 BT (T RENEREL) B=F
TSFEA-HRAR EVMBEEFE2THTERR &R BB
NERMSBERAMETE

annual salary increased from HK$1,098,000 to HK$1,122,000
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2023, which is
determined by the Board with reference to his experience, performance
and duties as well as the prevailing market conditions.
F%ri1,098,00078 TN E1,122,0008 T (T BERELL) B -F
TEFEA-HAR EFMEESFE2ZHTHERR & BE
KERMMSBRAMEE -

He has resigned as a non-executive Director, the Deputy Chairman and
the member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company with effect from 20
November 2023 due to retirement reason.

RERREA  REBEARRZERTES  BITENERZEGKE -
FNZEeXBRRERAZEENERG BT -_=F+—A=1H
AR AR e

He has been appointed as a member of the nomination committee of
the Company with effect from 20 November 2023.

R-FE_=ZF+—-A-1+H BEZE/LAFARBZZEEKE -

He has resigned as a non-executive Director of the Company with
effect from 28 March 2024 due to personal development.

AEAZR REHTARRFATESFRE B-_FT_HNF=A
“tTABRER-
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does
not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.21
of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended
31 March 2024 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers
and customers are as follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 55%
Five largest suppliers combined 69%
Sales
The largest customer 40%
Five largest customers combined 92%

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any
shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had a beneficial interest in the Group’s major suppliers or
customers noted above.

DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
Assuming that the final dividend is approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the AGM, for the purposes
of ascertaining the entitlement to the final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 5 September 2024 to Friday, 6 September 2024
(both dates inclusive) during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the
final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 4 September
2024. It is expected that the final dividend will be payable
and issued to those entitled on or around Tuesday, 24
September 2024.

Report of the Directors

EEEHE
RS LR A3 21 2 B
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EEEHE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM to be held on 30 August 2024, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
26 August 2024 to Friday, 30 August 2024 (both dates
inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the
AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23 August 2024.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on public
information available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
sufficient public float, being 25% of the issued share
capital of the Company as required under the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as set out in the section of “Share Schemes” in this
annual report, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31

March 2024.

BRREFASEREFHEBFET

AREETZALEBR-_ZE-_MNFNA
“t+HRETZBRERBFAEERNE L
KEZEN  RXRAREH-ZTZMFN
AZ+RB(EBHHEZZT-_MFNA
“t+RHEHRA)(BEEEEMB) =
BEROHDBFPERTFE WHREZELER
RBAFRAEYRELREZER - %ﬁ
BEZZBROHBEEXHERBRIRE

ARZE-_NMFEFNA=Z+= mzﬂﬂ)
THFOR=F 2RI XEARD FE%Z
BRNBFPERDE : BEEPREFHE

ﬁ@@ﬁ:mm%ﬁﬁéﬁgfﬁéﬁ
18358 A A OD7I1712E1716F °

AWMEFERE

RAFHTNEBY  REARANER m
NHABEHRERBEARARRESTHE AR
%ﬁi%%@%%%%*%K&%tﬁ
HEAIRETARR D #ITRADEI25% °

fR 3R #8415 =R

R A F A 2 TR &t 8138 47 P st
S BEAFE-_T-_MF=ZA=1—
B NEEYW BT 78R EH 81

e
2
& ©

112 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7



AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs.
KPMG who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment.

A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

The Company has not changed its auditors in the past three
years.

On behalf of the Board

Ho Cheuk Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2024

Report of the Directors
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Independent Auditor’s Report

38 3 % B AT ¥R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrBHHIAIN - LABTIIR)

Independent Auditor’s Report To the shareholders of
Karrie International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Karrie International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 123 to 282,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2024, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2024 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

HEMNBEBRZERAERATZERRZ
BYZBERE
(RERZEZMEA L ZERLA])
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EEEEZINE RN FEI23E F2828 =
FEBZERER AR (EAR]) M HK
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=t+—HZEEHBERAREEEZA
HFEZHRABER HFABEHEEEHE
HEmMRBRAR SGEEZEHREES
BHEERER  URMERRMFE &
FEESARRMEMERER -

BEERR AEFHEAMBRRERE
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“ECNF=ZA=+—HZEATHBN
ARBEZRLEFEZHEAMBRA
RiFaBEeRE YEEBREB(RA
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZHAERE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (SHEHAEIN - LABITIIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Timing of revenue recognition

Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(w).

The Key Audit Matter
BREITER

FREETEE

ARBFASZTHIOBREBEEFZIEXZHE -
m%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%mﬁﬂ“#ﬁi’%Z%ﬁrﬁ—ﬁ
EBZEHE - UEFHER &t
*Ek%f%?/\ﬁﬂ&ﬂrﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂsﬁﬂﬂ_ﬂ

B EEITCYHELEHREHER
ZER -

U A 7 SR B R

REAE A B IRA N F24 R 1 it 2(w).2
DI E

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB NAEEZEE

The principal activities of the Group are the
manufacture and sales of metal and plastic
products and electronic products.
BEEETI2NFRENHERSNEBER - A
NEFEM-

The revenue is recognised when the goods are
delivered to the customer’s designated location
which is considered to be the point in time when
the Group transfers the control over goods to the
customers.

WAEEmZXETPHEELWE Bl E5EHK
EmZFIEEBEEPHER -

Our audit procedures to assess the timing of
revenue recognition included the following:

FRBWAER KR ZEAIEFBREUT:

e  obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design,
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal
controls in relation to revenue recognition;

o THEFE BEREBERBAERZERA
BRI 2 REF B REFRZAMIME:

implementation and operating

e inspecting key customer contracts to
identify terms and conditions relating to
goods acceptance and assessing the Group's
revenue recognition policies with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

. ﬁﬁ%@%g}fé%’w/ﬁ%%/\f?%%ﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬁfﬁ
ZER G AR 2 RIRITEAEL 2
:J:n$1l):lr EleHﬂZJ\ﬁﬁwEﬁlﬁ
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38 3 % B AT ¥R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrBHHIAIN - LABTIIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BREITER

RREESASHE)
W A BB B (42

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNMNEEZSEE

The Group’s sales contracts with customers,
which principally comprise of large-sized
international technology corporations, have a
variety of terms and conditions. Such terms may
affect the timing of the recognition of sales to
those customers. The Group evaluates the terms
of each sales contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing of revenue recognition.
BEEEEXP(TEERALBBEMERAR)FIL
ZIHEARNERB—RIRSGER RGN - %F
GFRAE e ERAUELEPETHEZR
He BEREBERERSHEAONAREBREZEH
FEREETWARRBZBERM -

We identified the timing of revenue recognition
as a key audit matter because each sales contract
may have different terms and conditions which
increases the risk of error in the recognition
of revenue and because it is one of the key
performance indicators of the Group and could
be subject to manipulation to meet targets or
expectations.
EEENSBRBRETERERIEH ZBAER
ZEEIRERESAFER ASHEHEAOIET
[R) 16 SR B Agk 4 - FRI T RT B 38 00 i A e 58 86 AR 2
2o AR AHRAR ESEHET-RBERESA
BR ARXIASBANEKBEREIYE -

116

e comparing, on a sample basis, specific
revenue transactions recorded before and
after the financial year end date with goods
delivery documents and underlying sales
invoices to determine whether the revenue
had been recognised in the appropriate
financial period; and

s MBELBEFRAMNERZARZABKAR
ZEMBHERERBMRINXF - LEE

HERAZTESEBE ZFHPATAER K
e inspecting underlying documentation

for manual journal entries relating to
revenue raised during the year which were
considered to specific risk-based criteria.

s BRENGKTRARFEZEARWABRZT
B AS D8R ZHBANX -
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B ZHAERE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (SHEHABIN - LABITIIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Valuation of inventories

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(1)(i).

The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

WMREHEES)
FEIEE

LA B BT I F W AE14R B R 20)0)
B A B -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEETNMAEEZEE

The carrying value for inventories as at 31 March
2024 was HK$512 million, which represented
21.3% of the Group’s total assets.
R-ZZE-MF=A=+—H > BEXEEFEEMHE
{8 /512,000,000 ' HERN BEXREEERE
21.3% °

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The Group maintains its
inventory levels based on customer orders and
forecast demand.
FERKAAEAZERFEcHZBEEMR
B BERERBEEFPIENBHFILEREE
BKF -

A significant proportion of the Group's products
are manufactured to meet specific customer
requirements. There is a risk that inventories may
be stated at more than their net realisable value
if a customer experiences financial difficulty or
there is a demand issue with a customer's product
that includes a component manufactured by the
Group.

EEBENATNSERmERAMEABERZEX
Ml - MREFEBMBRE  EPZEM
(s EEEENATFESREE 8
SR EFEARNBBEATERFEIEREZEA

Gy o
AR

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
inventories included the following:

BEENFERECETREFERUATSEEA:

e obtaining an understanding of and
assessing the design and implementation
of the Group’s key internal controls over
the process for assessing provisions for
inventories;

o  TEMFM EXEABENEFERERE
ZRRFZABEAIIES 2R REM®:

e assessing whether the inventory items in the
inventory ageing report were categorised
in the appropriate ageing bracket by
comparing individual items therein with
supplier invoices and other underlying
documentation on a sample basis;

o FBBEMBKRLEBERBERENMHEAMMBEREX
HEFERRBEAZLFERBEREWE
BREE 2 RRESR:

e selecting inventory items, on a sample
basis, at reporting date and comparing
their carrying value to their subsequent
selling prices as indicated in sales invoices
subsequent to the reporting date;

s MEEEBNRNBSAZFEERRE  LBHEHEM
ERHEAREERELZEE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrBHHIAIN - LABTIIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Valuation of inventories (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BREITER

RREEASHE)
FEMEGE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNMNEEZSEE

Management assesses the level of provisions for
inventories required at each reporting date after
considering inventory ageing and other relevant
factors. This assessment involves significant
management judgement.
EREGEMAFEZREEEMABEERR - »©
FERSEFEATEERBIKFE - & EY
KREAXNEEEHE -

We identified the valuation of inventories as
a key audit matter because the Group held
significant inventories at the reporting date and
because of the significant degree of management
judgement involved in evaluating the provisions
for inventories.

FEFEHEINSEREASZTE AR BX
lMﬁ%E%ﬁKin AREFEFERRE
w7 EANE IR B A -

118

e obtaining an understanding of the
Group’s inventory write-down policy and
assessing whether this policy appropriate
with reference to the Group’s current
circumstances and the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

s TR BEREZFEMRBE  UFHZF
BREBNMABEBRY EEBEZERHRR
YHARITEAEANBER:

e comparing slow-moving inventories items
with customers’ orders and assessing the
financial condition of key customers on a
sampling basis; and

s MEMNEPFIEEBHFEHEEETLR
AEFEEBEFP MBI K

e assessing the historical accuracy of
management’s process for making provisions
for inventories by examining the utilisation or
release of the provisions for inventories made
at the end of the previous financial year
during the current financial year.

e BBELEL—® +¢F%Xﬁ ﬂ@%ﬁ
ZARFREZEAKBERBR  FEBEE

E%%Zﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ°
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (SHEHABIN - LABITIIR)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'S REPORT
THEREON

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrBHHIAIN - LABTIIR)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (SHEHABIN - LABITIIR)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

38 3 % B AT ¥R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrBHHIAIN - LABTIIR)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yuen Man Ching, Derek.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8™ Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEMBARR R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7851 7R)

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

—ENF —E-=F
=A=+—H =A=+—H
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 5T Fr T+
ASSETS &5E
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - W /FE k& #& 6 693,169 670,648
Investment properties KREME 7 229,068 281,865
Intangible assets BVEE 8 3,824 3,287
Investments in associates REtERF 2’ E 10 82,455 82,810
Other financial assets HtemEE 13 19,465 13,067
Other non-current assets HMmIERBEE 12 29,353 91,842
Deferred tax assets AR IEE E 23(b) 2,581 8,951
059,915 1,152,470
Current assets REBEE
Inventories rE 14 512,256 633,168
Trade and bills receivables BSLEBRKER 12 619,157 558,114
Prepayments, deposits and AR Be kHA
other receivables JE U BR 3K 12 53,509 39,894
Amounts due from related JE U [ & A B BR 3K
companies 32(b) 3,345 2,628
Current tax recoverable ZK BA A Uy [ #5538 23(a) 5,121 5,060
Cash and bank deposits Re RIBITHER 15 149,418 159,445
1,342,806 1,398,309
Total assets EEHE 2,402,721 2,550,779
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEBMBMRR R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7851 7R)

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

—EB-mEF —T-=F
=A=+—H =RA=+—H
Note $’000 $’000
Bt 5T Fr Tt
EQUITY P &=
Capital and reserves ARFEBHEA
attributable to equity FEAL BR A K 1 48
shareholders of the Company
Share capital & 2 17 202,146 202,146
Other reserves H th & 1% 19 189,229 244,285
Retained earnings = B % A 19 601,629 490,331
Total equity A 993,004 936,762
LIABILITIES =R+
Current liabilities wEEE
Trade payables g P REMNERR 20 462,793 350,212
Accruals and other payables FE =T B A K HoAh
AR 20 307,684 481,179
Bank borrowings RITEE 21 333,833 422,372
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 3,329 6,611
Amount due to an associate FETEE 2 AR R 10 2,331 3,895
Amounts due to related FE B E AR BR 3K
companies 32(b) 3,696 3,848
Current tax payable 7N BA PR AN FR IR 23(a) 99,077 109,583
1,212,743 1,377,700
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEMBARR R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7851 7R)

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

—E-NEF —E-=F
=A=+—H =A=+—H”
Note $’000 $'000
B 5 Fr Tt
Non-current liabilities ERBEME
Bank borrowings RITEBE 21 195,859 230,000
Lease liabilities ME&RE 22 276 3,126
Provision for long service KRG < BH
payments 638 782
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIBEEE 23(b) 201 2,409
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 196,974 236,317
Total liabilities EEHEE 1,409,717 1,614,017
Total equity and liabilities ExkaEEE 2,402,721 2,550,779
Net current assets REBEEFE 130,063 20,609
Total assets less current EEHAERRBER
liabilities 1,189,978 1,173,079

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors WR-ZE-ME XA -_+HHABREEZ< )t

on 25 June 2024, R
Ho Cheuk Fai Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
i 1= 1 R & ok
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on pages 135 to 282 form part of these financial  &F135F282B 2 st AR KRR 7 —
statements. 284y o

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 £ #§ 125



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE=Z-NF=A=+—HIEFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAPEITFII7R)

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=
Note $’000 $'000
B & Frx Tt

CONTINUING OPERATIONS  HERKE X
Revenue A 24 2,915,981 3,081,697
Cost of revenue LN 25 (2,545,842) (2,744,532)
Gross profit %%IJ 370,139 337,165
Distribution and selling expenses 7 DHEKIHEESR 25 (22,556) (31,205)
General and administrative — &T‘ILB(%)EH

expenses 25 (89,271) (71,572)
Other net income HEm A F58 24 6,110 5,974
Net valuation losses on KEYEGHESE

investment properties 5 R 7 (36,050) (29,577)
Operating profit  ®&&@»® 228372 210,785
Finance income B 75 Ua A 2,704 1,504
Finance costs B 75 7K AR (42,855) (35,655)
Finance cost, net  MIBRA - F® 27 @o0,151) (34,151)
Share of (losses)/profits of FEAL Bt =2 A7)

associates (JE?TE\)/@Z’“' 10 (1,222) 15,157
Profit before taxation B B Al = F 186,999 191,791
Income tax Ffr 15 5% 28 (17,340) (9,473)
Profit for the year from HEBREEBZ

continuing operations FE % A 169,659 182,318
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS B &I K& X7
Profit for the year from ERIERERBZ

discontinued operations F & i A . 203,855
Profit for the year F Em A 169,659 386,173
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE-ZT-NF=A=+—HI-FE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7TA17R)

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
Note $/000 $°000
Bt 5 Fr Tt
Profit attributable to equity KARERIEBARE
shareholders of the Company {HAT&IEZ
arises from: A
— Continuing operations — FERERXK 169,659 182,318
— Discontinued operations — ERIERERT - 203,855
169,659 386,173
Earnings per share from AAREREEARE
continuing operations and EEHEEEERBR
discontinued operations ERIEREXKZ
attributable to equity =183
shareholders of the Company
Basic earnings per share BREFREF
(HK cent) (78 4l) 29
— Continuing operations — HREKEER 8.4 9.0
— Discontinued operations — ERIERERTE - 10.1
8.4 19.1
Diluted earnings per share BEERSKRER
(HK cent) (7&4l) 29
— Continuing operations — FHEREER 8.4 9.0
— Discontinued operations — BERIEREXH - 10.1
8.4 19.1

The notes on pages 135 to 282 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for
the year are set out in note 30.

F13B5E 28028 M E /AT ERER 2 —
o BRAFE & Z BN AR R E
S FBANZBEFEIIME30 -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REEEREMEERAR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-T=NF=A=+—HI-FE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7TH7R)

2024 2023
ZE-mEF —E-=F
Note $’000 $°000
Bt 5 Fr Tt
Profit for the year FEER 169,659 386,173
Other comprehensive income FEHM2EI A :
for the year:
Items that will not be reclassified T & E# 77 £ 182
to profit or loss: ZIEE
Remeasurement of provision for =EIRRTE & B 2
long service payments Bt E 213 6,038
Changes in fair value of other Hb & EQFE
financial assets ol x) 19 = 6,592
Share of other comprehensive — FEAGEEE A7) 2 KA
income of an associate 2EKA 10 2,070 =
Items that may be reclassified ~— B & AJfE B3 5 E
subsequently to profit or loss: Bz ZHA -
Exchange differences on BMERBINEBYE
translation of financial WERMELE ZH#B
statements of operations =8
outside Hong Kong 19 (55,159) (98,714)
Changes in fair value of other Hb & EQFE
financial assets ¥ 19 103 26
Release of the recycling fair value & & H ith & 5t & &=
gain due to disposal of other IR Z AT E R
financial assets B &= 19 = (100)
Other comprehensive income FEH2HEU A
for the year (52,773) (86,158)
Total comprehensive income FEZEABALSE
for the year 116,886 300,015
Total comprehensive income ERTREBREARE
attributable to equity EUTNREZZ2E
shareholders of the Company U A #55:
arises from:
— Continuing operations — FEREXET 116,886 141,182
— Discontinued operations — ERIEREETE - 158,833
116,886 300,015

The notes on pages 135 to 282 form part of these financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERBEBX
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE=—Z_WF=A=+—HIFFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JA7& 7T 7R)

Share Other Retained Total

capital reserves earnings equity

Rx  HtRE  REEN  RE4E
(Note 17) (Note 19)
(B17) (W&

Note $000 $'000 $'000 $000
fit st T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2022 Z®I-FNA-AZ
) 202,131 98,202 1396219 1,696,552
Changes in equity for the year ended EZ-Z-=£=R
31 March 2023: St-ALEERS
29
Profit for the year FEEEF = = 386,173 386,173
Other comprehensive income Hip2EWA = (92,196) 6,038 (86,158)
Total comprehensive income EXTLONE: - (92,196) 392,211 300,015
Dividends paid in respect of the previous 2k L5 E R &
year 30(b) - - (80,852) (80,852)
Dividends paid in respect of the current B R A5 & B 8
year 30(a) - - (80,852) (80,852)
Appropriation of statutory surplus reserve /7 iE & £ f & # 5% = 18,036 (18,630) -
Issuance of shares upon exercise of share 17 {5 & % i % % 17f% 7
options 17(a) 15 90 - 105
Transfer to retained profit upon disposal HEEMEHEEERZE
of financial asset RERF = (8,361) 8,361 -
Release upon lapse of share options & & % 6 78 - (3,656) 3,656 -
Distribution in specie EMAIK - 231,570 (1,129,776)  (898,206)
Balance at 31 March 2023 “E-ZEZRAZt-H
LEH 202,146 244,285 490,331 936,762

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F ] 129



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEREDR
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE=—Z &= A=+—HILFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA7ETTHII7R)

Share Other Retained Total

capital reserves earnings equity

Rx  HtRE  REEN  RE4E
(Note 17) (Note 19)
(B17) (W&

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $000
fit st T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2023 ZRI=EMA-AZ
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, BB 20046 244285 490331 936762
Changes in equity for the year ended BEZ-F-MF=A
31 March 2024: St-ALEERR
29
Profit for the year FRERN - - 169,659 169,659
Other comprehensive income Eew2EBA = (55,056) 2,283 (52,773)
Total comprehensive income _ EMARE SN 1A ) L
Dividends paid in respect of the previous 2k LFE & &
year 30(b) - S 60322 (3032
Dividends paid in respect of the current B JRAE E i 8
year 30(a) - - (30,322) (30,322)
Balance at 31 March 2024 ZBIMEZA=+-H
P 202,146 189,229 601,629 993,004

The notes on pages 135 to 282 form part of these financial — £5135% 2828 7 Hi:F B AR i53RE 7 —

statements. ZR4y o
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZZ-NF=A=+—HIFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JA7& 7T 7R)

2024 2023
—E-ME —EC=F
Note $000 $'000
Bt 5F T T
Cash flows from operating RETHZHERE
activities
Profit before taxation B %1 Al 4 A 186,999 693,371
Share of losses/(profits) of JEAL Bt & R T
associates B8 G F) 10 1,222 (15,157)
Depreciation and amortisation of 13 « & E Rk &2
property, plant and equipment T & % # §¥ 6 89,153 102,331
Amortisation of intangible assets &2 & & 2 # i5 8 1,656 1,553
(Gain)/loss on disposal of EEWME BER
property, plant and equipment &2 (W)~
BE 24 (131) 48
Write-down/(reversal of write- RERHHEFE 2
down) of obsolete and slow o,
moving inventories ([ % #0R) 14(b) 1,348 (9,810)
Recognition of loss allowance for & 5 & 5 # & g B 5%
trade and bills receivables BRBHIER 12 4,532 625
Reversal of loss allowance for B 5 &k E B EWER K
trade and bills receivables B RGO & 12 - (232)
Loss on disposal of other financial HEHth @& E 2
assets BE 24 - 576
Provision for long service RERE © B
payments 69 826
Valuation losses on investment & & ¥ 2 (L E &8
properties 7 36,050 29,577
Loss recognised from BOHERAEM SR E
derecognition of other financial —E 2 B E# R
assets 24 - 8,361
Interest expenses MBI 42,855 39,587
Interest income ME WA (2,704) (8,443)
Foreign exchange gain HNEE BB W U 2 (15,565) (63,127)
Operating profit before working 8 E& & # Al 2
capital changes carried REBANEHE
forward 345,484 790,086
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-ZT=NF=A=+—HI-FE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7851 7R)

2024 2023
—EB-mEF —T-=
Note $’000 $'000
h=s F T+
Operating profit before AAEEESEHA
working capital changes ZBEER
brought forward 345,484 790,086
Decrease in inventories FEZRD 119,563 155,008
Decrease in property MEZERIARKAK
development and contract Z
costs - 90,045
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 & Z 15 fE W R
bills receivables 2 (&), (66,218) 45,095
(Increase)/decrease in B e NEA
prepayments, deposits and JE W BR 3R 2z (&)
other receivables Yo : %% (14,275) 86,450
Increase in amounts due to ERBERRIERRZ
related companies ¥ 79 420
Increase/(decrease) in trade Z 5T AR 2 38 0
payables ae: > 116,309 (21,400)
Decrease in accruals and other  fE&HE B & E 4th fE {F
payables AR R 2 (158,041) (343,278)
(Decrease)/increase in amount  JEfSEt& ATIBER 2
due to an associate Rk 4,748 hn (1,327) 2,363
Increase in amounts due from B ENRIERRZ
related companies 0 (760) (12,397)
Net cash generated from REELEZERSE
operations 340,814 792,392
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENEEMGHR (21,970) (35,906)
PRC tax paid BT B (750) (227,498)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded iR & & & 15 8 66 4
PRC tax refunded REPHY = 92,017
Long service payments refunded iR & KBRS & - 15
Net cash generated from RETHEEZ
operating activities FERE 318,160 621,024
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZZ-NF=A=+—HIFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JA7& 7T 7R)

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Note $000 $'000
Bt 5F T T
Cash flows from investing RETHZHERE
activities
Payment for the purchase of BEYWE BEER
property, plant and equipment & 2 i 5K (89,039) (187,890)
Payment for additions to NBEREWMEZNK
investment properties 7 410) (137)
Proceeds from disposal of HEWE - BB &R
property, plant and equipment & 2 F715 5 765 323
Proceeds from disposal of other HEHMESEEE 2
financial assets FT 13 3K = 6,117
Payment for acquisition of other HEE H M &R EE 2
financial assets NE= (5,881) =
Payment for acquisition of W B B 2 R A 2 K
associate - (39,904)
Payment for acquisition of BERTVEEZNK
intangible assets 8 (2,193) -
Interest received 2 WF B 2,323 8,122
Net cash used in investing REFBFRAZ
activities FRE (94,435) (213,369)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=Z_NF=A=+—HILF/E (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA T3 7R)

2024 2023
—E_EF i
Note $’000 $'000
h=s T Tt

Cash flows from financing METHZRERE

activities
Interest paid EENEAIPS) 15(b) 42,512) (43,130)
Proceeds from new bank MIBRTTEEZABER

borrowings 15(b) 630,950 479,120
Repayment of bank borrowings B RITEE 15(b) (753,630) (1,016,935)
Capital element of lease rental BEffHEHE 2 &R

paid =ikp) 15(b) (6,267) (7,544)
Interest element of lease rental EBEfHERE 258

paid i) 15(b) (343) (814)
Dividends paid 2k & B (60,644) (161,705)
Increase in pledged deposits BEREFERZEM - 79,041
Proceeds from issuance of shares 171% B #1825 1Th%

upon exercise of share options 172 FT15 &K 17(a) = 105
Net cash outflow from EVMDIkzHE

distribution in specie FOm 16 - (397,297)
Net cash used in financing METBRAZ

activities FES (232,446) (1,069,159)
Net decrease in cash and cash BRERBREEEY 2

equivalents BR D (8,721) (661,504)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHIZR e RELZE

beginning of the year By 15 159,445 839,509
Effect of foreign exchange rate NEEXRBEH I E

changes (1,306) (18,560)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FEZ2REeREEE

end of the year B 15 149,418 159,445

The notes on pages 135 to 282 form part of these financial — Z135F 2828 v M iF A AR SRk 72—
o e

statements. Gl
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Karrie International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in

— Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): providing
mechanical engineering solutions, manufacturing
and sales of metal and plastic parts, including
moulds and the relevant plastic and metal parts
products for information and communication
technology industry, etc.; and

— Electronic Manufacturing Services Business
(“EMS”): manufacturing and sales of magnetic
tape data storage, point-of-sale system, and other
computer peripherals.

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda on 29 October 1996. The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of Stock Exchange since 16 December
1996.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in unit of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise
stated.

1

—REHR
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REWMBRR(ARIAEE)TE
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— HTeBREH(IREBR):
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EMEHE B RBB T
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BANMBEERESEMF

EmF

— BEFEXARIXBIEFHN

T)): REREEWTHBUR
e WIRHE R R Bl
BNEEEM -

KRB —NAARFTAZTAH
BREREEIMKRIZBEREE
N &) P E R #b ik Z Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

2

136

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”). Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments
to HKFRSs and a new HKFRS that are first
effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial
statements.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZXI B ZER AR 2 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2024 comprise the Group
and its interest in an associate. The measurement
basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for
investment properties, other financial assets and
employee benefit liabilities which have been
measured at the lower of carrying amount and
fair value less cost to sell.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

SEASN - LA TTITR)

2 EESTEBREGE)

(b)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

2

138

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(0

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amended
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from

a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12

International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

The above developments do not have significant
impact on the Group’s results and financial
position or any substantial changes in the
Group’s accounting policies. In addition, the
Group has not adopted any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” that
provides accounting guidance relating to the
abolition of offsetting mechanism effective from
1 May 2025. The abolition of the offsetting
mechanism did not have a material impact on the
Group’s results and financial position.

The “material accounting policies” set out on
note 2 summaries the accounting policies of the
Group after the adoption of these policies to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(0

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Up to the date of issue of these financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amended standards, which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2024 and which
have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for

accounting
periods
beginning on
or after
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial 1 January 2024
statements: Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current (2020 amendments’)
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial 1 January 2024
statements: Non-current liabilities with
covenants (“2022 amendments’)
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability 1 January 2024
in a sale and leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash 1 January 2024
flows and HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments:
Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of 1 January 2025

changes in forejgn exchange rates: Lack of
exchangeability
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(0

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these
developments is expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements except for the following:

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation

of financial statements (2020 and 2022
amendments)

The 2020 and 2022 amendments impact
the classification of a liability as current
or non-current, and are to be applied
retrospectively as a package. The 2020
amendments primarily clarify the classification
of a liability that can be settled in its own
equity instruments. If the terms of a liability
could, at the option of the counterparty, result
in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments and that conversion
option is accounted for as an equity instrument,
these terms do not affect the classification
of the liability as current or non-current.
Otherwise, the transfer of equity instruments
would constitute settlement of the liability and
impact classification. The 2022 amendments
specify that conditions with which an entity
must comply after the reporting date do not
affect the classification of a liability as current
or non-current. However, the Group is required
to disclose information about non-current
liabilities subject to such conditions. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments on the Group’s financial statements.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

2

EREFBRERE)

(o)

B BEEEH(E)

AEBERLFHZFTEYNE
BEERAMEAREEEZF
E-BRUATBER 259405 H
R AR ETERIT KRB
SHEAMBERREXNERX

By 48R
mE°

(EFTERDFE15R (TEFT ) -

BE#HREZZ 2K (2020%
20221557 )1)
TECRFEN T T CFEER]

FEBBRIZRDUIERE D
HoURER —EREBEH
JEF - —ZE-_ZTFEITXEH
ATAINEREREG =
TEHBEZBE»E - WAE
BRI BEFHEEZEER
HRERBI  ERTAUA
B HZEBHZEEERE
ERREEZTAR AZE
BRI EXEBE IR K
MBS DA ERT
BrEEBENAEZBE
WHESKE o« — T —F{&E]
ERERBTREHERE Y
RBT AT ERERERE
ZMEBHIEMEN LR o A -
AEEVNABRBEXBHEREH
REZIERBABEZES - &
SEETEFEBITHARE
M HEkoTE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group
and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-Group balances,
transactions and cash flows, and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the
Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets
the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate (see note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)), unless
the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal Group that is classified as
held for sale (see note 2(t))).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group
has significant influence, but not control or
joint control,
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

over its management, including

An investment in an associate is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post-acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s
net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment (see note 2(k)(ii)). Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Adjustments are made
on consolidation to the financial information of
associates where necessary to ensure consistency
with the accounting policies adopted by the
Group. In cases where the reporting dates of the
associates are different from that of the Group,
the share of the results of associates is included
in the consolidated financial statements based on
their financial statements made up to dates not
earlier than three months prior to 31 March.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

Associates (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest
is reduced to $nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest
is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method, together with the Group’s
long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investees, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, retained interest

is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity

method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 2(f)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s and the Company’s accounting
policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries
and an associate, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are
initially stated at fair value, which is their
transaction price unless it is determined that the
fair value at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price and that fair value is evidenced
by a quoted price in an active market for an
identical asset or liability or based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable
markets. Cost includes attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss and where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

(i) Investments other than equity
investments
Non-equity investment held by the Group
are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

— Amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 2(w)(iii)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)
(i) Investments other than equity
investments (continued)
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

(g)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)

(i)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election
to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election
is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the other
financial assets revaluation reserve until
the investment is disposed of. At the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
other financial assets revaluation reserve
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, if
any, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and buildings

which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest (see note 2(i)) to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation. These include land

held for a currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or developed
for future use as investment property.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g

(h)

Investment properties (continued)

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting
period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time. Any gain or loss arising
from a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including
right-of-use assets and land use rights) are stated
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
or amortisation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are expensed in
profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

[tems may be produced while bringing an
item of property, plant and equipment to the
location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. The proceeds from selling any such
items and the related costs are recognised in
profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gain or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings,
plant and machinery under construction and
pending installation and is stated at cost. Cost
includes the costs of construction of buildings,
the costs of plant and machinery, installation,
testing and other direct costs. No depreciation is
made on construction-in-progress until such time
as the relevant assets are completed and ready
for intended use. When the assets concerned
are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as
stated in below.

Depreciation and amortisation is calculated to
write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives. The annual rates used
for the calculation of depreciation are:

— Land use rights and Over the lease term
leasehold land

— Buildings 2% to 4%

— Fixtures and leasehold 8% to 33.33%

improvements

— Machinery 6.67% to 20%

— Tools and equipment 20%

— Furniture and computer 15% to 33.33%

equipment
— Properties leased for Over the lease term
own use
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2

(h)

@i

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of
the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted
to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 2(h) and 2(k)(ii)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leased assets (continued)

()

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental
deposits is accounted for separately from
the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to
investments in debt securities carried at
amortised cost (see notes 2(f)(i), 2(w)(ii) and
2(k)(i)). Any difference between the initial
fair value and the nominal value of the
deposits is accounted for as additional lease
payments made and is included in the cost
of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate,
or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

2
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2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 EESHHE(E)

(i) Leased assets (continued) iy HEEE#E)
(i) As a lessee (continued) (i) 1EAREBEAE)
The lease liability is also remeasured when THEREELEE L
there is a change in the scope of a lease FHEEENRRELE
or the consideration for a lease that is not MEZHEREBEEEEL
originally provided for in the lease contract (E®R]) BRER
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted BEHEAEARERE e
for as a separate lease. In this case the ENEHEAGE - &
lease liability is remeasured based on the ERT  HERENR
revised lease payments and lease term using BRETzHENR K
a revised discount rate at the effective date HEH EAKLEZ
of the modification. The only exceptions are FREREITERRE
rent concessions that occurred as a direct Mt - E— OISR ME
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic R A COVID-19%& 5 M &
and met the conditions set out in paragraph EELEZHEESER A
46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the HANEGEEMB®RE
Group has taken advantage of the practical ERIE1657HEFE46BR
expedient not to assess whether the rent oz  EZER
concessions are lease modifications, and SR REBF BT
recognised the change in consideration as HeREREERHERE
negative variable lease payments in profit R2EBREEE XK
or loss in the period in which the event or BEHSERZIEHHL
condition that triggers the rent concessions A e o B g
occurred. RREEZ2ERAETE
HERRK-

In the consolidated statement of financial REEE BRI KPR
position, The Group presents right-of-use SEERITERED
assets that do not meet the definition of XTEBE2HFRABEEER
investment property in “property, plant and M= WMEEXEIR
equipment” and presents lease liabilities HEEREIHE®R -
separately. The current portion of long-term RAHEBGBEZ R
lease liabilities is determined as the DEETRMERE T
principal portion of contractual payments B AABBERN 24
that are due to be settled within twelve R zExEHH -

months after the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2

()

()

Leased assets (continued)

(i) As alessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance
with note 2(w)(ii).

Intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see note
2(k)(ii)). Operating rights acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Amortisation of intangible assets
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the
following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and bank deposits,
restricted deposits, trade and bills
receivables and prepayments, deposits
and other receivables);

— contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 2(n)); and

— debt securities measured at FVOCI
(recycling).

Financial assets measured at fair value,
including debt securities and equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling), are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present values of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

2
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives
of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held) or (ii) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractual due
dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

(continued)

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the

technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to

the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either
an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt securities that are
measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
the fair value reserve (recycling).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets
(continued)

2

160

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognised in accordance
with note 2(w)(iii) is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Groups assess
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the
technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

— intangible assets;

— goodwill; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial

position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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(k)

Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

— Calculation of the recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest Group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently

(i.e. a cash generating unit).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or Group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the
unit (or Group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use
(if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(iii) Interim financial reporting and

impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the
financial year (see notes 2(k)(i) and 2(k)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of other financial assets
are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim
period relates. Consequently, if the fair
value of another financial asset increases in
the remainder of the annual period, or in
any other period subsequently, the increase
is recognised in other comprehensive
income and not profit or loss.
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2 EESTEBREGE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

M

Inventories and other contract costs

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process
of production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value as follows:

(i) Manufacturing
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
method and comprise all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sales.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount
of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in
the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
() Inventories and other contract costs (continued)

(if)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventory (see note 2(l)
(i), property, plant and equipment (see note
2(h)) and intangible assets (see note 2(j)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain
a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained (for example, an incremental sales
commission). Incremental costs of obtaining
a contract are capitalised when incurred if
the costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
() Inventories and other contract costs (continued)

(if)

Other contract costs (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised
if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods
or services in the future; and are expected
to be recovered. Costs that relate directly
to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable
to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments
to sub-contractors). Other costs of fulfilling
a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset
exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount
of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not yet
been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue
to which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is
set out in note 2(w).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note
2(n)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(k)(i)).

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2(w)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(k)(i)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right
to the consideration has become unconditional
(see note 2(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(w)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue.
In such cases, a corresponding receivable would
also be recognised (see note 2(m)).

For a single contract with the customers, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

(p

(q)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

When the contract includes a significant
financing component, the contract balance
includes interest accrued under the effective

interest method (see note 2(w)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings
are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expenses is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(y)).

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value, and are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(k)(i).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period. Employee entitlements
to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies operate a defined
contribution plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Long service payments obligations
The Group has the long service payments
obligations under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance as a defined benefit plan.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)
2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 EESHHE(E)

(  Employee benefits (continued) rn EBERFNGE)
(iii) Long service payments obligations (i) REBBEEE(E)

(continued)

The Group’s net obligation under the Hong EEREENETEERR
Kong Employment Ordinance in respect Pl zETHERATEIE
of long service payments on cessation of BEBERICGRAKE K
employment under certain circumstances is SEEBEMAREE XM
the estimated discounted amount of future RBRGEZ2EEFR
benefit that employees have earned in REENAHHE R BE
return for their services in the current and H T 12 1 AR 75 PR B ER 2
prior periods. The obligation is calculated HegNmE®E A~EE
annually using the projected unit credit BFRBEEEBEUEE
method, taking into account offsetable RFERE  WERASE
accrued benefits related to the Group’s ERraslit ite GRE
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme B)FHEIER 2B Y
contributions. Under this method, the cost HEEED c BEZA
of providing retirement benefits is charged E o RERARENZ K
to the consolidated statement of profit or K FAEHEBERRNE
loss and the consolidated statement of other HEMGEAEWRR AU
comprehensive income so as to spread B EERARD# D R
the regular cost over the service lives of B BERKFRS -
employees.

The obligation is calculated using the AEENAFEFEMLEE
projected unit credit method, discounted EETEERRBEE - XN
to its present value and reduced by BRASBERKE BT A
entitlements accrued under the Group’s SEHRTIE 2 EaH#E
retirement plans that are attributable to me MR/ HAR
contributions made by the Group. The AEBEREHHEEZE
discount rate is the yield at the end of the BhE¥EBEFsNHMERAR
reporting period on high quality corporate ERE - BEWHRN
bonds which have terms to maturity BEREHZAEER
approximating the terms of the related N E A 2 E B AKRETA
liability. The actuarial gains or losses are X 8H e

credited or charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the current

period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

(s

Employee benefits (continued)

(iv) Other compensations
Other directors’ and employees’
compensations are recorded as a liability
and charged to profit or loss when the
Group is contractually obliged or when
there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation and the associated
services are rendered by the employees.

Share-based payments

The Company operated an equity-settled,
share-based compensation plan, under which
the Company received services from employees
in return for the granting of equity instruments
(options) of the Company. The fair value of share
options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in
a capital reserve within equity. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted:

— including any market performance
conditions;

— excluding the impact of any service and
nonmarket performance vesting conditions
(for example, profitability, sales growth
targets and remaining an employee of the
entity over a specified time period); and

— excluding the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

®

Share-based payments (continued)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised
over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting
period, the entity revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing vesting conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to the
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The cash received for the shares issued when the
options are exercised is credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium, net of any
directly attributable transaction costs.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to employees of a subsidiary
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investment in the subsidiary,
with a corresponding credit to share-based
compensation reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares issued)
or the option expires (when it is released directly
to retained profits).

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of
the Group’s business, the operations and cash
flows of which can be clearly distinguished from
the rest of the Group and which represents a
separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate
major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

®

(u)

Discontinued operations (continued)
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier.
It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

— the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation; and

— the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell,
or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all
deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from
the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their
fair values in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2(g), the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured using the
tax rates that would apply on sale of those
assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u)

Income tax (continued)

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when
the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities,
if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v)

(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
or the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods, the
provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 EBEESHE(E)
w) WAREMEAE)

(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the customer for more than 12 months,
revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the
effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides
a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The
Group takes advantage of the practical expedient
in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sales of manufacturing goods
Revenue from the sales of goods is
recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. Any
advance payments received from customers
prior to delivery of goods are recorded as
contract liabilities (see note 2(n)).

In the comparative period, revenue
from sales of manufacturing goods was
recognised when the goods are delivered to
the customer, the customer has accepted the
products and the related risks and rewards
of ownership and collectability of the
related receivables is reasonably assured.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

Rental income from operating leases
Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by
the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note

2(k)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in
the same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate the
Group for the cost of an asset are deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expenses.

2

EREFBRERE)
w) BAREMBAGE)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

KEHEZHASWA

REMEZHESBWAR
GIROR: s R )
BOUNBEEBER - M
FEHEMEETFEMK
REMHEEEEMEL
Z s B RIER SN -

B WA

MEBEWANEEZER
ME - IZBREETREE
ZHEERFRAZM
AFARRIRE WA LD
BEZERmMBERERN
BZMERFHEER - 5
15 B I 8O (B 3 1% 2 35
AR FEGAR

b2 ERA (FTEE) T &
ZEMEEMS - BRA

EHRZEEZREA
B -BEELRABEZ

TRMEEMS » BRME
RARZEEZBIERA

(BN BR T 488 5l == B 18
i) (R M & 2(k)0)

& B

B AR E A S WK
FRERAEEGE
BB Z IR
BT & By & ) 50 B 7 R
MRER - ALAER
SECELRXZEY
REZFRXEEZHHE
RBE XA RFR R
WA - RAREREEE
EREAZER BN
ZEBERBEMR LA
&3 B A] A HAORL A 9
EZRAZTARERE
R o



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(x)
(i)

(ii)

Translation of foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the
year are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Group initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(x)

(y)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances (continued)
The results of operations with functional
currency other than Hong Kong dollars
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong
Kong dollar at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the
translation reserve.

On disposal of an operation with functional
currency other than Hong Kong dollars,
the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(z) Related parties

A person, or a close member of that

person’s family, is related to the Group if

(a)

that person:

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same Group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a Group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2
(z) Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(aa)

(ab)

Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
the methods used to distribute

the products or provide the services, and the

customers,

nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Distribution of non-cash assets to owners

Upon loss of control of a subsidiary through
distribution of shares in the subsidiary to
the shareholders of the Company where the
subsidiary is ultimately controlled by the same
parties both before and after the distribution, the
Group (a) derecognises the assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at
the date when control is lost; and (b) measures
the distribution and the liability to distribute
non-cash assets as a dividend to its owners
at the carrying amount of the net assets to be
distributed.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: currency risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Risk management is carried out by the Group’s
Finance and Accounting department (“Group
F&A”) under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Group F&A identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation
with the Group’s operating units. The Board is
responsible for overall risk management which
covers currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and cash
management.

The Group’s exposure to the aforesaid risks
and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.

(i) Currency risk
The Group operates primarily in Hong Kong
and the Mainland China and most of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in HK$, United States
(“US$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
Currency risk arises from commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations

dollars

that are denominated in a currency that
is not the entity’s functional currency. As
HK$ are pegged against US$, management
considers that the Group is mainly exposed
to foreign currency risk with respect to
Renminbi.
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will
take measures to minimise the currency
translation risk. The conversion rate of

Management will continue to

Renminbi to foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
Government.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

The following table details the currency
portfolio of the Group’s monetary assets/
(liabilities) denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the portfolio are
expressed in HK$, translated using the spot
rate at the end of the reporting period:

3 MEERBEERESMIAATE

(%)

@ HMBREBRREEGE)

(i)

ShES R B (4F)

MR AEEAEEM
ERMEEBEUINEM
EMRBUzEBMLE
E/(aB)za%is -
RENRE HARZ
T FA AR R B A BB
R WABTIIR

At 31 March 2024
R-F-NE=A=1-H

HK$ Us$ RMB Others
BT Ep AR¥ Hitr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T Tr Fr
Trade and bills receivables & 5 &% 2 fE 4 8
and other receivables R H AR
B - 552,351 1,130 143
Other financial assets HiweMEE = 19,465 - -
Cash and bank deposits ~ #& R HR1TF R 3,893 79,529 1,026 3,383
Amounts due from related &4 % & 2 5] BR 3%
companies - - 780 -
Trade payables BHRAER = (310,320) (42,425) (36)
Accruals and other EAERAREME
payables 11 B 5 - (40) - -
Amounts due to related {8 &R AIBR A
companies - - (3,661) -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 BMEERRBREERESMIAATE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
Financial risk factors (continued) @ BHXREBREZEGE)
Currency risk (continued) (i) EREE)
At 31 March 2023
RZE-=F=A=+—H

HK$ US$ RMB Others

BT E AR Hity

$000 $000 $'000 $000

T T T T
Trade and bills receivables &% & 1 & I iR
and other receivables M H AR

B - 496,266 1,142 18

Other financial assets HEHiheMEE 13,067 = =

Cash and bank deposits & R ETF K 4,224 105,860 2,507 1,523
Amounts due from related JEUE & A A BR &

companies - - 705 =

Trade payables BHEMER - (238,611) (43,500) (154)
Accruals and other EERREME

payables R - (19 - -
Amounts due to related ~ ERBERFRR

companies - - (3,795) -

At 31 March 2024, if HK$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB
with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year and retained
earnings would have decreased/increased
approximately $1,807,000 (2023:
$1,788,000), mainly as a result of the net
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation
of Renminbi-denominated trade and other
receivables, cash and bank deposits, trade
and other payables and amounts due
from/to related companies.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED %= Rl B 2 #= IR B IR 2 7
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates
the instantaneous change in the Group'’s
profit after tax (and retained earnings) and
other components of equity that would
arise assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rate of HK$ against the RMB had
occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk,
and receivables with the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis is performed on the

including inter-company payables

same basis for 2023.

Interest rate risk

Monetary assets/liabilities acquired at
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings and bank deposits which are
primarily issued at variable rates.

(&)

Bt 75 ¥ R B &
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EREMIAQAYE
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(i)
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(@)
(ii)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 BMEERRBREEREMIAATE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
Financial risk factors (continued) @ BHXREBREZEGE)
Interest rate risk (continued) (i) FIEE (&)
The following table details the interest rate TRFINBEHRAK
profile of the Group’s interest-bearing assets SETREERAGERN
and liabilities at the end of the reporting =
period:
At 31 March 2024 At 31 March 2023
R-B-ME=R=t-H W-B-=£=A=1-H
Effective Effectwe
interest rate interest rate
Note % $000 % $'000
(i3 BERAZ T EBEE r
Fixed rate interest-bearing assets/ EEREHEEE/
(liabilities): (BfE):
Deposits with banks with 3 months =& A% & & 3|5 2
or less to maturity when placed 4T 15 4.46% 58,144 3.18% 31,314
Key management insurance IZERERRAN
contracts 13 2.01% 19,465 2.01% 13,067
Lease liabilities HERE 2 5.43% (3,605) 5.24% 9,737)
Variable rate interest-hearing ~ FBFRFLEE/
assets/ liabilities): (BfF):
Cash at bank RITEH 15 0.01% 90,459 0.01% 127,143
Bank borrowings BITEE 21 522%  (529,692) 5.04%  (652,372)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED %= Rl B 2 #= IR B IR 2 7

At 31 March 2024, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rate had
increased/decreased by 50 basis points, the
corresponding increase/decrease in interest
expenses on bank borrowings and interest
income from bank deposits at variable rates
will result in a net decrease/increase in the
Group’s post-tax profit by approximately
$1,759,000/$2,202,000 (2023: decrease/
increase by $2,088,000/$2,711,000).

R-ZZE-_NF=A=1+—
B et sREs
BAE WAELEH T
AR EZ T - B
SR ZRITEEFEX
R RITERF B R A
15 158 AN 5 B i 18 m B F
B 18 A1 491,759,000
7T /2,202,000 7T (=
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2,088,0007T 2,711,000
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained earnings) and other
components of equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained earnings) and other
components of equity is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or
income of such a change in interest rates.
The analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2023.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a
counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group and is managed on a Group
basis. The Group’s credit risk mainly arises
from financial assets and deposits with
banks and financial institutions, as well as
credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding trade and other receivables.
For banks and financial institutions, only
independent parties with high credit rating
are accepted.

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

SEASN - LA TTITR)

3 UHEREEREMIAAFE

(%)

@ HMBREBRREEGE)

(i)

(iii)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F #&

=@ (E)

A LBREEDITER -
R AR 70 M & HA R M) & 2%
AR MEEFHTE
AEBFBEZHERF
EFNXRRzE/BTE -
R B R B AR i A (AR
BomA) s o e 2 &
i 48 P B 0 15 & B A BT
HEY HRAEER
BEMRTAEZEDF
RIMTETRAELEZR
EREMNERRME - Y
REBE R BR N (R AR
Bom A K i g 2 HAh 4
REBD 2 BT ENZE
MEZHEHERF R
XHIWAZRZEME
TfhEt - ZTZ=F2%H
AR R 2 B AT o

EERR
EERRBRIIRZHITE
RENEHKEHAKHE
BBk HRAEAST
AEE - AEEEEE
SETERBEETHEER
RITTEP BB 2T
TEREEFZEER
2 BREAEEZES
R Hopth U BR K ¥ 0
RITELVHHE Re
EMERIRREZHE
LG5, ©

191



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

3

192

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. There is
a concentration of credit risk in respect of
trade and bills receivable as the Group’s
sales are made primarily to a few key
customers. At 31 March 2024, the trade
and bills receivable from five largest
customers accounted for approximately
84% (2023:85%) of the total trade and bills
receivables.

Individual credit evaluations are performed
on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due within 150 days from
the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

Prepayment, deposits and other receivables

Credit risk in respect of other receivables,
the Group monitors the exposures
and manages them based on historical
settlement records and past experience,
current conditions and forecast of future
economic conditions.

3
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

(iv)

Amounts due from related parties

Credit risk in respect of amounts due from
related parties are limited given that the
Group assesses and closely monitors their
financial conditions and the related parties
have sufficient reserves of resources to settle
the amount as they fall due. Therefore, the
ECL allowance is considered insignificant.

Cash and bank deposits

The credit risk on cash at banks is limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies.
relation to derivative financial instruments,

Transactions in

if any, are only carried out with financial
institutions of high reputation. The Group
has policies that limit the amount of credit
exposure to any one financial institution.
Cash and cash equivalent are normally
placed with major licensed banks.
Management does not expect any of these
licensed banks or financial institutions to fail
to meet their obligations.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of credit facilities. The Group aims
to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
credit lines available at all times.
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(@)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HRKEREEREMIAATYE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (#%&)
Financial risk factors (continued) @ MERBERGE)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (ivy REVE Rk (#&)
The table below analyses the Group’s TROMAEE 2 & @
financial liabilities classified into relevant BfE ZAEERARSE
maturity groupings based on the remaining HARESAZIEABHRTHE
period at the end of the reporting period to MADEEEHEI A
the contractual maturity date. The amounts Ale RPAKESRA
disclosed in the table are the contractual BHRRMRZBERE °
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due BRI EESTE
within twelve months equal their carrying RN +—EAREIEZ
balances as the impact of discounting is not A ABREEES o
significant.
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ERAFRARER
Between Between
Carrying  Less than Tand 2and5
amount 1 year 2 years years Total
FEE PR-F -Z@E —EEF At
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r r r r r
At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-MF
=R=t-H
Trade payables BHENER 462,793 462,793 - - 462,793
Accruals and other payables 5T & F [t H th JE f
iR 287,245 287,245 - - 287,245
Amounts due to related EREELRRR
companies 3,696 3,696 - - 3,696
Amount due to an associate  fEfTEE & A R BR 3k 2,331 2,331 - - 2,331
Lease liabilities HERR 3,605 3,403 282 - 3,685
Bank borrowings RITfEE
— without repayableon  — RBEREXER
demand clause 3 404544 203457 93170 117,542 434,169
— with repayable on demand — B ZEXEE
clause &3 125,148 66,164 58,806 7,199 132,169
1,269,660 1,029,387 152,258 124,741 1,306,386

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED %= Rl B 2 #= IR B IR 2 7
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HME¥EKREERSMIAEQAFE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (&)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued) @ BHXRRBREZEGE)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (ivy REBVE R k(&)
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ARRTRAS L
Between Between
Carrying  Less than T and 2 and
amount 1 year 2 years 5 years Total
REE SR-F -EWE ZER% B
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T
At 31 March 2023 R-BZ=%
ZA=t-H
Trade payables BHRTEN 350,212 350,212 = - 350,212
Accruals and other payables  [E&T & 3 [t £ o fE f
AR5 469,284 469,264 - - 469,284
Amounts due to related ENBEEARRER
companies 3,848 3,848 - - 3,848
Amount due to an associate  [E A& D 3,895 3,895 = = 3,895
Lease liabilities MERE 9,737 6,956 3,171 - 10,127
Bank borrowings RITEE
— without repayable on —REREXER
demand clause f& 3% 466,000 186,629 299,392 - 486,021
— with repayable on demand — it ZE X
clause BEER 186,372 91,996 53,121 50,984 196,101
1328511 951,983 355,684 50,984 1,358,651
(b) Capital risk management (b)) ELEBERE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns
for equity shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to

reduce debt.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(0

Capital risk management (continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided
by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total
bank borrowings and lease liabilities less cash
and bank deposits. Total capital is calculated as
the total equity as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group’s strategy, which is unchanged from
prior year, is to maintain an acceptable net
gearing ratio. The net gearing ratios at 31 March
2024 and 2023 are as follows:

3

HEEREERSMIAQNTE

(&)

b BELEBE ﬁ%@
HERHEMAE 5 ANEE
ﬂ%%ﬁﬁmW%$E§$
Sb b RIZ R F E B RERR DA 48
BARGE - @FE%Eﬁﬁ
BEERENHEEBERRS
MERITE R - Wi A B ik
MR BEREEZR
ER
REBEZRBETE  AEF

— B BIRAER RS 2%
BEHR -RN-T-_MFER-
T_=F=A=+—RHZFiR
TEELENAT:

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F

$000 $'000

Fr T
Total bank borrowings RITIEERE 529,692 652,372
Lease liabilities HEEE 3,605 9,737
Less: Cash and bank deposits B RE RBITER (149,418) (159,445)
Net borrowings FEE 383,879 502,664
Total equity BaBE 993,004 936,762
Net gearing ratio FRELX 39% 54%
Fair value estimation (0 DFEME
The carrying value less impairment provision BH5RFEBEEKRIOREE
for trade and bills receivables, other receivables BEE EMEKEREE
and trade and other payables are a reasonable %&ﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁ X2 BRmEE
approximation of their fair values. The fair value BEBOEEATE - EAEK
of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is BEY WKBREATEZMA
estimated by discounting the future contractual ARAREHNREMEUR
cash flows at the current market interest rate that SEREMMRMELIZ SR
is available to the Group for similar financial TAZMRRREAE -

instruments.
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3 MEERBEERESMIAATE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(0

Fair value estimation (continued)

The table below analyses financial instruments
carried at fair value, by valuation method. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (Level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

(%)

(0 DFEMEHE)
TRIMABBEEIMIERF
BABZSMTE - FAE

BREES AR
B2 1B (R G 30 5) (5
—@) -

BRTE—EMBRIRE
5h - HEEHBEZAER
RZHBE UREEH
10 (B 4%) =X B &% (AR
BEB(E_E)-

A 3 £ 18 T B R 4B
By EEREET BE
(EETBRBE)(E=
B
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
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(0

3 MEERBEERESMIAATE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
Fair value estimation (continued) (0 2XFEMEFE)
The following table presents the Group’s financial TRIMAEER _T_M4F
assets that are measured at fair value on a ZA=+—HUKEHEERD
recurring basis at 31 March 2024: FEFEZEREE:
2024 2023
—E-MmEF —F-=
$000 $'000
Fr T
Assets: EE:
Level 3 F=
— Key management insurance — F2EEER
contracts (note 13) B & 49
(MF5E13) 19,465 13,067

The Group's key management insurance
contracts categorised in Level 3 are managed
by independent insurers. The fair value of these
insurance contracts is recorded based on the
account value supplied by the insurers.

During the year 31 March 2024, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer
out or into of Level 3 (2023: nil).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED %= Rl B 2 #= IR B IR 2 7
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value estimation (continued)

The movement during the year in the balance

BHEREEREMIAQNTE

(&)

(© DFEMFE)
FRALFF=ZEBRFEFE

of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as ZREREET
follows:
2024 2023
“E-MF —F-=
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Key management insurance contracts * EEE BRI
=3
Beginning of the year F1 13,067 19,514
Additions NN 5,881 -
Disposal HE - (6,794)
Interest income recognised in RIBHERZME
profit or loss e A 380 321
Exchange gain recognised in RERERZER
profit or loss W & 34 -
Fair value gain recognised in iﬂqﬁéﬁﬂﬁiw&z
other comprehensive income AHER FE
during the year W g 103 26
End of the year FIE 19,465 13,067

There were no fair value gains or losses for the

years included in profit or loss for these assets

held at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

RZE_NFER-_ZT-_=F=
A=+—HFBEEEELRE
NEEUZEHEEBIENE
mA e
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ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates may be different from the actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in future years are
discussed below.

(@ Expected credit loss allowance for trade

receivables

The Group maintains a loss allowances of trade
receivables measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL of receivables stated at amortised
cost. The loss allowance is estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factor that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date. If there is a
change in the financial condition of the debtors,
actual write-offs would be higher or lower than
estimated.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

(b) Write-down of inventories
Inventories are written down to the net realisable
value based on an assessment of the realisability
of inventories. Write-downs on inventories
are recorded where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be realised. The identification of write-downs
requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value and write-downs of inventories.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s chief operating decision-maker
(“Management”) reviews the Group’s internal reports
periodically in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Management has determined the
operating segments based on these reports.

The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into
two (2023: two) major operating segments. They
are (i) metal and plastic business; and (ii) electronic
manufacturing services business during the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Management considers the business from both a
geographic and products and services perspective.
From a products and services perspective,
Management assesses the performance of metal and
plastic business, electronic manufacturing services
business and real estate business. In addition, there
is further evaluation on a geographic basis (Japan,
Hong Kong, Mainland China, Asia (excluding Japan,
Hong Kong and Mainland China), North America
and Western Europe). Management assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on
operating profit. Segment information provided
to Management for decision making is measured
in a manner consistent with that in the financial
statements.

B 5 H B R A E ()

(by FEMRE
BREBEFEGERMN 2 5T f WO
FEENBRHE - —AHH
§§$j| /RE ”i‘:'%?feg/j’\ﬁ,\nu

Wﬁ %wWwﬁxﬁﬁﬂ
BTk ETEH & REHE
Fi%%ﬁ%%ﬁ’%%ﬁ
By ETFERAEKRTEM
e

£ W &
ARBEEEEREE(EEE)
EHEMARE 2 A EE - IX
AR DR - BB
BERERERATEEDH -

R-ZF-_MER-_FT-_=F=A
=+—8" ZK%L&TE—)I Bz
EBOR_(ZE_=F:2)K=x
BLENE  ARROATERBE
%,wm3¥§%ﬁliﬁ

EEENRHME EXEREAE
EEEER - EEBREMER
BAETHEISBRBREY  E1H
ERIEKNEWEERZERE -
VTeE—FTUEAEREBA -
E& - hBEAM - MR EEB
A BEBRFBEAM) - EEME
78 B0 ) 2R AT iy o Mﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁéu
ﬂﬁﬁgkﬁﬂ2§ﬁ BT
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ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ% B o

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F $§ 201



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

5

202

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

A measurement of segment assets and liabilities is
not provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management and accordingly, no segment
assets or liabilities information is presented.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable
to those segments. Segment profit is defined as
the operating profit generated from the reportable
segment before finance income, finance cost, share
of associate profit and income tax expense with inter
segment profit being excluded.

In March 2023, KRP Development Holdings Limited
(“KRP”) was spun-off and listed separately on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange by way of
introduction through a distribution in specie to the
Company’s shareholders.

After KRP’s spin-off, a reportable and operating
segment of the Group, namely “Real Estate Business”
has been classified as discontinued operations, as the
segment has been spun off as detailed in note 16.
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SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 5 2BHREGE)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2024 BRE_T_MNE=ZA=+—HIF
are as follows: B2oEEEWT:
2024
L Sl
Electronic
manufacturing
Metal and services
Continuing operations BEREER plastic business business Others Total
ik ErE%
BBEK RI%H Htt &t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r r r r
Segment revenue 2HBA
Revenue from external customers MR ZIWA 1,725,255 1,190,648 78 2,915,981
Inter-segment revenue PEEBA 20,791 - - 20,791
Reportable segment revenue BESPRA 1,746,046 1,190,648 78 2,936,772
Gross profit Y 335,988 34,151 - 370,139
Distribution and selling expenses and ~ F R HEBRAR—K Rk
general and administrative expenses THEHR (102,216) (10,058) 447 (111,827)
Other net income A AFE 5,035 435 640 6,110
Valuation loss on investment properties 1% & 1% f (E & & - - (36,050) (36,050)
Segment profit/(loss) PHEH/(EB) 238,807 24,528 (34,963) 228,372
Segment profit includes: PBENEE:
Depreciation and amortisation of N% BERRBITE
property, plant and equipment REH 85,556 3,560 37 89,153
Amortisation of intangible assets B AE B 1,656 - 1 1,656
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of FEREHEETE 2#5/
obsolete and slow-moving inventories  ([E1 % #{ () 2,579 (1,231) = 1,348
Recognition of loss allowance for trade  E5 R ZBREWENEE
and bills receivables B HER 4,333 199 4 4,532
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5 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 5 SBE|EE)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_T_=F=A=t+—HI*F
are as follows: BZzo®MEREWT:
2023
i
Electronic
manufacturing
Metal and services
Continuing operations BEREER plastic business business Others Total
ik ETEX
BBEK RIXH it af
§000 §/000 §/000 §/000
Tr T T T
Segment revenue 2HBA
Revenue from external customers EE-SpA ON 1,918,749 1,162,923 25 3,081,697
Inter-segment revenue R EEON 34,540 - - 34,540
Reportable segment revenue BEPBUA 1,953,289 1,162,923 25 3,116,237
Gross profit Y 298,175 38,989 1 337,165
Distribution and selling expenses and ~ H R HEBAR—K Rk
general and administrative expenses THEHR (93,958) (8,390) (429) (102,777)
Other net income RN 4,962 372 640 5,974
Valuation loss on investment properties & & ¥ 2t E 18 - - (29,577) (29,577)
Segment profit/(loss) AEER /(KB 209,179 30,971 (29,365) 210,785
Segment profit includes: PBENEE:
Depreciation and amortisation of N% BERRBTE
property, plant and equipment REH 97,378 3,245 125 100,748
Amortisation of intangible assets BYEEZEH 1,553 = = 1,553
Reversal of write-down of obsolete and  FR & /% 8677 & #U 2
slow-moving inventories [a] (9,445) (365) = (9,810)
Recognition of loss allowance for trade B %R EREWERER
and bills receivables BlswER 145 248 - 393
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SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
A reconciliation of segment profit to profit before
taxation is provided as follows:

oEEE (&)
7> Bk ) 1 BR 2 BR B AT A0

2024 2023
—EBMEF —EF-=
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Operating profit from continuing ~ FEKLE XK 2
operations 5 5 228,372 210,785
Finance income B s A 2,704 1,504
Finance costs B 75 Bk AR (42,855) (35,655)
Share of (losses)/profits of JEIEHE RAl 2
associates (E18), & 7 (1,222) 15,157
Profit before taxation from FELEER 2
continuing operations B 3% B g A 186,999 191,791

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue
and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, intangible assets and
investments in associates (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of revenue is
based on the country in which the final destination
of shipment is located or services are provided and
properties are located. The geographical location
of the specified non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset, in the case of property,
plant and equipment, investment properties and the
location of the operations to which they are allocated,
in the case of intangible assets and investments in
associates.

TRINE () AE B 2 WA Ki) A
SBEME - BELEE - KEY
¥ BREEMRBEQRZERE
(EEHFRBEETEHEZE
Ko U A FTTE b (@ AR 1 & 4R 1 18
Bt ok RIS IRt R EFTE R
ROBE - BEHRRBEEFLH
BZED  WMAME - BMEREZE
MEEMEDIRBEZEERATZ
FHet meEEREE KR
BRRIZEEDREBEEMSEL
B FTIE H B o
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5 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

5

The Group's revenue
(Continuing operations)

oEEE (&)

Specified
non-current assets

AEEZHA
(BESEER) EEFERBDEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“ECINME CZT-=F ZE-NE CZT-Z=F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Tr T Tr T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BEB(FEH) 1,089,865 1,021,279 23,660 27,081
Japan B 39,509 61,064 - =
Mainland China B A 3t 604,411 717,603 842,567 908,081
Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong & (R & 1EA A «
and Mainland China) ERRPEAM) 221,396 214,704 142,289 103,448
North America L EM 549,995 666,401 = -
Western Europe 74 X 410,805 400,646 - -
Sub-total N 1,826,116 2,060,418 984,856 1,011,529
2,915,981 3,081,697 1,008,516 1,038,610
The Group’s customer base includes four (2023: four) AREEMA(ZE-_= AT

206

customers with whom transactions have exceeded
10% of the Group’s revenue. For the year ended
31 March 2024,
merchandise in the metal and plastic business and

the total revenue from sales of

electronic manufacturing services business, including
sales to entities which are known to the Group to
be under common control with these customers,
amounted to approximately $2,630,416,000 (2023:
$2,684,206,000) and arose in all geographical
regions in which the businesses are active. Details
of concentrations of credit risk arising from these
customers are set out in note 3(a)(iii).

The Group’s sales are made primarily to a few key
customers. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
revenue derived from five largest customers accounted
for approximately 92% (2023: 89%) of the Group’s
total revenue.
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6  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 ME BMERZE
Land use Properties Fixtures and Furniture and
rights and leased for ~ Construction- leasehold Tools and computer
leasehold land Buildings ownuse in-progress improvements  Machinery equipment  equipment Total
THERER RER BiR
HErH B HENEAR ERIE VETL BE IERER EERE af
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000
fn fr fn Tz fn Tr fn Tr fn
Cost: mA:
AT April 2023 Bogocf
mA-H 277 296,576 20,853 130,734 161,072 647,322 92,989 190,581 1504904
Additions 5E - 666 91 13173 15,52 107,793 9,119 5057 152,450
Disposals & E 5 = = = (1,405) (701) (735) (2,841)
Reclassification ENNE e 135,866 = (136,060) 194 29) 2 = =
Exchange adjustmens RS (1,286) (17,816) (1,647) (7,673) (8,513) (29,612) (5,590) (4,435) (76,572)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-mF
ZA=+-A 21,491 415,292 20,127 174 168,274 724,069 95,846 132,668 1,577,941

Accumulated depreciation, it E - BHR
amortisation and AEFR:
impairment losses:

AT Apil 2023 Sk 2

mA-A 8,354 74,942 12,037 = 66,733 500,318 54,315 117,557 834,256
Charge for the year EEMR 424 9,178 5,786 5 11,561 41,683 12,865 7,656 89,153
Written back on disposals EHEzHE - 5 = 5 = (807) (702) (698) 2,207)
Reclassification R 5 5 - - - )] 1 - -
Exchange adjustmens ipas (47) 4,387) (937) = (3,341) (20,310) (3,186) (3,62 (36,430)
At31 March 2024 RZZ-RE

ZA=t-A 8,331 79,733 16,886 5 74,953 520,803 63,203 120,693 884,772
Net book value: REFE:
At31 March 2024 RZEZQE

ZA=t-A 13,160 335,550 3,241 174 93,321 203,186 32,553 11,975 693,169
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6  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 6 W% BERRE(EZ)

Land use Properties Fixtures and Furniture and

rights and leased for ~ Construction- leasehold Tools and computer
leasehold fand Buildings ownuse in-progress  improvements  Machinery  equipment  equipment Total

1HERER KER Rk
BELh By HENZER  EEIR  MRRe B2 IARRRE  IHRB B
§/000 §1000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §000

T T T T T T T T T

Cost: B
AT Apil 2022 O S
mA-A 30232 343,907 U 105,336 156,959 633,846 76,764 139758 151163
Additions e = = = 34263 26,048 48573 2,38 6,030 137,29
Disposals b & - - - - (878) (5,253 (1,288) (216) (7,633)
Reclassifcation EpE| - - - - (61) 61 e = e
Exchange adjustments HEHE (1,469) (20,361) (1,260] (8,865) (6,886) (29,905) (4,813) (,229) (76,784)
Distribution in specie (Note 16) & 417 % (Fi££16) (5,986) (26970) (2,708) - (14,110) - (56) (7,766 (57,396)
A3 March 2023 R-EB-Zk
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, SASTTH W MeSe Mg B0TM e e 99 TSLSH | 1SOM
Accumulated depreciation, it E - BHR
amortisation and HEFR:
impairment losses:
At1 April 2022 S
mA-A 11,40 98,569 5,59 - 71,021 478,929 44,657 113,137 823,363
Charge for the year RNk 569 6,763 7344 - 13,167 46,353 13,755 14378 102,331
Written back on disposals ALz #E - - = = (878) (4,882 (1,288) (216) (7,264)
Bxchange adjustments inag (482) (4,548) (266) - (3,033) (20,084) (2,753) (4313) (35,501)
Distribution in specie (Note 16} £ 475 % (Fi££16) (3,173) (25,862) (o11) g (13,544) S (56) (5,427) (48,673)
AU March 2023 WZEzZ%
ZR=1-H 8,354 7494) 12057 = 66,733 500318 54,315 117,557 834,256
Net book value: BERE:
At31 March 2023 Ot
ZR=1-H 14423 21,64 8,816 130,734 94,339 147,004 38,674 15,04 670,648
Depreciation and amortisation expenses of Ir & K % 5 & A $181,907,000
$81,907,000 (2023: $90,736,000), $7,246,000 (2023: (= T = = %:90,736,000
$10,012,000) and $nil (2023: $1,583,000) have been JT) * 7,246,0007T(= T = = & :
charged to cost of revenue, general and administrative 10,012,000T) R ER(ZE = =
expenses and discontinued operations, respectively. F :1,583,0007T) 7 Al 5F A UL A B
K —RETBRERRDRIEZEE
EZ
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6  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

(@)

Right-of-use assets
The Group’s interests in right-of-use assets at
their net book values are analysed as follows:

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

SEASN - LA TTITR)

6 YE BERREE)
@ FHREEE
REBEFREEE 2 ER
REEEF ESTOT:

2024 2023
—EE —ET-=F
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
Leasehold land and buildings in REEFAZLHE
Hong Kong, held on leases SELwMETFT
between 10 to 50 years (note (i) 102504 #f 2
A& (5 () 1,559 1,665
Land use rights and buildings in the 7 B35 A + i
PRC, held on leases between 10 {# B KiETF
to 50 years (note (ii)) 10E50F B2
A (KT &£ (i) 347,160 234,392
348,719 236,057
Properties leased for own use HEMERERZH
carried at depreciated cost EREA
(note (iii)) (Pt & Giii)) 3,241 8,816
351,960 244,873
(i) Leasehold land and buildings in Hong (i) EEaEHELTHEE
Kong held for own use FHEBA
The Group holds several buildings for its AEBFEE TEBTIE

office and warehouses. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests,
including the whole or part of undivided
share in the underlying land. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of
the land lease, other than payments based
on rateable values set by the relevant
government authorities. These payments
vary from time to time and are payable to
the relevant government authorities.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 6

(@

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i) Land use right and buildings in the PRC
held for own use
The Group holds several buildings for
its factories. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including
the underlying land use rights. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the
land lease.

(iii) Properties leased for own use
The Group has obtained the right to use
other properties as its warehouses through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 2 to 3 years with
no extension options. None of these leases
includes variable lease payments.

Buildings leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out an insignificant portion of
factories located in PRC under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1
year. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments. Undiscounted lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in place at the
reporting date will be receivable by the Group in
the coming year is $nil (2023: $nil).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWME
2024 2023
—E-WEF —E-=F
$000 $'000
Fr Tt
Beginning of the year F A 281,865 332,961
Additions NE 410 137
Fair value loss AJ?TEJEE%E (36,050) (29,577)
Exchange differences HiaER (17,157) (21,656)
End of the year FE 229,068 281,865

The investment properties are under construction
and located in the PRC under lease terms of 40 years
expiring in August 2050 to January 205T.

Fair value measurement of properties

(@) Fair value hierarchy
As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the fair
value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties is categorised into Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023, there were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

RABZERZTREVEIRIE
RENTF(R=ZTEATFNAE
—EA-F-ARH)HEHMm
SR

WEZ AT ENE

(a)

NFERER
RZZEZME=A=+—HK
RZEZ=F=H=+—H"
$%l&ﬁ%¥2“$ﬁﬁ
EREBUBEHREENSF
135f (A FHE?gJZm%
BAE-EALAFEESR-

@i_Q_mﬁﬁ_?_ E
—A=T—HLHEER"
ﬁ“:FZWiELﬁ’ﬁ
F_EEBLHEA - AKH
BRI BEHRRERR
FEEBAMBELEZEE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B %5 R 3Rk B &
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement of properties (continued)

7

212

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The valuation of the Group’s investment
properties as at 31 March 2024 was conducted
by Masterpiece Valuation Advisory Limited,
an independent professional valuer, which has
among its staff members of Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors. The investment properties were
valued on the basis that it would be suspended
in development in accordance with the Group’s
latest development proposals. The Chief Financial
Officer has discussion with the independent
professional valuer in the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each annual reporting date.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “net valuation losses
on investment properties” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

7 REWEE)

ME2AFEFEE)
@ NFEEBRE)

(b)

R-E-_WN&E=A=+—8"
REBEZREMERLEBILE
XA HENTEZRERA
AlfAE - EEEBERBAE
MEBers88 - KREWMED
BEASEESHERESRE
EERE AR EETH
B -ESREFEREBET
HER BEFENFEEREBELE
XA EREKMEE
HERETH®R -

BREMEZRTFEABIR
meBRaER L Z[REWER
BEEFE|—AER -

BFEE=-EBAFVEFTEZE
*ﬁl

Valuation approach  Unobservable inputs Range
HER % FTAREZBE gE
Investment properties-land  Direct comparison Adjustment factor on time, size and  -20%—-5%
in the PRC method location of the properties (2023: -15%—-4%)
REWE —RPEzL BERLEA BE - DEERMUEZABRE -20%--5%
(ZFZ=ZF:15%
—-4%)
Investment properties- Direct comparison Adjustment factor on time, size and ~ -20%—-5%

property under method location of the properties (2023: -15%—-4%)
development in the PRC

REME —RFEZ ERBEA BE-MEABRUE ZHERE -20%-5%
ERMF (ZBZ=%:

15%--4%)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement of properties (continued)

(b)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

The fair value of land that in the PRC classified
as investment properties is determined using
the market comparison approach by making
reference to the comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant market was adopted.
The adjustment factors used have been adjusted
for the size and location of the properties. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to
the adjustment factors on size and location of the
properties.

The fair value of property under development
in the PRC classified as investment properties is
determined using the residual method by making
reference to the comparable transactions or
asking cases as available in the relevant market
and it had taken into account the construction
costs incurred and profit with a discount on
suspended construction. The adjustment factors
used have been adjusted for the size and location
of the properties. The fair value measurement is
positively correlated to the adjustment factors on
size and location of the properties.

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

SEASN - LA TTITR)

7 REWHEE)

ME2ATFEFEE)
by BEEFE=ZELAFEFEZE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% AR MY RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

8

214

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

8 HEFEE

Computer
software
BB
$'000
Tt
Cost: B
At 1 April 2023 R-ZZTEZ=FMHA—H 14,450
Addition nNE 2,193
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZME=A=+—H 16,643
Accumulated amortisation: s FoR
At 1 April 2023 R_ZE_=FMA—H (11,163)
Charge for the year (note 25) FE M (M 7E25) (1,656)
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZMFE=HA=+—H (12,819)
Net Book Value: REFE:
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZE-_WMFE=ZA=+—H 3,824
Cost: RN
At 1 April 2022 and at 31 March 2023 RZEB__FMWMA—-ABRK
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, R=FZ—=%=ZA=+T—-H 14450
Accumulated amortisation: Rt #E
At 1 April 2022 W—_E-_—_FmA—AH (9,610)
Charge for the year (note 25) F = R (P 5225) (1,553)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZEZ=%F=H=+—H (11,163)
Net Book Value: REFE:
At 31 March 2023 RZZEZ=F=H=+—H 3,287
Amortisation of $1,656,000 (2023: $1,553,000) was HE_ZT-_NF=-A=+—HI%F
included in general and administrative expenses in the €+ 1,656,000T 2 #H (T ==
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year F :1,553,0007T) BREREFEEER

ended 31 March 2024.

RP—BRITRER -

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED %= Rl B 2 #= IR B IR 2 7
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Bt 75 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)
SUBSIDIARIES 9 MKEAQFHE
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the RRRR_ZE_WMF=A=+—H

Company as at 31 March 2024 are: FEWNBRRIZER:

Place of incorporation/

establishment and Principal activities and Particulars of issued/ Interest
Name types of legal entity place of operation paid-up capital held
i/ HIB%R
& EERBRER IRXBREELA BRf/BERAZEE  FERE
Karrie Industrial Company Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Sale of server casings, office Ordinary shares of 100%
company automation products, visual §1,000
accessories, plastic and metal parts, ~ Non-voting deferred
metal stamping dies and plastic shares of $5,000,000
injection moulds and provision of (i
management services Hong Kong
FHERBRAT ERBRREAT BERBENR BAEXEER-  EEKL000T 100%
yRAeR @%&@E%ﬁ\@% ERRRELR
RERARTERARRHEER 5,000,00072)
%R
Karrie Technologies Company Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Manufacturing and sale of plastic parts, ~ Ordinary shares of 100%
company sales of metal stamping dies and $30,000,000
plastic injection moulds, provision
of electronic manufacturing services
and investment holdings, Hong
Kong
FHRIMRARAA ERRRAMLAL ERHEEZRIM 2BFERA  EEMH30,000,0007 100%
&Wfﬂ RESTEXAIR
BREEER &
Karwin Engineering Company Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability  Design, manufacture and sale of Ordinary shares of $10 100%
company server casings, office automation Non-voting deferred
products and visual accessories; sale shares of $100 (i)
of plastic and metal parts, metal
stamping dies, plastic injection
moulds and investment holdings,
Hong Kong
FEBRIRARLA BERERRAAD Rt HERBEARSNG WE  EERwOT 100%
EXREMRYRAM HELE BRFRETR
ReBHf - cERERARE 1007C()
BARREER ER
ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F 215
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B 7% AR MY RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)
9  SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Place of incorporation/

9 KERRE)

establishment and Principal activities and Particulars of issued/ Interest
Name types of legal entity place of operation paid-up capital held
i/ HILER
tH EERREN IERBRREERR BRf/CHRAZEE  FERE
REREEEEBLERRAT The PRC, limited liability ~ Manufacture of server casings, office Paid-up capital 100%
company automation products and metal $174,755,000 (i)
parts, the PRC
HEERALLT RERBENR  WOZREERR  CHEZI4755,0007 100%
SERf & (i
REBEEREBL2RRAA The PRC, limited liability ~ Manufacture and sale of server casings, ~ Paid-up capital 100%
company office automation products, visual $129,823,000 (i)
accessories, moulds and plastic
parts; provision of electronic
manufacturing services, the PRC
REERELA RERBEARBNR WAEXE  BEEAI9823,0007 100%
Em yRAMN BAREBES i)
RRUETERRIRE +
REREETERERLT The PRC, limited liability ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital 100%
company $428,000,000 (iv)
REARRLAT BANE T8 B 515 %428,000,0007C 100%
(iv)
HEZNABAERERRA The PRC, limited liability ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital 100%
company 1$§20,000,000 (v)
REERALAT BENX TE E&1720,000,000 100%
£70)
HEBREZARAT The PRC, limited liability ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital 100%
company US$16,000,000 (vi)
TEARRELT REN% 7E E & 716,000,000 100%
el
Karwin Thai Advanced Technology Thailand, limited liability ~ Manufacture and sale of server casing Paid-up capital 100%
Industrial Limited company and metal parts, Thailand THB448,450,000
FEERELLT RERBERARBNTREBIS - DEEZ448450,000 100%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (58 &AM - LA LHI7R)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

The non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights,
are not entitled to dividends, and are not entitled
to distributions upon winding up unless a sum of
$200,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant

companies to holders of the ordinary shares.

REBEMEBE2BRS2ER QA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years up to 19 May 2026.

REBEMELBRBRASEMR AT is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years up to 24 May 2026.

ERBEEFEEXABARAT is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 25 years up to 18 February 2030.

EHZMNEBERERZEEFR LA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 40 years up to 2 December 2049.

HHEBGFEXAERADA is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 40 years up to 22 March 2051.

9

M8l (42)

B 7 -

() ERERETCRHOEERZER T
EESZRERKRIEBERARE
BREFEMELTERRRELER
$8200,000,000,0007C © & B % &
BHEEIZEMDIE °

(iii)

(iv)
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HEXHRB+RF R-ZF-R

FRAZTMARER

REFZEETEXARRAAL R
TEKZE2ERAIEDLE  HE
EHRR_THF  R-T=FF
“AtTNRER -

HRENBHEAEHAEBERQA
Ti—1 Eiﬂlfﬂii%ﬁ%ﬁﬁl\ﬁﬁ
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 58 &AM - LA TTHIR)
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

10

218

10 REZEQNTz2RE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —F=-=
$’000 $'000
Fr T+
Share of net assets EBtEEFE
Beginning of the year F 1] 82,810 21,265
Associate acquired in Step D W2 g R
Acquisition (note (ii)) (B 3 (i) - 47,837
Share of (losses)/profits of FEE R 2 nR) 2 (BE)
associates for the year /i (1,222) 15,157
Share of other comprehensive EEBE REl 2
income of an associate H 2w A 2,070 (66)
Exchange difference HiEzR (1,203) (1,383)
End of the year FIE 82,455 82,810
Balances with an associate HEBENR 2 &8
Amount due to an associate JE 1<) Bt & A B BR 3K
(note 32(b)) (B 5E32(b)) 2,331 3,895

The outstanding balances due to an associate are

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand,

and are denominated in RMB.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
Particulars of the associate of the Group is as follows:

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

BN - LABTTEIR)
10 RBELAF2KRE(E)
AEEBERRZFABRIT :

Proportion of ownership interest

BERRLA
Place of establishment ~ Principal activities and Particulars of issued and ~ Group's effective ~ Held by
Name of associate  and types of legal entity  place of operation paid up capital interest a subsidiary
BRI ER BR{T/BARA
BENRER EERREN TEXHREELE PA:3 AREERER  AKELARE
B ?%ﬂ@% aa}\ﬂ [ The PRC, limited liability ~ Research, sales of industrial ~ Ordinary shares of 30% (2023: 30%)  30% (2023: 30%)
RAERAAIRE  company robots and rohot RMB10,000,000
3) (”Cun’eng ) peripheral automation (2023: Ordinary
equipment, and shares of
provision of automation RMB10,000,000)
solution, the PRC
TEERRLA WX HEIXREARE  TBR 30% 30%
EAREBEDRE R AE&H10,0000007 (ZBz=%: (ZE=z%:
RERBLEATR (CE-=F:TER 30%) 30%)
& AFH10,000,0007C)

T. Krungthai Industries  The Kingdom of Thailand,  Manufacture of plastic Ordinary shares of 38.99% (2023: 38.99% (2023:
Public Co., Ltd limited liability products and moulds THB350,780,000 38.99%) 38.99%)
(TKT") company (note) (2023: Ordinary

shares of
THB350,780,000)
FERRAMLLR RELBHHRRA ER350,780, ooo%f* 38.99% 38.99%
) (CFZzF: % (Z3==F: (ZF=zf:
350,780,000% %%) 38.99%) 38.99%)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

10
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
Note:On 13 November 2020,

the Group acquired 10%
of the ordinary shares of TKT with warrants (the
“Warrants”) to purchase ordinary shares of TKT. The
10% shareholdings were previously accounted as
equity investments at FVOCI. On 4 October 2022, the
Group exercised the Warrants to further acquire equity
interest of TKT (the “Step Acquisition”) and increase
its shareholding of TKT to 38.99%. As a result of the
Step Acquisition, TKT has become an associate of the
Group. The Group determined the cost of its investment
in such associate as $47,837,000, which is the sum of
the original consideration paid for the initial interest
plus the consideration paid for any additional interest
by exercising the Warrants. The excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of TKT's identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, which is
amounted to $15,622,000, is included as income in the
determination of the Group's share of the associate's
profit in the period in which the investment is acquired.
In addition, a difference of $8,361,000, resulting from
the change in measurement between the fair value of the
10% initial investment on the date of obtaining significant
influence over TKT and the original consideration paid
for the initial investment is recognised as a loss, included
in other net income (Note 24). The previously recognised
fair value change in other comprehensive income is also
recycled to retained profits upon the derecognition of the
financial assets measured at FVOCI.

TKT is a listed corporate entity on Stock Exchange of
Thailand whose quoted market price is available.

All of the above associates are accounted for using
the equity method in the consolidated financia
statements.

10 R
P 5

Bl =1

WrA

W
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LR o 5Z10% A% L B VE B 3%
AREEFAEM T WA Z K
BIREARE MR-ZT-__F+A
MA - NREBETHERREDE—
FIRETKTRE(S SWED -
W H ¥ TKT 2 5 B b g =
38.99% ° R D FUEE - TKTE
REBAREB ZEE QTR - NEH
MEHRZEE AR ZREKAR
£47,837,0007C + BB ¥ 46 F 8
YRR REN ERTERR
REFmMBLE MBI SN 2R
B 2 48T o AN 5 B S TKTA] 3%
FMEERBEZAFTEFEBL
WERRA 2585 515,622,0007T
FEEASEBELEWEREHREE
MBS ARNEN 2 DR ES
AW o BEAN - E10% ¥ 1515 &
ERSHTKTEAEEZAZA
TFEEVREES N2 REE
= & B) BT B 2 %= 588,361,0007T
BRAEEE  FAHMKAFE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 10 REBEQARZRE(E)
Summarised financial information of the associates BEEFTRRZENEZEEZERARER
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and ZEERNTMBERSE - Y
reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated B BHRRc REBEETHERE
financial statement are disclosed below: BT
TKT Cuifeng
Hig
31 December 31 December 31 March 31 March
2023 2022 2024 2023
—E-=F CZZE--f Z—E-_NE C—TE-=%F
T=A T-A =A =A
=t-H =+—-H =t-H =+—-H
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Tr Tr Fr T
Gross amounts of the associates B & ATz # 5
Current assets mEEE 117,176 150,084 52,009 72,258
Non-current assets ERBEE 130,597 128,961 3,593 4,156
Current liabilities ok IN=RE (100,009)  (131,578) (9,621) (31,831)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (12,758) (11,593) 891) (293)
Net assets/equity BEFE/BH 135,006 135,874 45,090 44,290
For the For the
year from  period from
1 January 4 October
2023 to 31 2022 to
December 31 December
2023 2022 2024 2023
H-E-=F g-T-—-%
—-A—HZ +TAWmAEZE
—E-= —E-CF
+=A +=A
=t+-BFEE =+—B#Hd —Z-mF =—T-=F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Tr T T
Revenue N 265,656 91,587 66,500 37,831
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(ER)/ &7 (5,825) (897) 3,496 (384)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FE 2@ (E1#E)/
for the year Nt (516) (1,066) 3,496 (384)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

10
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

10 REBEQARZREE)

TKT Cuifeng
£
31 December 31 December 31 March 31 March
2023 2022 2024 2023
—8-= —TCCF ZEBI@E _T_=F
T=A +=A =R =A
=+-H =+—H =+-H =+—-H
$/000 $'000 $000 §'000
Fr T Fr T
Reconciled to the Group's interests 3 & 2 7< £ 8 }A B &
in the associates AR ER
Gross amounts of net assets of the ¥ & R & 2
associates FEERR 135,006 135,874 45,090 44,290
Fair value adjustments on WEHERZ
identifiable intangible assets HRRERTEE
upon acquisition NFERE = = 28,404 30,245
Fair value adjustment on WEPERZ
identifiable net assets upon —f#)# BEBE
acquisition RYEHAE 25,816 25,816 - -
Capital injection by the Group TEETE - - (12,960) (13,800)
160,822 161,690 60,534 60,735
Group's effective interest TEECERER 38.99% 38.99% 30% 30%
Group's share of net assets of the 7N 5 Bl fE {1 B & A A
associates BEEFE 62,704 63,043 18,160 18,220
Goodwill mE - - 3,943 4,037
Impairment losses recognised REEBER - S (2,490) (2,490)
Exchange difference RBER 138 - - -
Carrying amount in the NERMBRERT
consolidated financial EmE
statements 62,842 63,043 19,613 19,767
Not Not
Market value of the listed share ~ EM R T1E 55,145 91,909  applicable  applicable
& A TEH
The equity interest in TKT was acquired on 4 October TKTZ BN =T = —F 1A

2022. The statutory financial year end for TKT is 31
December. The Group has recognised the share of
result of TKT for the period from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023 (2023: 4 October 2022 to 31

December 2022).

PHBUEE - TKTZ A EM BT A
HE+T-_A=T—H -A5ECH
RPEE_TE-_=F—H—RAE_F
C=F+ A=+ —RHAREETKT
CRB(CF-=F :ZF-—F+
ANBEZZTE-—F+=-A=1+—
B) -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (58 &AM - LA LHI7R)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 11 RENI2EZE®MIA

Financial assets measured

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
at amortised cost comprehensive income Total
RAVEFAEMZERA
NEERAHEC ERER LEHEE aft
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
“gomE ZEFICE CRC@mE ZFCSF ZRCRE ZRICR
$'000 §'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 §'000
Tn Tr fn Tr r T

Assets EE

Trade and bills receivables & 5 & 2 BN

(note 12) &3t (HsE) 619,157 558,114 S - 619,157 558,114
Prepayments, deposits and Y5+ & ]

other receivables (note 12) i EU R

(H3E12) 82,862 131,736 - - 82,862 131,736
Other financial assets EtemEE
(note 13) (i 3E13) : - 19,465 13,067 19,465 13,067
Cash and bank deposits & RE 7
(note 15) (FtE15) 149,418 159,445 - - 149,418 159,445
Amounts due from related  EWEB AT KT
companies (note 32(b)  (FFE32(b) 3,345 2,628 - - 3,345 2,628
854,782 851,923 19,465 13,067 874,247 864,990

Financial assets measured at
amortised cost

L#ERAEZEREE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —T=F
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
Liabilities =N
Trade payables, accruals and other 5 TR - FEFH
payables (note 20) B & H A BRI
(M 5£20) 770,477 831,391
Bank borrowings (note 21) IR1TEE (K aE21) 529,692 652,372
Amount due to an associate JE 1-) BEt & 2 B BR 3K
(note 10) (M$3E10) 2,331 3,895
Amounts due to related companies & < 8 i& 2 7] BR 5K
(note 32(b)) (B 5E32(b) 3,696 3,848
1,306,196 1,491,506
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

12 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 12 BEFREBERWERN BAARK - &
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES TR H M EW R
2024 2023
—E-ME —T-=F
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Trade and bills receivables B 5k EBERERRK 626,341 560,793
Less: Loss allowance for trade and /& : B 5 & Z 1% fE W BR
bills receivables BB (7,184) (2,679)
619,157 558,114
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ FEff3 ~ & & &
receivables H th & Y BR 3K 82,862 131,736
702,019 689,850
Less: Other non-current assets B EMIERBEE
(note) (B 5E) (29,353) (91,842)
672,666 598,008
Representing: Ra&k:
Trade and bills receivables, net of EZKRZEEUWIRR
allowance Mk EEE 619,157 558,114
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ FEfTF ~ & & K&
receivables Hh i WBR K 53,509 39,894
672,666 598,008
Other non-current assets HM3Ems&EE 29,353 91,842
Note: Other non-current assets represent deposits paid for the i o - E{m;E}RiﬁﬁEﬁ%ﬁ%%%%% )
purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible BELRZEBELETLEEZCN
assets amounted to approximately $29,353,000 (2023: 2 & % ¥4 %29,353,0007T (=
$91,842,000). T~ =4 :91,842,0007T) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

12 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
The Group generally grants credit periods ranging
from 30 to 90 days, except for six (2023: four) of the
customers who is granted a credit period over 90
days. An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables,

12

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

FEASN - LB TTHIR)
BEEREERWERN AR &
ERHEMBERERR(E)

BRERAU(ZZE_=F:0M)%
FZ B EER0Rs  AEE—&K
BTEPZEMHBE30HEIHE - B
HREBBEEREFIIZEZBHG

based on invoice date, is as follows: H2HREBE DT :
2024 2023
—E-OF —T=F
$’000 $'000
Fr T+
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 599,932 538,647
91 to 180 days 912180H 24,886 19,430
181 to 360 days 181£360H 1,518 2,520
Over 360 days 3608 A & 5 196
626,341 560,793

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

The receivables are expected to be recovered within
one year. Any amounts not expected to be recovered
within one year are not included in current assets.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and
bills receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

B REBERYIRR  BAR - &
TREMEBRERZREERE
NFEREET -

ERREFRBEHE-—FAKD - F
meEESI~EE - FRYKD A
TEERABEENA -

AEBEFREBEREERR 2B
BRGBHEASNEEAFTERNZ
BHEERRZER ZBER
BERBBERTE - ARASKHE
CELEEBRERYARAT
REFRZBRREAFTEREE
2 At ERNBHAREZER
BRETeE—FPENIAEEZTA
EFE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

12 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 12 BESREBERWERMN BAXK - &
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) EREMEBEBWRERE)
The following table provides information about the TREMRHENR=ZA=1T—HEH
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and AEBEEGREBRERREREE
bills receivables as at 31 March: B fe & FE Bl (5 BB 18 -
2024
—E-MF
Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

FHEEER REAE BEEAE

% $’000 $’000

Fr T

Current (not past due) g (CRa ) 0.11 557,611 597

1 to 90 days past due #HE1ZE90H 6.38 66,239 4,225

91 to 180 days past due #HA91E180H 92.81 1,794 1,665

Over 180 days past due #1 BR180H LA E 100.00 697 697

626,341 7,184

2023
—EC-=F
Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

TEHEEX FREAAE EEREE

% $'000 $'000

T T

Current (not past due) EREI(RBH) 0.07 514,242 383

1 to 90 days past due #E1ZE90H 1.50 37,555 564

91 to 180 days past due #1 B191£180H 17.02 8,754 1,490

Over 180 days past due B HR180H A £ 100.00 242 242

560,793 2,679
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Bt 75 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience in the past. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data has
been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected lives
of the receivables.

Movement in loss allowance account in respect of
trade and bills receivables is as follows:

12

BEEREERWERN AR &
EREMBERERR(E)

BHEBERXERBEZERER
BB WEMRERHEARBRYE
S BURHIm 2 BRI - B/
AR A0 AN SR (B B R U RR SR TR B R
HzBBERABEAZHRZEZR -

EEEVES VATt
BB T

2024 2023
—EmEF —E==
$000 $'000
T Tt
Beginning of the year F 1] 2,679 2,291
Recognition of allowance during the £ A # {# 2 #& 32
year 4,532 625
Reversal of loss allowance NEFECHERER
recognised in previous years AR S (232)
Exchange difference HER (27) (5)
End of the year FIK 7,184 2,679

The recognition of allowance for impaired receivables
is included in general and administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

BB E B BR R B s  FER B
REEBRaRFT - RETHEHR
A o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

12

228

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of independent customers that
had a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect
of these balances as there had been no significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying value of trade and
bills receivables, deposits and other receivables stated
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

The credit quality of the Group’s trade and bills
receivables, deposits and other receivables that
are past due but not impaired has been assessed
by reference to the historical information about
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties
do not have significant defaults in the past and
have sound financial position to their liabilities past
due. Therefore, the ECL allowance is considered
insignificant.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

12

BEREERBWERR AR &
ERHEMERERR(E)

B8 A REE 2 BRERREE
TEHAEBERFEEARTLE B
VUEPHR - REBEELR  EX
BRRHBAMNLS G HELRE
BB RDAFEERAEBEKRE
BHEKRBEDRE S 2HKE -

RBERR - EEAR 2 HFAR
pR LA BSRBEBEER 1R
T REMERERZKREE &K
SEYERBITAIERERZE
Han e

2ERARFPHRXEN  A&H
HEMMBAREZESRERE
FE W BR AR - 12 B E R I BR R
ZEEHEEERNE RATFS
EXRBERBEREHELEBR
HHBRAEREEBHEE - B
B EHEEBRKR /LB

+t
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

13 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

13 HttemEE

2024 2023
—EBMEF —EF=-=
$’000 $'000
Fr T+
Financial assets measured at EAFEFAHMEE
FVOCI (recycling) WA FTEDR)FEZ
— Key management insurance — FEEEERRELD
contracts (unlisted investments) (GEEMERE)
(note (i) (B 3£ ) 19,465 13,067
Notes: P & -

(i)

At 31 March 2024, the insurance contracts represented
life insurance plans with investment elements relating
to two key management personnel of the Group. The
total sum insured is US$11,141,000 (approximately
$87,120,000) (2023: US$5,440,000 (approximately
$42,432,000), with an annual minimum guaranteed return
of 4.2% to 5.25% for the first 1 years and 2.0% for the
years afterwards.

At 31 March 2024, if the Group terminated the insurance
contract, the account value, net of a surrender charge
of US$2,307,000 (approximately $18,039,000) (2023:
US$1,487,000 (approximately $11,600,000)), would be
refunded to the Group. The amount of surrender charge
decreases over time and is no longer required from the
19th year of contract conclusion onwards.

() R-ZZE-_ME=ZA=+—8 %R
BEARAEEMEEEZBTEEA
BrBHRERNOZ NERE - BIR
B £11,141,0003 7T (487,120,000
L= Z = = 9 :5,440,000% 7T
(#942,432,0007T)) * HFHERFE
E3RE A FFL42%E5.25%K% H 14
HFF2.0% °

R-ZE-_WF=ZA=+—8 ' AR
EBEKIFZRBREL - REBEPE
BENRBRERRER%A2307,000%
7 (#718,039,0007T)(ZE = = F :
1,487,000 7T (%711,600,0007T)) i&
Bl FALE - BRI E BE S E R
LPERZEHNBETRETNLEFERT
FA U ER o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

14 INVENTORIES 14 #FE
(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of @ MREEFBHRARZTFER
financial position comprise: ¥
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
$/000 $'000
T Tt
Raw materials JR# 99,777 149,583
Work-in-progress + &K 85,570 89,144
Finished goods SAK oh 326,909 394,441
512,256 633,168
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories by FEZEHEEIZAZILER
recognised as an expense and included in “cost EREREERRRATKRA
of revenue” in the consolidated statement of B A (B 5% 25) DT AT -
profit or loss (note 25) is as follows:
2024 2023
—E_-_ME —E-=
$000 $'000
Frx Tz
Continuing operations FREREXK
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) fR & & # 5 F &
of obsolete and slow moving Z WORL (18]
inventories R 1,348 (9,810)
Carrying amount of inventories sold E&F & 2
REE 2,137,094 2,307,667
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx 5B &SN - ALY TR)
15 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS 15

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

RERBITEX
@ ReRBESEEYWEE:

2024 2023

—2-EF —E-=F

$’000 $000

T T

Cash at bank and in hand RITERKER® 91,274 128,131

Deposits with banks with 3 months =1& A3k 5 %2 2| Hj

or less to maturity when placed ZIRITIFE R 58,144 31,314
Cash and cash equivalents in the REGEHRESME
consolidated cash flow statement FHRZIRE &

REEEY 149,418 159,445

Notes:

The bank balances of RMB28,197,000 (equivalent
to $30,453,000) and RMB21,035,000 (equivalent to
$24,190,000) as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 respectively
placed with banks in Mainland China are subject to
relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the People’s Republic of China (“the
PRC”) Government.

B 5E -

R-ZE-_ME=ZA=+—Ak_T-=
FZRA=+—HHEAFERIERITZR
THEHBH B A ARE28,197,000T (HHE
#30,453,0007T) & A K #21,035,0007T
(FEE #24,190,0007T) * BEBFRAEA
REMB((HE)RFABEGZINEE
il 5 1l 12 38 BI) ©
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 58 &AM - LA TTHIR)
15 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

232

(b)

15 BERBITER

R (4)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b RMEITBHFELEZEGHE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRALAREBRERERD
liabilities from financing activities, including both Z BEEY BEBETNE
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising Re®y MELTHELZ
from financing activities are liabilities for which BEARERERENBER
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, AREAEEGERERE
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow RPGRARBMELTHMEL
statement as cash flows from financing activities. ReEnEzaE-
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RTEE HEER CE
(Note 21) (Note 22)
(Ht&E21) (Bt £22)
$000 $000 $000
Fr Fr Fr
At 1 April 2023 R-ZB-=%
e BRER G2 R L U0 1R
Changes from financing cash MEREREZ
flows: 2%
Proceeds from new bank MRTEE
borrowings RCE 630,950 - 630,950
Repayment of bank borrowings ~ EEHRTHEE (753,630) - (753,630)
Capital element of lease rentals BERAERE 2
paid BREH - (6,267) (6,267)
Interest element of lease rentals B HAERE 2
. Hams - (343) 343)
Interest paid ENFE (42,512) - 42,512)
Total changes from financing cash B ER &M E 2
oS RomE 06519 (6610 (174:802)
Exchange adjustments _ ABA% S Gl B (786)
Other changes: Hitt# 8
Increase in lease liabilities HERREZEM - 921 921
Interest expenses MEX 44,463 343 44,806
Capitalised borrowing costs BARLEERR (1,951) = (1,951)
Total other changes HihEEam(E 42,512 1,264 43,776
At 31 March 2024 R=2-NfF
=p=+-H 529,692 3,605 533,297
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B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

15 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) 15 RERBITFRGE)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b BMETEFELEZEEYHE
financing activities (continued) (&)
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
BITEE MEARE At
(Note 21) (Note 22)
(Bt5E21) (Bt 7E22)
$'000 $'000 $’000
T Tr T
At 1 April 2022 R=ZB=Z%
... EA-B 1201184 20,576 1,221,760
Changes from financing cash HERERER
flows: BE:
Proceeds from new bank MBITEEZFEX
borrowings 479,120 = 479,120
Repayment of bank borrowings ~ EERITEE (1,016,935) - (1,016,935)
Capital element of lease rentals  ENHERE 2
paid BAED - (7,544) (7,544)
Interest element of lease rentals BENHAERE 2
_ eSS - 814) 814)
Interest paid ERHE (43,130) - (43,130)
Total changes from financing cash BIER &R E 2
Cfows oo g@E (80945 8358 (589,303)
Exchange adjustments  RA®EE 10,997 (1,09 (12,036)
Other changes: Hit# 8
Interest expenses B 38,773 814 39,587
Capitalised borrowing costs BREERAR 4,357 - 4,357
Distribution in specie (note 16) &% 5 & (fii 7 16) - (2,256) (2,256)
Total other changes HEfnEsh@am 43,130 (1,442) 41,688
At 31 March 2023 R-BZZ=F
=A=+-H 652,372 9,737 662,109
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

15

16

234

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) 15 RERBITERGE)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases c HERESARHAE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for REERERAZEES S
leases comprise the following: BEUT:

2024 2023
—E-mF —F-=

$’000 $'000
T T

Within operating cash flows REEXHBRE
MELZA 5,711 7,279

Within financing cash flows REERE
mMEZA 6,610 8,358
12,321 15,637
DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE 16 BEYDIK

On 23 March 2023 (“Distribution Date”), in
connection with the spin-off of KRP, the Company’s
then wholly-owned subsidiary, on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange, all the shares of KRP shares to
which the Company was entitled immediately before
the completion of the spin-off was distributed to the
then existing shareholders of the Company. Following
the completion of the spin-off, the Company does not
retain any interest in the issued share capital of KRP
and KRP is no longer a subsidiary of the Company.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED %= Rl B 2 #= IR B IR 2 7
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

16 DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE (CONTINUED) 16
The net assets of KRP and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “KRP Group”) at Distribution Date were
as follows:

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

FEASN - LB TTHIR)
Bk (E)
FEIREMBAR(SBIEAE
BORDKAZEEFENT:

$'000

T
Property, plant and equipment MmE - BENERE 8,923
Deferred tax asset BEEBIAEEE 127,970
Inventories and other contract costs FERHMERKA 1,131,649
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T3 « & & K& HAth E U IR K 13,939
Amount due from related companies J& Y 78 38 R R BR R 12,883
Cash and bank deposits Be RRITHER 397,297
Accruals and other payables Bt ER N EMEMNER (257,895)
Current tax payable 7N HA FE A5 B 1B (513,057)
Lease liabilities HEAE (2,256)
Provision for long service payment REIRT © B (180)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBEE (21,067)
Net assets distributed PIREEFE 898,206

Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the distribution:

EMORZHRENREEEYMF
mE ST

$°000
T
Cash and cash equivalent of KRP Group as at ZEIEERHIKBEZH & K&
the Distribution Date HeEEY 397,297
Net cash distributed in respect of distribution BEEY 5k 2 FH & 5K
in specie 397,297

The consolidated results of KRP for the period from
1 April 2022 to the Distribution Date were presented
in the consolidated statements as discontinued
operations. The consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income distinguished
the discontinued operations from the continuing
operations.

RABE-E-__—_FWA—HEDK
BRI ZGRAXBEREREV R
KPEYRERILEEET - H4R
cEEREMAZEKARFELR
BREEBREIEERIEKEEE
& o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

16 DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE (CONTINUED) 16 BEYWDIK(E)
The summarised financial information of Group UT2IAREEHBERTE - K
presented below represents the amounts after the REEBRNFTEHERTHE -
intra-group elimination.
The results of the operations of KRP Group for the REEBRR_ZT__FMWA—HBZE
period from 1 April 2022 to the Distribution Date DIKBZEERGEHBEWT
were as follows:
Period from
1 April 2022 to
22 March 2023
===
MH—H=Z
—E- =4
=A=-+=H
HIA
$’000
T
Revenue (note i) L ONG D) 778,992
Cost of revenue (note ii) e AR AR (B 3T i) (204,280)
Gross profit E F 574,712
Other income H U A 2,620
Distribution and selling expenses (note ii) oM E B R (M 5T (15,755)
General and administrative expenses (note ii) — & &7 E A (M 5Zii) (63,004)
Operating profit S| 498,573
Finance income B I A 6,939
Finance costs B 75 B AR (3,932)
Finance income, net (note iii) B R U A - 3 A (BT &) 3,007
Profit before taxation B Bt A& F 501,580
Income tax (note iv) Fr 15 8 (Bt 3T iv) (297,725)
Profit for the period/year from discontinued BRI KEEKZHR FE
operations i A 203,855
Attributable to: FE 4
Equity shareholders of the Company ENYNCIE: XSS RN 203,855
Non-controlling interests JE 15 IR -
Profit from discontinued operations BERIEEERG 28 A 203,855
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

16 DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE (CONTINUED)

Notes:

i Revenue from discontinued operations includes the i

following:

16
it 38

BWDIK(E)

ERIEEEEEBZWABRIEAT

Period from
1 April 2022 to
22 March 2023

== =
WMA—RZE
—E=F
ZH-t=-BHR
$'000
Tt
Recognised at a point in time under HKFRS 15 RIBEFE B M K | EEAE155 -
B BF ) ) A RR
Sales of properties MEHE 778,992
ii.  Expense by nature: i, RUEBSBEZER:
Period from
1 April 2022 to
22 March 2023
22 =
WMA—RBZ&E
—E=F
ZH-t=-BRH8R
$'000
Tt
Carrying amount of properties sold EEMEZEREE 204,280
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - BREREZEZINE 1,059
Depreciation of right-of-used asset EREEEZNE 524
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ EERFIHAZ(BEEEH )
remuneration) 15,792
Rental expenses of short-term leases EHEERS 762
Net exchange loss & W E 8 55 8,259
Auditors’ remuneration % S A B & 1,303
Listing expenses FTER 16,490
Marketing expense miSHEREE M 16,323
Other expenses (note) H i 32 i (P 7E) 18,247
283,039
Representing: xR
Cost of revenue I N 204,280
Distribution and selling expenses DENEEE R 15,755
General and administrative expenses — M RITHE R 63,004
283,039
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

16 DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE (CONTINUED) 16 BEYDIK(E)
Notes: (continued) st : (48)
ii.  Expense by nature: (continued) i. RUESBEZER: (&)

Note: Other administrative expenses mainly include Misr: H@TBREREXEBEMR
office expenses, entertainments, other taxes and NER RBERH - Hi
miscellaneous expenses, which individually are not MIERMBEER @5 E
material to the Group. RHAEEALTERX -

iii.  Finance income, net: ii.  MISUWRA FE:

Period from
1 April 2022 to
22 March 2023
RM-E—-—F
mMA—B=

—F-=
—AZ+ZHHRA
$'000
T+

Finance cost B % R A

— Interest expense from financial liabilities — RBEHEKAGTECE2RBET
measured at amortised cost BXH 8,176

— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEEEZAEXE 113

Less: interest expenses capitalised into property & : b EEZWEF B X

under development for sale HE AL (4,357)
3,932

Finance income B 3 WA

— Interest income from financial assets —RBEKNATFEZEREER
measured at amortised cost B A (6,939)

Finance income, net BB A - FE (3,007)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

16 DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE (CONTINUED) 16 BYDIK(E)
Notes: (continued) Mt : (&)
iv.  Income tax iv. FTIS®
Period from
1 April 2022 to
22 March 2023
H-=E——
MA—HZ=
—EZ=F
—AZ+ZHHR
$'000
T
Current taxation A HA B 18
PRC taxes R TR
— Corporate Income Tax — EMEH 34,870
— Land Appreciation Tax — T EN 200,660
Deferred taxation iE i B 1E 62,195
297,725
V. Cash flow information v HenEEH
Period from
1 April 2022 to
22 March 2023
H-ZE——
MA—H=
—EZ=F
=A=-+=-HAHRA
$'000
T
Net cash inflow from operating activities "LEEE 2R & FR 50,581
Net cash inflow from investing activities BEFH RS FRA 6,031
Net cash outflow from financing activities BMEEHZESFRE (285,396)
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17 SHARE CAPITAL 17 B=K
2024 2023
“E-NE “TZ=F
Number of Nominal ~ Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
RBEE HfE Rin&E HE
000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
T 5 T 7
Authorised: EERA:
Ordinary shares of HK10 cents ERREREE
each 1071l 4,000,000 400,000 4,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREAMRRE:
Ordinary shares of HK10 cents ~ E&REREE
each: 10784 :
Beginning of the year F) 2,021,460 202,146 2,021,310 202,131
Issuance of shares under share BRI AT R
option schemes 80} - - 150 15
End of the year FE 2,021,460 202,146 2,021,460 202,146

240

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no
share option has been exercised to subscribe
for ordinary shares in the Company. For the
year ended 31 March 2023, share option
was exercised to subscribe shares for
150,000 ordinary shares in the Company at a
consideration of $105,000 of which $15,000
was credited to share capital and the balance
of $90,000 was credited to the share premium.
$40,049 was been transferred from share-based
compensation reserve to the share premium in
accordance with policy set out in note 2(s).

(a)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED %= Rl B 2 #= IR B IR 2 7

BHEe—_Z2-_mM&F=A=+—H
HEFEAN BEREDET
FUARBARARRIZERE -
BHE-_ZT-_=F=ZRA=+—
HIEFERN - BREDET
£ LA R {8105,0007T R &
A A 8)150,0000% & & KL -
H #15,0007T 2 & A R A -
£ %890,000 T E AT A B 1D &
B o RIEM E2) 5 BUK -
40,049 7T 2 B LA B 1D S A5 2 B
CRBEERERMDEE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on
24 August 2012 (the “Scheme”) under which it may
grant options to employees of the Group (including
executive directors of the Company) and other third
parties to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal value
of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time excluding for this purpose any shares
issued on the exercise of options. The exercise price
will be determined by the Company’s board of
directors and shall at least be the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date
of grant of the options, and (ii) an average closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options.

On 11 August 2014, a total of 18,000,000 share
options (the “2014 Share Options”) were granted to
certain qualified participants of the Group (including
an executive director of the Company) under the
Scheme. The 2014 Share Options entitle the grantees
to subscribe for a total of 18,000,000 new shares
of $0.10 each in the share capital of the Company.
Depending on the financial performance of the Group
and other conditions of the 2014 Share Options,
not more than 50% of the 2014 Share Options were
vested on 1 August 2015 and not more than 50%
of the 2014 Share Options were vested on 1 August
2017. The exercise price of the 2014 Share Options
is $0.419 per share, which represents the highest of
(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company of
$0.405 per share as quoted by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price
of the shares of the Company of $0.419 per share
as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of the shares of the Company of $0.10 per share.
All the 2014 Share Options were accepted by the
grantees.

18

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

RSN LA TTEIIR)
- g
ARARIR—_ZE——FENA=-+mMmA
KA—IEERERE - JRIEAR
EBCEEBEARBZHNITE
BE)RF-ERHERENERE
KRR Z &G EHEZUAERRF D
REBTRARBECBEARTE
BAREMEITZRM)30% B8R -
ZERETEESBARRIZE
ESET  LORRFRONER
BERTHZWHE: RHEEET
BREAABRZZBAARRRMD
ZFHKTE -

RZE—MWOMFNA+—BHEAE
18,000,000 B #E (= F— Mg
BENDEETAEBEETEERZ
LBEEBEARRZHITES) -
“E-NEEREETERARES
REERIOTLZARAZBRAE
#£18,000,000%7 % - B IFE A& B Bt
EENEM T — /Y88 IR K
o TEBE50% - T — MR
BR-ZZE—HAFNA—BEFSB -
M BiB50%2 —Z — M B4 1%
RZZE—tFNA—BEHFE - =
T-OERETHEERETR0.419
TT A AR RN B IR ER T
H B 32 BT BT R < W T (B 3 1% 0.405
T (NEERTEREBMNAER
SAARERH 2 FHKRTESR
0.4197T : R (i AR a R H 2T
EE0.10TT —&ENBESEALE -
FIEZZ—UERECHEARALE
o
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18

242

SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

On 27 October 2016, the Company granted a
total of 24,700,000 share options (the “2016 Share
Options”) to certain qualified participants of the
Group (including executive directors of the Company)
under the Scheme. The 2016 Share Options entitle
the grantees to subscribe for a total of 24,700,000
new shares of $0.10 each in the share capital of
the Company. The exercise price of the 2016 Share
Options is $0.70 per share, which represents the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company of $0.70 per share as quoted by the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company of $0.656 per
share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares of the Company of $0.10
per share. All the 2016 Share Options were accepted
by the grantees.

On 20 April 2021, the Company granted a total
of 15,000,000 share options (the “2021 Share
Options”) to certain qualified participants of the
Group (including executive directors of the Company)
under the Scheme. The 2021 Share Options entitle
the grantees to subscribe for a total of 15,000,000
new shares of $0.10 each in the share capital of
the Company. The exercise price of the 2021 Share
Options is $1.69 per share, which represents the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company of $1.69 per share as quoted by the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company of $1.484 per
share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares of the Company of $0.10
per share. All the 2021 Share Options were accepted
by the grantees.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

18

BREE)
RZE—XREFE+A=Z+tH  &RQ
A #£ 524,700,000 BEREE (=&
—RNBREDEETAEEETE
Bk z2WE(BREARAZHIT
BE)  _T—RNERERETERA
RETREEA0.10T Z AR RK
K& 24,700,000 i - —F — X
BRETEERER0.70TT - BA>)
RARRHORERER T R AT
Frek 2 WM ESRO0.707T : (i) E#E
RYEBREBIAERSAARA
Rip 2 FHKTEERO0.656TT : &
(VAR M 2B REMEO.10T -
ZEURSERE - TEZZT—X
BRECHEARBRAZER -

R-ZZE-_—FWMA-+H  KRQAE
# F15,000,00010 i iz (= &
—-BREDEETAEEETA
B 22EE(BEARRZHIT
BF) T —EBREBETARA
RETSREEAIOTZARNAZ
A% AN & #£15,000,000081 i « = &
T ERETEERERI.EIT
PAG) A2 B) A% 19 70 B AR R 9% T B Bt
RETET R 2 W B &A% 1.697T ¢ (ii)
EERTEREANAEXSAAL
AR 2 FHW T E ST R1.484
T RGNARARIBRHBzEREE
0107 ' ZEUBRSERE - FiF
T -BERECHARAER -
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18 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 18 BREGE)
(a) The terms and conditions of the Share Options (@) BERHE ZIER R HWT
are as follows:
Exercise Number
price per of share Vesting
share options condition Expiry date
(534
TEER BRERE BF &t HHRH
Share options granted BRERFEE:
to directors:
—on 11 August 2014 —RZZT—E& $0.419 5,000,000 Not more than 10 August 2024
NA+—H 5,000,000 share options
vesting on
1 August 2015*
% 15,000,00017 ey 112
BRER-_Z-1%F NA+H
NA—BHE*
—on 11 August 2014 — RZZ—F $0.419 5,000,000 Not more than 10 August 2024
NA+—H 5,000,000 share options
vesting on
1 August 2017*
A %15,000,0007 “TQEF
BRER_Z-+F NA+H
NA—-BHE*
—on 27 October 2016 — RZF— 5 $0.70 3,150,000  Vesting on 1 July 2017 26 October 2026
TAZ+tHR
RZE—+F ZEIRF
tA-BHBE tAZTAXA
—on 27 October 2016 — RZ=F— % $0.70 3,150,000  Vesting on 1 July 2018 26 October 2026
TA=-t++A
R-F-N\& “EIRE
tA—-HEE TAZTRA
—on 27 October 2016 — RZF =N & $0.70 4,200,000  Vesting on 1 July 2019 26 October 2026
TAZt+H
ZE-NE it Sy
tA—-B%E TAZt/<E
—on20April 2021  —RZTZ-% $1.69 3,150,000 Vesting on 20 April 19 April 2022
MA=+H 2021

A0 s T

MA-tHRE MA+AH
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18 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 18
(@) The terms and conditions of the Share Options
are as follows: (continued)

Exercise Number

price per of share
share options
gR

TEER BRERE

BrEE)
@@ BEEZERRESET:
(#)
Vesting
condition Expiry date

BF#R# HHRE

Share options granted BRERFEI:
to employees:

—on 11 August 2014 — RZZT—& $0.419 4,000,000 Vesting on 1 August 10 August 2024
NA+—8 2015
—ET-nF e 113
NA—BEE NAtH
—on 11 August 2014 —RZZT—& $0.419 4,000,000 Vesting on 1 August 10 August 2024
NA+—8 2017
—E—+f ZEME
NA—BEB NA+H
—on 27 October 2016 — R =Z— & $0.70 4,260,000 Vesting on 1 July 2017 26 October 2026
+A=t++H
RZE—tF i S
tA—-HEE TAZtRH
—on 27 October 2016 — R_F—%F $0.70 4,260,000  Vesting on 1 July 2018 26 October 2026
+A=-t++H
RZEB-N\F TR
tA—-HEE TAZTRA
—on 27 October 2016 — RZZF =N & $0.70 5,680,000  Vesting on 1 July 2019 26 October 2026
+A=-t++H
RZZ-NF “EoRE
tA—-B%E THAZTARH
—on 20 April 2021 —RZFZ- $1.69 11,850,000 Vesting on 20 April 19 April 2022
MA=1H 2021
—E--F o T el
MAZ+BHRE MA+THE
Total number of share  EBIRE 2 & 57,700,000
options

3 The vesting of the Share Options granted to an
executive director of the Company is subject to the
performance of the Group and other conditions.
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18 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 18 fERAE(E)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise (b) BB R MEFHITE
prices of share options are as follows: BT
2024 2023
—E-_NE —To=F
Weighted Weighted
average  Number of average  Number of
exercise price share options exercise price share options
L S22 BRE  MEFSH B E
TEE #8 1@ 2
'000 ‘000
i T
Outstanding at the beginning 74 471 18 K 17 &
of the year $0.70 2,000 $1.56 16,700
Exercised during the year — FR{T{E - - $0.70 (150)
Lapsed during the year FREXHY - - $1.69 (14,550)
Outstanding at the end of ~ RFE R AKITHE
the year $0.70 2,000 $0.70 2,000
Exercisable at the end of ~ RFEATHE
the year $0.70 2,000 $0.70 2,000

The Share Options outstanding as of 31 March
2024 had an exercise price of $0.70 (2023: $0.70)
per share and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 2.57 years (2023: 3.58 years).
During the year ended 31 March 2024, nil share
options have lapsed (2023: 14,550,000 share
options have lapsed). The value of vested options

which lapsed during the year was amounting to
$nil and was released directly to retained profits

(2023: $3,656,000).

RZE_WN&EF=A=+—80"
WMARTHECEBREZCITEE
FHRO0.70T(ZE==%:0.70
TR MEFHITEEHNF
B2 57F (=& = = F:3.58
F)e HE-_T_WMNFE=A
—=+—HALEFEARN B£(ZF
— =4 :14,550,000) % ¥ %
e REERBEFBERE
ZEBEBERZEL(ZE-=%:
3,656,0007T) E#E T AR B &
F o
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18 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

246

(o)

Fair value of the Share Options and assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for
share options granted is measured by reference
to the fair value of share options granted. The
estimate of the fair value of the 2014 Share
Options and 2016 Share Options granted was
measured based on the Trinomial Model, after
taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the share options were granted.
The contractual life of the share option and
expectations of early exercise were incorporated
into the Trinomial Model. The significant
assumptions and inputs used in the valuation
model are as follows:

Fair value of and assumptions for 2014 share
options

Fair value at $0.176 to

measurement date $0.194
Share price $0.405
Exercise price $0.419
Risk-free interest rate 1.97%
Expected volatility 52.84%
Expected dividend yield 2.47%
Expected exercise multiple 2.2t02.8

Fair value of and assumptions for 2016 share
options

Fair value at $0.239 to

measurement date $0.271
Share price $0.70
Exercise $0.70
Risk-free interest rate 1.00%
Expected volatility 51.27%
Expected dividend yield 5.00%
Expected exercise multiple 1.8 to 4.0

18 BREE)

(o)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

BREZQAFERRER

PiT W 2 /5 10 B R R R 1A R
TERBEREZREZAF
BEN2RARHBREZA
FEFE - IRE-T—NE
BEER-ZT-RNEBEREZQ
FEMARTRZEERE
IR AR H 2 R R M MR MR R AR
BZAABUE - BRE
ZENERRRERTEZA
HEAA=ZBEARERA - {
BERAMEAZERNRRK
g

—E-EREATFERR

an
A

REERZ $0.176 2
~NFE $0.194
RE $0.405
TE(E $0.419
= 3 b R = 1.97%
TE H R 1R 52.84%
TEE R B 2.47%
W 25 &
TEHTEEH 22%2.38

—E-R"EBEREAFERME
B 1R &

REr2HZA $0.239%

1B $0.271
RE $0.70
TEE $0.70
f= [2 B A1) X 1.00%
T8 B R 18 51.27%
TE Hi g B K 5.00%
TEHTEREE 1.824.0
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18 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

(0

(d)

Fair value of the Share Options and
assumptions (continued)

Fair value of and assumptions for 2021 share
options

Fair value at $0.2509 to

measurement date $0.2520
Share price $1.69
Exercise $1.69
Risk-free interest rate 0.05%
Expected volatility 44.58%
Expected dividend yield 5.00%
Expected exercise multiple 22t02.8

Risk-free interest rate is based on the yields of
the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes at the
grant date. Expected volatility is based on the
historical volatility (calculated based on the
weighted average remaining life of the share
options). Expected dividend yield is based on
historical dividend trend of the Company and
expected future dividend policy determined by
management.

The vesting of the share options granted are
subject to the performance of the Group and
other conditions. Such non-market conditions
have not been taken into account in the grant
date fair value measurement of the share options.
There are no market conditions associated with
the share options granted.

The Trinomial Model is subject to certain
fundamental limitations because of the subjective
nature of and uncertainty relating to the
assumptions and inputs to the model as well as
certain inherent limitations of the model itself.
Any changes in the above assumptions or inputs
may materially affect the fair value estimation.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2024 in respect of the
Share Options is $nil (2023: $nil) (note 26(a)).

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

SEASN - LA TTITR)

18 BREE)

(o)

(d)
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BREZLAFERRBRRE)

—E-BRELCFERR
B

RErEHZ $0.2509%
NS $0.2520
% B $1.69
I E $1.69
f 2 B FI) K 0.05%
T8 B R 18 44.58%
TE BRI AR B 5.00%
W &5 &
TEHIIT R B & 22%2.8

R A R BAR B B IMNE
EeEraRBBzZEEER -
FEEH R R R AR R E LK 1R (IR
I B8 BCRE 2 00 #E 15 #4
REE) - BHIREERRZER
DR Z BB E Rk KR E
JBIE A R R AL B BUR ©

BRbhzBREZFZBIORR
AEBZEGEREMEMN -
Itk 3 T 35 16k 1 Ak R AR IR
HBE®mAZEED R FEZE
E-RERAEREBRE
MHEZTSEEAHZE -

ZHEABRRF K EEARRG -
REBHERERARBREK
BB EEM A NETE
BEAARG 2 BRME - LatfR
REBEBEEEFECA LS
RPERFEEERTZE -

HE-_ZT-_MF=A=+—H
EFE ERBERECER
EHEREEBR(ZZE ==
F ) (M 5E26() ©
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19  OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 19 HithfEERRERR
(@ Group @ FT&KEH
Other reserves
AR
Other
financial
Statutory Capital ~ Share-based assets
Share surplus Capital Merger  redemption  compensation  revaluation  Translation  Total other Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings
EfpeR
£ Ex HRARA BEZ i
ROEE  BBEE  ERBE  AHBE  WEEE MERE  EfRE  BERE  REEE  REEW
$000 $000 §000 §000 §000 §/000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000

fn fn fn fn fn fn fn fn fn fn

Balance at 1 April 2023 R-E-=ERmA-A
T 301,098 . 2600 68000 1941 552 B3 406D M5 49033
Proitforthe year EREF - E e e e = = = = 169,639
Remeasurement of provision for & ERE 2 E
long service payment LEHHE - - e e = = = = = 213
Dividends paid in respect of the ~ E% EER S
previous year - - - - - - - - - (30,322)
Dividends paid in respect of the B EAFER S
current year - - - - - - - - - (30,322
Currency transhation differences ~ SHREEE - - - - - - - (55,159) (55,159) S
Fair value gain on other financial Ko ¢ BEZATE
assels recycling) & (EER) - - - - - - 103 - 103 -
Share of other comprehensive  EEEERAZ
income of associate LR ON S 5 5 5 5 5 s s 5 2,070
Balance at 31 March 2024 H-BZRFZR
ST-A2EH 301,098 5 2,608 (38,000) 1941 55 256 (79,226) 189,229 601,629
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19  OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 19 HiiRERREEFR(F
(CONTINUED)
(@) Group (continued) @ X&EBEE)
Other reserves
ik
Other
financial
Statutory Capital - Share-based assels
Share surplus Capital Merger ~ redemption  compensati Juati Trandlati Total other Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings
EE BE HRHRR BEz ify
kB RBERE BREE  ABERE  BEER IHMeBR  EHEBE  HEEE  BRUE 257
§000 §000 §000 §000 §1000 §1000 §000 §000 $000 §000

T T T tn tn tn tn tn tn T

Balance at 1 April 2022 R-%-Z£mA-A
&8 302,48 60,059 2,608 (360,213) 194 4248 1,99 85315 98,202 1,396,219
Proft for the year EREN = = = s s s = = = 386,173
Remeasurement of provision for & BB £ 2%
long service payment LEHHE - - - - - - - - - 6,038
Release upon lapse of share options 3 % 1 E i
(note 18/b) GEL) = = = = - 3,656) > e 3,636) 3,656
Dividends paid in respectof e~ 2R LEERE
previous year - - = = = s S = = (60,852)
Dividends paid in respect of the ~ BRAFERE
current year - - - - - - - - - 80,852)
Curtency translation differences ~ $%#BEZE - - - - - - - (98,714) (98,714) S
Fair value gain on other financial ~ Ef &R EE
assets (non-recycling ATEZNE
(fugm) = = = = - - 6,592 - 6,592 -
Fair value gain on other financial ~ AHEBHEEATE
assels recycling) LhE(Em) - - - = = = 2% = 2% 5

Release of the recycling fair value B E£H2BEE

gain due to disposal of other HELTEOAT

financial asets & - - - - - - (100) - (100) -
Transfer to retained profit pon ~~ £EEHEBEE

disposal of other financial asset ~ EHZRBET

(note 10 ii)) (P 106i) S S S S = = (8,361) = 8,361) 8,361
Appropriation of statutory suplus  EE B HE R
reserve - 18,636 - - - - - - 18,636 (18,636)
Issuance of share upon exercise of /7B RE%
share options R 130 - - - - 40) = = %0 =
Distrbution in specie (note 16) &5 & (Hi£16) (1,280) (78,693) - 3 - - - (10668 231570 (1,129776)
Balance at 31 March 2023 RZBZZEZf
Zt-B268 301,098 - 2,608 (38,000) 1,041 52 153 (Q4067) 244285 49031
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19 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 19 HiRZERREB B (E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Company (b) AT
Other reserves
Hthfife
Other
financial
Capital Share-based assets
Share  redemption  Contributed ~compensation  revaluation  Total other Retained
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve earnings

NEAxY RHEBAE At
RtEE  REBRE  RARG cHMeRR CEGEE  RREE  REEN
§000 §000 §000 §000 §1000 §1000 §000
i i r i i r i

Balance at 1 April 2023 it St
BA-BzE8 301,098 1941 193,185 55 36 496,812 47,094
Profit for the year ERaH - - - - - S 100,981
Remeasurement of provision for & ARHE £ A& 2 EH
long service payment e - - - - - - (104)
Dividend paid in respect of the ~ BJE LEER &
previous year - - - - - - (30,322)
Dividend paid in respectof ~ BEAEERE
current year - - - - - - (30,322)
Fair value losses on other financial £t £BEELATE
assefs (recycling) 2ER(mEm) - - - - (12) (12) -
Balance at 31 March 2024 e 1.3
ZRTH-RZER 30009 19 193185 52 RN w3
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19  OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 19 HthERERRBERNE)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Company (continued) (b) EQT(E)
Other reserves
Efbfif

Other
Capital Share-based ~ financial assets

Share  redemption ~ Contributed compensation revaluation ~ Total other Retained

premium feserve surplus reserve feserve reserve earnings

& WRHEE EMSEEE Ak )
RiVEE  RORE  GARR  cMeRE  CEREE  HEEE  REEN
§000 §000 §/000 §000 §000 §/000 §000

i T L A N T

Balance at 1 April 2022 i et
BA-Rz&H 302,248 1941 193,185 4,048 5 501,767 90,043
Profit for the year RN - - = = = - 0
Release upon lapse of share A E K2
options (note 18(b) (I 218(0) - - - (3,656) - (3,656) 3,656
Remeasurement of provision for &R £HE2
long service payment Bifit8 - - - - - S 554
Dividend paid in respect of the ~ 2JE LEE &
previous year - - - = = S (80,852)
Dividend paid in respectof ~ BEAFERE
current year - = = = = = (80,852
Fair value losses on other financial £ft & B E
assets (recycling) AYEZER
(&) - - - - 0 0) =

Release of the recycling fair value EEXtSBEE
gain due to disposal of other & 20

financial assets MTERR - - - - (100) (100) =
Issuance of share upon exercise {7 B /%

of share options 2hRH 130 = = (40) = 9 =
Distribution in specie ENn (1,280) - - - - (1,260 (896,926)

Balance at 31 March 2023 RZBZ=F
ZBCt-AzEH 301,098 1,941 193,185 552 36 496,812 47,094
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19 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS
(CONTINUED)

252

(b)

(0

Company (continued)

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders, subject to the condition that the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if
(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (ii)
the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium account.

At 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company was $280,512,000
(2023: $240,279,000). After the end of the
reporting period, the directors proposed a final
dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary share
(2023: final dividend of HK1.5 cents per ordinary
share), amounting to $80,858,000 (2023:
$30,322,000) (note 30a). This dividend has not
been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of entities outside Hong Kong. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(x).

19 HitbEERREER(E)

(b) ERT(E)

BREARE—NN—FRALE
= %&A%’%T#“/ﬁﬂx
1& (i 7-!&

% BEXMNEE
EXMEHAE -
,éfEZT’%fEFTEH%

B’\\ELIE&EE%‘TTHx$&

B EEZE8%E  AlAR

B RAIEM C B - 5k

BMABBRELEDIK °

R-ZZE= @¢ H + SIS
ﬁ

z - _¢ 240 279 00075)

BERRKR EFER
BRABREER

&8 1.5 ﬂJJ)

80,858,000 (=& = = E
30,322,0007T) (B 7E30(@)) °
It A% 2R 3R 45 HA R I oK HE 7R

RAE

MEz2HEEREN
(h BRERE

(0

BEREERERER
BANERM B mERM
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

19 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS
(CONTINUED)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference
between the consideration paid and the
net book values of the acquirees and debt
capitalisation during reorganisation due to
spin-off and separate listing of KRP Group.

Other financial assets revaluation reserve
The other financial assets revaluation
reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of other financial
assets held at the end of the reporting
period and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 2(f).

Capital redemption reserve

During the year ended 31 March 2024,
upon cancellation of nil shares, an amount
equivalent to the par value of the shares
cancelled of $nil was transferred from share
capital to the capital redemption reserve.

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

SEASN - LA TTITR)

19 HtbEERRERR(E)

(0 REZMEERBENGE)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

20 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 20 ESENSERR B ERARHEME
PAYABLES 4 B X
2024 2023
—E_nmF —F-=F
$/000 $’000
T T
Trade payables  EZ2EN&X 462793 ¢ 350,212
Accruals for short-term lease EEtREEES
expenses 1,928 2,053
Accruals for purchase of property, EFTEEMXE - BEK
plant and equipment B 21,242 24,459
Salaries and staff welfare payable JEfT & & &k B TE7H 128,205 169,514
Other payables and accruals H fth J& T BR R K FE 5T
& H 116,168 112,421
Receipts in advance (see note (a)  TEUWBR K (R T 7
below) i 3 @) 40,141 172,732
307,684 481,179
770,477 831,391
The carrying amounts of trade payables, accruals and EHEMNER Bt BB R HME
other payables approximate their fair values. All trade MNERZEEERRFERI -
payables, other payables and accruals as at 31 March R_ZE_HWNER-_T_=F=AH
2024 and 2023 are expected to be settled within one =t HZMEEZRERMNER - H
year. MR R R BT E RN —
FRBNMN -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

20 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 20 EZRERMNAERER B EARHEME
PAYABLES (CONTINUED) TERM(E)
Trade payables ageing analysis, based on invoice date, BHRNEFRERARFAEZR
is as follows: BT :
2024 2023
—E-mF —E=F
$’000 $'000
Fr T
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 416,208 318,066
91 to 180 days 91E180H 42,881 28,540
181 to 360 days 18123608 3,378 2,501
Over 360 days 3608 A & 326 1,105
462,793 350,212

(@ Receipts in advance
Typical payment terms which impact on the
amount of contract liabilities recognised are as
follows:

— Manufacturing segment

When the Group receives a deposit before
the production activity commences, this will
give rise to contract liabilities at the start
of a contract, until the revenue recognised
on the project exceeds the amount of the
deposit. The amount of deposit is negotiated
on a case by case basis with customers.

8 W AR 3K
BEERTECDERANE
BE B BEMNRGERAT :

REX DM

EASEAELEELERH
MR B EE - B
ERNHRBRELENE
& BEFCERZEBR
ABERESBEAL -
ReBEREAERR
HEFWHE -
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20 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 20 ESRERMGERER Bt EARHEME
PAYABLES (CONTINUED) TR (EZ)
(@) Receipts in advance (continued) (@ TEWBERFR(E)
Movements in contract liabilities: BHBBEZEE:
2024 2023
—E-ZWE —E-=F
$000 $'000
Fr Tt
Beginning of the year F 1 172,732 630,246

Decrease in contract liabilities as A5 A #& 32 F 7]

a result of recognising revenue BRREBZEE

during the year that was included W ABEE L

in the contract liabilities at the BER D

beginning of the period (147,572) (431,165)
Increase in contract liabilities as W HR 78 7 R 5%

a result of receiving receipts in BYENEE

advances 0 15,706 174,349
Exchange difference HBER (725) (33,905)
Distribution in specie (note 16) EMH Ik (FizE16) - (166,793)
End of the year FK 40,141 172,732
As at 31 March 2024, the amount of receipts in RZZE-_ME=A=+—H -
advance expected to be recognised as revenue BEFRAKER(CZT_=F:8)
after more than one year are $nil (2023: $nil). FE RN —FRERRBEA -
The Group has applied the practical expedient in AEBECKEBMBHREE
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts BIZI5 F121R 2 1THE
for manufacturing products and properties TERRANRERERNFH
development such that information about EXBZHEALN  BtEn
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when AEEKEAEBENTARTE
it satisfies the remaining performance obligations FEHIEIR & —F AT Z Fgk
that had an original expected duration of one BREEZHEBRA - HEH
year or less need not to be disclosed. THREELHRKE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

BANK BORROWINGS 21 RITEE
2024 2023
—EC-EF —E-=
$/000 $000
T T
Portion of bank borrowings —FREERXXEER
repayable within one year or are  {EIE G AR I
subject to repayment on demand AR EBE 2 RIT
clauses, and classified as current & E &1
bS] o . N
Portion of bank borrowings —FRERLASER
repayable after one year and FEMBREZIRITE
classified as non-current liabilities & &85
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRER-FNR 83,859 230,000
After 2 years but within 5 years —FREREFA 112,000 -
195,859 230,000
Total bank borrowings IRITIEE AR 529,692 652,372
Representing: Ra&k:
Secured (note(ii)) A AR (BT 3T i) 15,630 -
Unsecured E i 514,062 652,372
Total bank borrowings IRITEERSE 529,692 652,372
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21

258

BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(i)

(iii)

As included in the bank borrowings classified
as current liabilities, a loan agreement with a
term of 2 years (2023: 3 years), amounting to
$125,148,000 (2023: $100,000,000), includes
an overriding repayment on demand clause,
which gives the lender the right to demand
repayment at any time at their sole discretion.
Notwithstanding that the Group does not expect
the lender to exercise its rights to demand
repayment provided that the Group timely repay
such loan as scheduled, these liabilities are
classified as current because the Group under
such an agreement does not have a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2024, a banking facility of the
Group is secured by the property, plant and

equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of
$15,630,000.

The Group’s certain banking facilities are subject
to the fulfilment of covenants relating to the
Group’s statement of financial position ratios. If
the Group were to breach these covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become payable
on demand. As at 31 March 2024, all of these
covenants have been complied by the Group.

As at 31 March 2023, the financial covenant
related to net tangible asset balance in the bank
borrowing amounted to $406,000,000 was
breached, of which $205,000,000 had original
contractual maturity of more than 12 months
after 31 March 2023. Amongst these, for the
liabilities amounting to $140,000,000, the Group
obtained a waiver by end of reporting period
from the lenders which agreed to provide a
period of grace ending at least 12 months after
the reporting period, within which the Group
could rectify the breach and during which the
lenders cannot demand immediate repayment.
Therefore, these liabilities were classified as
non-current as at 31 March 2023. However,
the liabilities of $65,000,000 that become
payable on demand as a result of non-fulfilment
of covenants due to the spin off had been
reclassified from non-current liabilities to current
liabilities.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

22 LEASE LIABILITIES

At 31 March 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable

22 HEAEE
R-E-_NME=[A=+—HzHE

as follows: BEEEWNT:
2024 2023
“E-ME —E-=E
Present value Present value

of the lease  Total lease  of the lease Total lease
payments payments payments payments
HEMR HEAR MERT ﬁﬁH%
ZHE wm ZRE B
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Tr T T
Within 1 year —ER 3,329 3,403 6,611 6,956
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERZER 276 282 3,126 3,171
3,605 9,737 10,127
Less: total future interest expenses il : K R F| SF % 85 (80) (390)
Present value of lease liabilites  FE&EZHE 3,605 9,737
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23 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 23 R&ESHBMRRKRFHE
FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation (@ AHHE
2024 2023
—EZNNF —EF-=
$000 $'000
T Tt
Provision for Hong Kong REEFEBNEHZ
Profits Tax for the year B 16,348 15,841
Provisional Hong Kong ENEHEFBNFHR
Profits Tax paid (21,904) (20,004)
(5,556) (4,163)
Balance of Hong Kong Profits A FEH BN FH 2
Tax provision relating to Biwmss
prior years 529 (897)
Provision for PRC taxes FEFTE R 2 B 98,983 109,583
93,956 104,523
Current tax recoverable ZN HA A Y [B] 7% 18 5,121 5,060
Current tax payable 7N EA FE A5 R IR (99,077) (109,583)
(93,956) (104,523)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

23  TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 23 RESHBRRRFBE(E)
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(b) Deferred taxation (b) IEZEFIE
Fair value
gain of Capitalisation
Accelerated  investment of loan
depreciation  properties interests Total
RENE ERME
Deferred tax liabilities ELHERE NEHE AFE2RE - it
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T
At 1 April 2022 R-ZB-Z#%
mA—-A 2,587 2,937 10,763 16,287

Charged/(credited) to profitor ~ RB&EZH/

loss (GTA) 172 (1,143) 8,279 7,308
Exchange difference HBm=zgR (119) = = 119)
Distribution in specie Y5k

(note 16) (Pft % 16) (2,025) - (19,042) (21,067)
At 31 March 2023 and R-ZEZ=%=8

1 April 2023 =t-8K

—E-=E

MA—H 615 1,794 - 2,409
Credited to profit or loss RE&EEA (414) (1,685) = (2,099)
Exchange difference Hpzg = (109) - (109)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NF

=Z=A=t+-H 201 . - 201
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

23 RESHMBMRRRPBIRGE)

23 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

262

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(b)

Deferred taxation (continued) (b) EZLERIE(Z)
Temporary Accrual
difference for Land
for property  Appreciation
Tax losses development  Tax (“LAT”) Others Total
NERRE2  1HER
Deferred tax assets EEHEEE hEGE EBEE  HZERE Hit a4
$000 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000
T T T Tr T
At 1 April 2022 R-B=-ZF
A-H (2,577) (4,447) (188,264) (1,727) (197,015)
Charged/(credited) to profit R E#& %8,/
or loss (5t A) (5,509) (1,643) 63,295 (9,674) 46,469
Exchange difference RBEER = (71) 4,610 9,086 13,625
Distribution in specie ENnik
(note 16) (Ft3t16) 1,450 6,161 120,359 - 127,970
At 31 March 2023 R=BZ=Z%ZR
and 1 April 2023 =t-BR
ZECZZE
mA—-A (6,636) - - (2,315) (8,951)
Charged/(credited) to REFETE/
profit or loss (FtA) 6,105 - - (127) 5,978
Exchange difference REER 392 - - - 392
At 31 March 2024 R=Z2-m%F
=ZA=1+-8 (139) - - (2,442) (2,581)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

23 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
(b) Deferred taxation (continued)
The deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to set

23

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

FEASN - LB TTHIR)
RESUBRRRFBEAGE)
(b) ELEHRIEE)
2B X TE RN A R R IR
BERREERABEEN -

off and when the deferred income taxes relate to i I XE AT 15 858 I [R] — B 7%
the same tax jurisdiction. The following amounts, W AR EERIEE E
determined after appropriate offsetting, are Eﬁi BEEMERBETMREEH -
shown in the consolidated statement of financial REtABEEERIER H THeEE
position: REEEMBERR KA
2024 2023
—E-MEF —EC=F
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Deferred tax assets RAERIEE E (2,581) (8,951)
Deferred tax liabilities REHIBEE 201 2,409
2,380) (6,542)

At 31 March 2024, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(u), the
Group had unrecognised deferred tax assets of
approximately $19,502,000 (2023: $18,725,000)
primarily representing the tax effect of
cumulative tax losses (subject to agreement by
relevant tax authorities) which can be carried
forward against future taxable income, of
which, tax losses of $118,191,000 for continuing
operations (2023: $113,486,000) can be carried
forward indefinitely.

RZZEZMFE=/A=+—H"
R RRE Y2 5 R W 5 2(u)
$Elikﬁﬁ%ﬁkﬁlﬁi§§
#319,502,0007C (=T ==%F:
18,725,0007T) FER K R
AHIEEBECRMEBEYE (AR
EABBHRERE) 28
ATEE R R FE B L A B 8 - ﬁﬁ
ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂmﬁnamnmmﬁC:
T — =4 :113,486,0007T) A]
mIBHEIAASE o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

24 REVENUE, OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS)

264

24 WA HM A (EE)BEAE

2024 2023
—F-mE —B-=F
$’000 $'000
T T
Continuing operations BEKEXER
Revenue from contracts with ERUBHREELES
customers within the scope of REENEEFZE
HKFRS 15 MU A
Sales of merchandise 7 an 35 &
— Metal and plastic business — T BRBER 1,725,255 1,918,749
— Electronic manufacturing — BFEERT
services business Ei 1,190,648 1,162,923
— Others — Hith 78 25
2,915,981 3,081,697
Continuing operations BEKEER
Other net income/(loss): Hip A (E18)
R
Fixed rental income EHE WA 2,619 2,598
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, L&Y - MiFE K& E
plant and equipment W (E18) 131 (56)
Loss on disposal of other financial HEHEM SR EE 2
assets & B - (576)
Loss on derecognition of other BURMER At S REE
financial asset (note 10(ii)) 2 & 18 (KT 5E1003i) = (8,361)
Government grants received BERzBRNEY®
(note (i) (B 7 (i) 2,033 10,666
Others H A 1,327 1,703
6,110 5,974
Notes: B 5 -

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group (i)

HE-Z-_WMF=A=+—HEE

received subsidies of $746,000 (2023: $5,129,000) from
the PRC government. The purposes of these subsidies are
to encourage the use of high-technologies machineries,
promote the development of human resources and to
provide financial support to enterprise.

In 2024, the Group successfully applied and received
for funding support of $nil (2023: 2,600,000) from the
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic
Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government. The
purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to
employers to retain their current employees or hire more
employees when the business revives. Under the terms
of the grant, the group is required to employ sufficient
number of employees with reference to its proposed
employee headcounts in each subsidy month.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

EXPENSES BY NATURE

25 BMEsECEHA

2024 2023
—EBMEF —EF=-=
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Continuing operations BEREXK
Cost of materials* ) R K A * 2,137,094 2,307,667
Depreciation and amortisation of ~ #1% - B Rk & # 2
property, plant and equipment I & K # 3 (Kt 5xe)
(note 6) 89,153 100,748
Amortisation of intangible assets & &E 2 #
(note 8) (Kt 5£8) 1,656 1,553
Employee benefit expenses & 848 M <
(including directors’ (BIEESEHE)
remuneration) (note 26(a)) (Kt 5E26()) 358,426 389,139
Rental expenses of short-term leases 52 Bt &1 & 8,010 6,506
Net exchange gain PE X W = FRE (1,828) (14,886)
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AT & 3,600 3,600
Recognition of loss allowance for &5 & 15 fE W AR 50E
trade and bills receivables BRECER
(note 12) (B £12) 4,532 393
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) fR & & 7 §5 17 & 2 #
of obsolete and slow-moving (1248 ORD
inventories 1,348 (9,810)
Other expenses H > H 55,678 62,399
2,657,669 2,847,309
Representing: Ra&k:
Cost of revenue WA B AR 2,545,842 2,744,532
Distribution and selling expenses % #H [ 4 & & 22,556 31,205
General and administrative —REITHRER
expenses 89,271 71,572
2,657,669 2,847,309
*  The cost of materials excluded depreciation and MEK AT BEYE  BERRE

amortization of property, plant and equipment, employee
benefit expenses and rental expenses.

ZHEREE  EERIMAXRE

ElE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

26 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 26
DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION

(@)

266

Employee benefit expenses during the year are as

BEERAZE - BRESHS

@ FREERAHIT:

follows:
2024 2023
—BCoImEF —E-=
$’000 $’000
T T
Continuing operation BEKSEXER
Wages and salaries FMLIE 331,815 358,362
Contributions to defined SR FORIRE
contribution retirement plans B 2 7R 26,542 29,951
Provision for long service payments & B iR 75 & 2= 4 69 826
358,426 389,139
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

26 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 260 BEEAXH —BREEEHS
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (&)
Directors’ remuneration by EEME
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant BRIZBEBCRARERDI)FE383E
to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies KRRmM&ED 2 % — & th (B 8
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies EEEMNBREROIZ
Ordinance (Disclosure of Information about EEHemELT:
Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows:
2024
- 12
Employer's
contributions
Discretionary to retirement
Fees Salary honuses plans Total
WEER  BAeHY
Name of director EZ4H e ¢ ZRL ZETEF #
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr r T T T
Executive directors YrES
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai g% - 4,832 3,203 - 8,035
Mr. Zhao Kai ey = 1,204 2,909 23 4,226
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia REmME - 975 1,682 18 2,675
Mr. Chan Raymond RN %4 s 1,116 1,894 18 3,028
Non-executive directors FHTEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming CEX: 3
(resigned on 20 November 2023) (ZFZ=Ft-A-TRRE) 140 . . - 140
Mr. Ho Kai Man AR EE
(resigned on 28 March 2024) (ZE-mE=A-T/\BEH) - 506 2 18 544
Independent non-executive directors ~ BIFHTES
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing yib:3 b 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHLE 150 - - = 150
Dr. Lau Kin Wah BRERL 150 - - - 150
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B 7% AR MY RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

26 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 26 EERAZYH —BRERESEHE
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#%&)
(b) Directors’ remuneration (continued) by EEBME(E)
2023
It St =
Employer's
contributions
Discretionary  to retirement
Fees Salary bonuses plans Total
MEEN  RAEHE
Name of director ES4B e g% L BRI A4
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000

r r r r r

Executive directors YnES

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai ME@LE - 4,807 3,901 - 8,708
Mr. Zhao Kai BEE < 1,289 3,608 24 4921
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia B4 A = 949 2,080 18 3,047
Mr. Chan Raymond BRIt = 1,091 2,341 18 3,450
Non-executive directors ¥ynEE

Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming DEXD: 220 - 20 - 240
Mr. Ho Kai Man e EE S 498 17 18 685

Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing yipcyibidia 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yam Chung Shing &ML E 150 - - - 150
Dr. Lau Kin Wah Blezmt 150 - - - 150
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B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

26 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 20 BEEAXH —BREEETHS
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (%)
(c) Five highest paid individuals (00 HBEERSHHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the AEEEEBRERSFMZ
highest in the Group for the year include four ATBERENE(CZZE_=%:
(2023: four) directors whose emoluments are mME)EE HeEesH N L
reflected in the analysis presented above. The Mo e RFEREESG—E(Z
emoluments payable to the remaining one (2023: T _=F:—RA)ERmF AT
one) individuals during the year are as follows: ZENBMEWT
2024 2023
—E-MEF —F-=
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Basic salaries and allowances EARE & NKERM 976 944
Discretionary bonus B 15 B 2 FEAT 830 908
Contributions to retirement plans R K &H 8 2 # 5k 18 18
1,824 1,870

The emoluments fell within the following band:

ZEWEENIEAEEN:

Number of individuals

ATHE
2024 2023
—E-@OMF —E-=
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001 %
2,000,000 1 1
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

27 FINANCE COSTS, NET 27 BBRAE FHE
2024 2023
—E_WEF -
$’000 $'000
Fr T+
Continuing operations BEKEER
Finance costs B 7% X 7R
— Interest expenses from financial — Z# K AT E 2
liabilities measured at TRIBENE
amortised cost g 44,463 39,626
— Interest expenses on lease —HEBRREZHME
liabilities X 343 701
Less: interest expenses capitalised & : 5 b £ W EF| B
into property, plant and X & A (B
equipment (note) &) (1,951) (4,672)
42,855 35,655
Finance income B A
— Interest income from financial — H#HEK A= 2
assets measured at amortised TREENS
cost WA (2,323) (1,183)
— Otbher interest income from — BAFEFFAEM
financial assets measured ZHEWA (RTEE)
at fair value through other TEZEMEE
comprehensive income H Aty A B A
(recycling) (381) (321)
2,704) (1,504)
Finance costs, net ISR - FRR 40,151 34,151
Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of Ma: EERAUENE579% (ZF—_=
5.79% (2023: 4.04%) per annum. F:4.04%) WE R -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 28 REGEEBEBXRTPHEH

OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The amount of taxation charged to consolidated REZAEERIHEZHEBNT
statement of profit or loss represents:

2024 2023
—E-MF —ZE=-=
$000 $'000
Fx Tz
Continuing operations BEREEK
Current taxation 7 B $ 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax HEEMNEH
— Current year — KAEE 16,348 15,841
— Under/(over) provision for prior — TF 2 18/ (#B%8)
years g 3,011 (197)
PRC taxes B IR
— Corporate Income Tax — EMBHR (5,898) 2,247
Deferred taxation iE 3L 7 18 3,879 (8,418)
17,340 9,473

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year for all Group companies
incorporated in Hong Kong.

The Group’s operations in the PRC are subject to
Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC at the standard
tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%), except for one PRC
subsidiary of the Group was rewarded with Certificate
of High and New Technology Enterprise and entitled
to a tax reduction from 25% to 15%. The entitlement
is subject to review every three years.

FTEREBEBRMYZEBRE IR
B AN ER 2 1 5T FE SR % 142 16.5%
TE T ZF:16.5%) 2T K5I
BEBNEHLER -

AEBRFPREBKBEETHEH

EMEHEREER E25% (=

T =F 5% AT BRT KA

SETEMBAREESHEMN

EFBE - WAAER - HER

5%»1&15% It = B R 2 7 A
ZFERE IR o
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B %5 R 3Rk B &
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

28 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 28 MEEBBERFAER(E)
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and ERIXHERERNEFELZ
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: St Az BER
2024 2023
—F-MmE —F-=
$’000 $°000
T T
Continuing operations BEREXY
Profit before taxation B B4 Al & A 186,999 191,791

Profit before Hong Kong Profits Tax & & & #1153 8 & 1> %

and Corporate Income Tax Fr 15 %1 Al 4 7 186,999 191,791
Notional tax calculated at REBHEAREZER
applicable income tax rate I8 24,210 28,128
Share of losses/(profits) of associates FE{LHE & AR 2 &8,
(st 1)) 245 (2,501)
Income not subject to taxation BART 2B A (26,188) (19,887)
Expenses not deductible for taxation N A] 1 i 2 37
purposes 16,497 3,815
Temporary difference not AERCERER
recognised (124) 514
Under/(over) provision for Hong FEZHEBEMBEZ
Kong taxation in prior years DR (BRE) BB 3,011 (197)
Utilisation of previously ERAEFARERMIE
unrecognised tax losses & 18 @11) (517)
Unused tax losses not recognised KRR 2 K AHIE
BB 100 118
Income tax expense TS 17,340 9,473
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29 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue after adjusting the potential dilutive
effect of the outstanding share options during the year.

29

BRRR

BBCE RGN TR BN B S
FEAREBNBRANFRAERITZ
BB INEFHEE

BRREBOSN DRBEARRER

T%ﬁ)\JﬂEiﬁTﬁ'J%MEWE?é"Z
i P o0 #E 15 B K F BB {-Héﬁ

%%ﬁ%Zr&ﬂiﬁﬁEﬁHﬁ%ﬁr

2024 2023
—EBEF —T=-=
Profit attributable to equity RAFIRFTAA
shareholders of the Company JE A& 4 A
($7000) (F7t)
— Continuing operations —BEREER 169,659 182,318
— Discontinued operations — ERIERERE - 203,855
169,659 386,173
Weighted average number of ERTERRZ
ordinary shares in issue AN HE 15 2K
(in thousand shares) (F8&) 2,026,997 2,021,318
Effect of outstanding share options HARIT{EERE 2 T E
(in thousand shares) (F %) = 797
Weighted average number of BETEBRR(#EE)
ordinary shares (diluted) in issue Z INHEF &
(in thousand shares) (F %) 2,026,997 2,022,115
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) & & & Z<)& A (L)
— Continuing operations FEICEET 8.4 9.0
— Discontinued operations — E?.?i‘ﬂ:,%‘« EER - 10.1
8.4 19.1
Diluted earnings per share DR ESY @il
(HK cents) (B
— Continuing operations FEIREET 8.4 9.0
— Discontinued operations — E,Z.?Z‘th?«‘ EEB - 10.1
8.4 19.1
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

30 DIVIDENDS 30 ERERE
(@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the @ BRXFEERNAXRQATIHER
Company attributable to the year BEAZRE
2024 2023
—ENEF —E=-=
$’000 $'000
T Tt

Interim dividend declared and paid EEM&EIREH

of HK 1.5 cents per ordinary Hlk B8 ER
share (2023: HK4.0 cents per 1581 (==
ordinary share) —=F TR
B&4.07810) 30,322 80,852
Final dividend proposed after the 7 ¥R &5 8 K & #¢
end of the reporting period of KREIRR B 5
HK4.0 cents per ordinary share T8 k4.0 1
(2023: HK1.5 cents per ordinary —E-=F:
share) FERBRILE
i) 80,858 30,322
111,180 111,174
The final dividend proposed after the end of the R R & B R 18 8k 2 R HA BR
reporting period have not been recognised as a ERBEHRLARERRE
liability at the end of the reporting period. f& o
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B 7% ¥R MY RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

30 DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED) 30 BERERE (A
(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the b) BRE-UERFE IRFR
Company attributable to the previous financial O RRE 2 BN AD T E
year, approved and paid during the year BREABEAZKRE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —ZET-=
$/000 $°000
T T

Final dividend in respect of the ME—HMEEFER
previous financial year, approved  #t/ K& A F A

and paid during the year, of Ik 3% 2 REFAX
HK1.5 cents per ordinary share BEEAEMBS
(2023: HK4.0 cents per ordinary Bl ZE==
share) FHEARK
4.0%10) 30,322 80,852
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

31 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31 AERIARERE
The Group had the following significant commitments AEBEBBANTARB RN G A W5
and contingent liabilities which were not provided for REFREBZEEAERIA
in the consolidated financial statements: BiE:
(@) Capital commitments (@) BAREE
The Group had the following authorised and RZZE_ME=ZA=+—HBXK
contracted capital commitments at 31 March SEAUTERERBZNZE
2024: A
2024 2023
—EWEF —E==
$000 $'000
Fr Tt

Purchase of property, plant and BEYWE BE

equipment K& 27,965 74,197
(b) Guarantees (b) HER

As at the end of the reporting period, the RBEBR EFERRAA
Directors do not consider it is probable that AR Be H | H KB QR K
a claim will be made against the Company TRITEE MM 2 &SR
under the guarantee arrangement to financial HERZHEMBLRE - B
institutions in connection with the banking HWEHR  ARBIEERER
facilities granted to its subsidiaries. The maximum CEANBEERERRE M
liability of the Company at the end of the BRAiERzc@E SR A
reporting period under the guarantees is the 529,692,000 (ZF ==
amount of the facilities drawn down by the 652,372,0007T) °

subsidiaries that are covered by the guarantees,
being HK$529,692,000 (2023: $652,372,000).

276 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED %= Rl B 2 #= IR B IR 2 7



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 FEREALRE
(@) Transactions with related parties (continuing @ HEEALzZXZ(FELE
operations) x=71)
2024 2023
—ENEF —E==
$000 $'000
Fr T
Sales of goods: HEERY
Sales of finished goods to related [ @& Q7] #HE
companies 24X dn 78 11
Others: Hith:
Consultancy fee charged by an XITEEE TS
associated company NGT 648 690
Rental charged by related XN e THE
companies NS 2,467 2,880
Purchase of machinery from an MEEEARIEE
associate 25 12,470 5,943
Training fee charged by an associate X153l & T 5 &
N 72 66
Repair and maintenance charged by XfT#ERIREE
an associate Sl R—N/NE] 6,096 7,376
Rental income from a related ) [ 3 1~ A Y ER
company e WA 206 206
Management fee income from a [FIERE QR UEE
related company BEWA 640 640
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 58 &AM - LA TTHIR)
32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

32 FEBEAXIRF(2)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties (b) EHEE AT Z&E&
2024 2023
—E-WEF B ——
$000 $'000
T Tt
Amount due to an associate B B A RIBRFK
(note 10) (Pt 5E10) 2,331 3,895
Amounts due to related companies &1 8 & A 7]
R 3,696 3,848
Amounts due from related JFE I B8 3 A A
companies BR X 3,345 2,628

278

The amounts due to an associate and related
companies are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

FEfT Bt 2 A B & BB QAR
RAEE - AFFE - LHE

BREEE -

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED %= Rl B 2 #= IR B IR 2 7



(0

(d)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel
of the Group, including amounts paid to the
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 26(b)
and certain of the highest paid employees as

32 FEBEATXRZ(E)

o FEEEEBENE
AEEBFEERE AB 25
(BRERXNTFARAEZZHK

| A W sE26(b) K & -

& T+

& = ¥ B 8 2 3 B R0 B

disclosed in note 26(c), is as follows: FF26(c) W EE) AT ¢
2024 2023
ZEmEF —E-=F
$'000 $'000
T T
Short-term employee benefits REEERA 23,138 25,704
Post-employment benefits B B 1242 A 113 114
23,251 25,818

Total remuneration is included in “employee
benefit expenses” (see note 26(a)).

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

Except for the sales of finished goods to related
companies, the rental charged by a related
companies and the management fee income from
a related company as disclosed in note 32(a) that
constitute connected transactions, none of the
related party transactions mentioned above falls
under the definition of connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

AN eRREEREM ]

A (R M FE26() °

d) EEEXZAEEZLTHRA

Z A%

BR 70 P 5E32(a) P 3 B 2 A0 B8
BARHERM  XNEET
B8 3% X A) K 7] B 5 2 ) U AR
BEBRABXBEEZSIN
AEREz2BEALRZY
A EHRBIFB14AZ AR
ELHERSGHFEBER

% o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)

33 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 33 RARIEEZHBMRRE
POSITION
2024 2023
—E-MEF —F=-=
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 5T Fr Tt
ASSETS &E
Non-current assets RBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RITB AR 2w 727,802 723,600
Other financial assets HtemeEE 6,982 6,841
S 734,784 . 730,441
Current assets REBEE
Amount due from a subsidiary & Y I8 A 7]
AR 100,000 100,000
Prepayments, deposits and BANE -RER
other receivables B WBR K 224 240
Current tax recoverable ZN HA A] Y e # 18 23 =
Cash and cash equivalents RekRE
EEWY 4,084 3,480
104,331 103,720
Total assets EEHE 839,115 834,161
EQUITY ¥ =
Capital and reserves PANECTR ¥
attributable to equity BB AR
shareholders of the IR AR K 1 1
Company
Share capital & < 17 202,146 202,146
Other reserves H fth & % 19 496,800 496,812
Retained earnings = B % A 19 87,327 47,094
Total equity e 786,273 746,052
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HAEIN - LABITIIR)

33 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 33 QAREBEEZHMBEMRRRE)
POSITION (CONTINUED)
2024 2023
—ENF —E-=
Note $’000 $’000
B 5E Fr T
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Provision for long service RERG < BH
L Payments e 20 13
Current liabilities REBaE
Accruals and other payables  fE&H & A & Efth
FE A BR K 23,562 28,066
Current tax payable NHAFE N T 18 - 30
Bank borrowings RITEE 29,160 60,000
52,722 88,096
Total liabilities EEHEE 52,842 88,109
Total equity and liabilities ExzkB8EHEE 839,115 834,161
Net current assets RBEEFE 51,609 15,624
Total assets less current EEHERRS
liabilities =K 786,393 746,065

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 25 June 2024.

R-EBE-_NMENA-+HEHES

SHE R IRETE -

Ho Cheuk Fai
1 f& 8
Director

EFE

Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
BR & Ik

Director

EF
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN  LABITEIR)
34 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY 34 EERRKREH AL

At 31 March 2024, the directors regard TMF (B.V.l.) RZE-_NMF=RA=1+-—H &=
Limited, which beneficially owns 40.45% of the RBTMF BV.L) LimitedBE=m A
Company’s equity interests, to be the immediate and RATF40.45% MM F & - WAREAR
ultimate controlling party of the Company. Mr. Ho AlZEERREBEGAL - [@kE
Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu are the beneficial ¥E S A AT E Tk 2 £ ATMF (B.V.1)
owners of TMF (B.V.l.) Limited. TMF (B.V.l.) Limited is Limited 2 Bz # A A © TMF (B.V.1)
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and does not Limited 7 28 /8 BR & B¥ & B 37 JOR
produce financial statements available for public use. ERBEMBEHRRENTRER °
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The results of the Group for the last five financial years
ended 31 March 2024 and the assets and liabilities of the
Group as at 31 March 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 are as —E-—F =

follows:

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Five-year financial summary

IFEMBERE

AEEBE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—8HI1
hEFHRFE2#£E RN F -
_7::¢&_7__$

ZA=t—BZEBEERABEWT:

% % l|¢

Year ended 31 March

BE=A=+—-HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-ME —F-=# -—FT--# —FT-—# -—FE-TE
(Restated)
(BEF)
$/000 $000 $'000 $000 $000
T T T T T
Revenue KA 2,915,981 3,081,697 3,075,013 3,472,798 2,902,208
Operating profit BERN 228,372 210,785 303,296 743,992 380,780
Finance income B A 2,704 1,504 1,623 11,379 4,462
Finance costs A A (42,855) (35,655) (9,876) (7,975) (24,858)
Share of (losses)/profits of FEIABEE R A
associates (B#) //H&ﬂn (1,222) 15,157 1,164 1,487 1,354
Profit before taxation BR B AT R 186,999 191,791 296,207 748,883 361,738
Income tax FEH (17,340) (9,473) (41,934)  (303,555)  (111,472)
Profit for the year from REREXBL
continuing operations FEERA 169,659 182,318 254,273 445,328 250,266
Profit for the year from BRERERB
discontinued operations FE R H = 203,855 294,829 = =
Profit for the year EERA 169,659 386,173 549,102 445,328 250,266
Attributable to: FE 1
Equity shareholders of the RARBERBA
Company 169,659 386,173 549,102 445328 250,266
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Five-year financial summary

IFEMBERE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES mEEERAE
At 31 March
R=ZA=+—-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
TE-NE —E-=F —FE--F -—FE-—F —E-FTF
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000
T T T T T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,059,915 1,152,470 1,309,610 1,007,922 954,602
Current assets MEE E 1,342,806 1,398,309 3,756,456 3,422,966 2,739,848
Total assets BELE 2,402,721 2,550,779 5,066,066 4,430,888 3,694,450
EQUITY B
Share capital R 202,146 202,146 202,131 201,244 199,384
Reserves #E 790,858 734,616 1,494,421 1,495,462 1,176,431
Totalequity — ®&&#@E 993,004 936,762 1,696,552 1,696,706 1,375815
LIABILITIES 2
Non-current liabilities ERBERE 196,974 236,317 490,888 632,330 838,550
Current liabilities mEaRE 1,212,743 1,377,700 2,878,626 2,101,852 1,480,085
Total liabilities BEAE 1,409,717 1,614,017 3,369,514 2,734,182 2,318,635
Total equity and liabilities BzlhaEeE 2,402,721 2,550,779 5,066,066 4,430,888 3,694,450
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